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The Hon. Gladys Berejiklian MP 

Premier 

GPO Box 5341 

SYDNEY NSW 2001

Dear Premier,

We are pleased to submit for presentation to Parliament the Annual Report for the Greater Sydney Commission 

for the year ended 30 June 2019.

This Report has been prepared in accordance with the Annual Reports (Statutory Bodies) Act 1984 and the 

Annual Reports (Statutory Bodies) Regulation 2015.

Yours sincerely

Lucy Hughes Turnbull AO 
Chief Commissioner

Dr Sarah Hill 
Chief Executive Officer
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On behalf of the Commissioners, ex-officio 
members and staff of the Greater Sydney 
Commission, I am pleased to present the 
Commission’s Annual Report for 2018/19.

We acknowledge the Aboriginal peoples of 
Australia – the first inhabitants of this land 
and the world’s oldest continuous culture. 
We are committed to ensuring Greater 
Sydney’s future planning reflects Aboriginal 
culture and custodianship and the core belief 
that we have a shared future – and that if we 
care for country, it will care for us. 

This year has marked the Commission’s 
successful transition from plan-making to 
plan implementation and commencing the 
important next phase of its work in making 
Greater Sydney a more liveable, productive 
and sustainable metropolis of three cities.

The Commission’s move to the Department 
of Premier and Cabinet cluster, and 
amendments to the Environmental Planning 
and Assessment Act 1979 and the Greater 
Sydney Commission Act 2015, formalised 
our new role and priorities while preserving 
our independence. This will enable the 
Commission to focus on providing impartial 
advice, strategic oversight and coordination 
across Government agencies.

We carry the Premier’s remit to our new 
assurance role, delivery of the Western 
Sydney City Deal and progressing 
Collaboration Areas, Place Infrastructure 
Compacts, thought leadership and advice to 
Government on critical city-making issues. 

We have welcomed new commissioners; 
Ms Helen O’Loughlin as Social Commissioner, 
Elizabeth Dibbs as Western City District 
Commissioner and Peter Poulet as the 
new Central City District Commissioner. 
Dr Deborah Dearing was appointed to the 
role of Eastern City District Commissioner 
in addition to her role of North District 
Commissioner. This year also saw us farewell 
and thank outgoing commissioners, Heather 
Nesbitt, Morris Iemma, and Maria Atkinson. 

I would also like to thank the Premier for  
the opportunity I have been given to 
continue serving as Chief Commissioner 
for another term.

Our commitment to the people of Greater 
Sydney is to support a planning system 
that delivers true place-based quality 
outcomes, where planning, change and 
transformation is viewed beyond new 
housing or commercial developments. It also 
needs to include the new services, schools, 
open space and quality of life ingredients 
that make our city more connected, liveable, 
sustainable and productive.

The Commission’s commitment to being 
a collaborative and listening organisation 
continues to drive strong stakeholder and 
community engagement. This has been 
demonstrated through our assurance 
program work with local councils and 
State agencies, and the Assurance Review 
of planning in Ryde Local Government 
Area. The Citizens’ Panel to guide the 
identification of the key indicators to 
measure implementation of the plans saw us 
listening to over 100 community voices from 
across Greater Sydney, and the second phase 
of the Collaboration Areas program saw us 
bring together over 60 organisations to foster 
true place-based planning. We convened 
an Assurance and Agency Expo to assist 
councils prepare their draft Local Strategic 
Planning Statements and it was attended 
by 125 council officers from 32 councils and 
80 government staff from 12 agencies. 

In closing, I would like to acknowledge the 
hard work and achievements of my fellow 
Commission members, ex-officio members, 
committee members and the Commission’s 
executive and staff, and commend their 
ongoing commitment as passionate  
city-makers.

Chief Commissioner 
Lucy Hughes Turnbull AO

Chief Commissioner’s foreword
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The Greater Sydney Commission leads the 
metropolitan planning of Greater Sydney 
to deliver the NSW Government’s vision 
of a liveable, productive and sustainable 
metropolis of three cities.

In our fourth year, we have worked hard to 
demonstrate our ability to evolve from plan-
makers to those entrusted with effectively 
delivering quality planning outcomes for 
Greater Sydney.

This has meant a focus on implementation, 
assurance and solving complex city issues. 
We also focused on providing expert advice 
to Government, listening to our stakeholders 
and assisting with strategic oversight and 
coordination across State agencies.

Our role was reinforced by amendments to 
the Greater Sydney Commission Act, new 
Premier’s Priorities and our relocation to the 
Department of Premier and Cabinet Cluster. 
These changes gave the Commission a more 
strategic oversight and assurance role from 
the centre of Government, to drive delivery 
of the Greater Sydney Region Plan and the 
five District Plans.

The Commission’s excellent progress in 
2018/19, delivering on the 15 actions of the 
Greater Sydney Region Plan, included:

• Working closely with Greater Sydney’s 
33 local councils to support the alignment 
of their local plans with the directions of 
the District Plans; 

• Completion of the pilot Growth 
Infrastructure Compact for Greater 
Parramatta and the Olympic Peninsula 
(GPOP) working collaboratively with more 
than 20 government agencies;

• Significant progress implementing 
the Western Sydney City Deal, leading 
collaboration across the three levels of 
government;

• Completion of the first four Collaboration 
Areas, including a symposium where 
participating stakeholders and 
organisations shared lessons learned 
about best practice in place-making;

• Expert advice to government including an 
assurance review of planning in the Ryde 
Local Government Area (LGA), providing 
eight recommendations to the Premier 
specific to Ryde LGA and two suggestions 
to improve planning in Greater Sydney 
for the NSW Government’s consideration; 
and

• Publication of the thought leadership 
paper, A Metropolis that Works, 
encouraging discussion on the changing 
nature of industrial and urban services, 
their spatial requirements, their strategic 
value and the essential role they play in 
Greater Sydney.

I am immensely proud of the team and 
our Commissioners who have worked 
tirelessly to achieve this. This has been 
graciously recognised by our peers, with 
the Commission receiving several awards 
throughout the year. Our engagement 
work, in developing the Region Plan, won 
the International Association for Public 
Participation (IAP2) Core Values Award. 
The Planning Institute of Australia (PIA) 
NSW Awards saw Chief Commissioner Lucy 
Turnbull AO made an Honorary Fellow, our 
Deputy Commissioner Geoff Roberts AM 
recognised as NSW Planning Champion, the 
Commission winning the Public Engagement 
and Community Planning award and a 
commendation for the Greater Sydney 
Region Plan in the Best Planning Ideas (Large 
Project) category. Geoff Roberts was also 
awarded an Order of Australia in the 2019 
Queen’s Birthday honours for his significant 
service to urban planning and development.

Just as the people of Greater Sydney 
are at the heart of our work, so too are 
the Commission’s people, from the 
Commissioners, members of our committees, 
ex-officios and the GSC Executive and staff, 
who everyday demonstrate their passion 
for delivering quality outcomes for Greater 
Sydney. I thank them for their commitment 
and hard work over the past 12 months.

CEO, Greater Sydney Commission 
Dr Sarah Hill

Chief Executive’s foreword
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Commissioners

Lucy Hughes Turnbull AO LLB. MBA 
Chief Commissioner

“To guide Greater Sydney’s continued growth, we have a remarkable plan - but a plan 
is only as good as its implementation. Now that the Commission has pivoted from 
plan-making to city-making, we are actively working across government, industry 
and community to breakdown the silos of the past and work in the spirit of true 
collaboration to realise a more liveable, productive and sustainable metropolis.” 

Lucy Hughes Turnbull AO was appointed 

to the Greater Sydney Commission as the 

inaugural Chief Commissioner in late 2015 

and reappointed in September 2018.

She is an urbanist, businesswoman and 

philanthropist with a longstanding interest 

in cities, and technological and social 

innovation.

Ms Turnbull was the first female Lord Mayor 

of the City of Sydney from 2003–04 and in 

2011 she became an Officer of the Order of 

Australia for distinguished service to the 

community, local government and business.

She was Deputy Chair of the COAG Reform 

Council’s Cities Expert Panel from 2010–12. 

She was Chair (2012–15) and Deputy Chair of 

the Committee for Sydney.

In 2012 Ms Turnbull was awarded an 

honorary Doctorate of Business by the 

University of New South Wales, and in 2016 

was appointed Adjunct Professor at the 

Faculty of Built Environment, University 

of New South Wales. In 2017 Ms Turnbull 

was awarded an honorary Doctorate of 

Letters from Western Sydney University 

for her substantial and sustained service 

and contribution to the University and the 

Greater Western Sydney region. She is also 

an Honorary Fellow of the Planning Institute 

of Australia (NSW).

As Chief Commissioner, Ms Turnbull was 

tasked by the NSW Government to assist 

in delivering strong and effective strategic 

planning for the whole of metropolitan 

Sydney. She has been charged with leading 

metropolitan planning in the Greater 

Parramatta-Olympic Peninsula (GPOP) area.

During Ms Turnbull’s time as Chief 

Commissioner, the organisation has made 

significant achievements including the 

delivery of A Metropolis of Three Cities – 

the Greater Sydney Region Plan which was 

adopted by the NSW Government in 2018, 

development of five District Plans, the game-

changing Place Infrastructure Compacts, 

and the development of performance 

indicators for tracking implementation of 

the Region Plan.

Greater Sydney Commission | Annual Report 2018/19
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“I’m proud of how people from community, industry and different political 
persuasions have banded together to make decisions and achieve outcomes for the 
Western Parkland City that wouldn’t be possible otherwise. It’s a privilege to work 
with dedicated people who are helping the Western City build on its existing strengths 
and achieve its future potential.”

Geoff Roberts AM was appointed to the 

Greater Sydney Commission as the Deputy 

Chief Commissioner and Economic 

Commissioner in late 2015 and reappointed 

in September 2018.

He has 40 years of experience in Australia 

and internationally working on city strategy, 

governance and leadership, and currently 

holds an Adjunct Professorship position 

in the City Futures Research Centre at the 

University of New South Wales. He is also a 

passionate practitioner of collaboration and 

a regular public speaker.

Over his career, Mr Roberts has been 

involved on behalf of governments and 

the private sector in the key economic 

challenges and opportunities facing cities. 

He has a deep history in decision making 

around the delivery of integrated land use 

and infrastructure programs. In June 2019, 

Mr Roberts was made a Member of the Order 

of Australia in recognition of his significant 

service to urban planning and development.

At the Commission, Mr Roberts led the 

negotiation of the Western Sydney City 

Deal on behalf of the NSW Government. 

He played a pivotal role in this agreement 

reached in March 2018 between the 

Australian Government, the eight councils 

of the Western Parkland City and the NSW 

Government.

In May 2018, Mr Roberts was appointed by 

the Premier of NSW as the Chief Coordinator 

of the Western Parkland City, a role that 

reports to all three levels of government. 

In February 2019 he was appointed as 

the Deputy Chair of the Western City & 

Aerotropolis Authority Board.

Geoff Roberts B Nat Res (Hons), M App Sc (Res Mgt) FAICD 
Deputy Chief Commissioner, Economic Commissioner, Chief Coordinator Western Parkland City
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“The recovery, restoration, and reconnection of the blue and green grids that 
underpin the city and public domain are essential to liveability and may also be the 
basis for engendering a shared ethos of caring for country.” 

Rod Simpson was appointed to the Greater 

Sydney Commission as the Environment 

Commissioner in late 2015 and reappointed 

in September 2018.

Mr Simpson is an architect, urban 

designer and a Trustee of Sydney Living 

Museums. He has worked for the Australian 

Government and provided consultancy 

services to state and local governments in 

planning and urban design.

Mr Simpson led the urban design for the 

City of Sydney’s Sustainable Sydney 2030 

strategy with the SGS consortium. He was 

instrumental in the development of BASIX 

and PRECINX. He is a member of various 

housing, transport and architectural design 

review panels including the Landcom 

Design Advisory Panel and is on the steering 

committee of 100 Resilient Cities Sydney. 

In his role as Environment Commissioner, 

Mr Simpson has focused on the idea of 

‘green infrastructure’ as fundamental to the 

habitat, liveability, character and identity of 

Greater Sydney. Mr Simpson is particularly 

focused on the potential for South Creek and 

its tributaries to become the central spine for 

the Western Parkland City and on developing 

approaches to achieve low carbon, high 

performance precincts to build a more 

efficient city.

Roderick Simpson BscArch AIA PIA AILA 
Environment Commissioner

Commissioners
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“It has been an honour to work with so many people who are dedicated to realising 
the bold vision of a metropolis of three cities – a vision which, if achieved, could drive 
intergenerational change in Greater Sydney. We’re working to rebalance the city 
through providing more equitable access to affordable housing, jobs, education, 
open space and great places no matter where in Greater Sydney you live.”

Helen O’Loughlin was appointed to the 

Greater Sydney Commission as Social 

Commissioner in September 2018.

Ms O’Loughlin has over 30 years’ experience 

at a senior level in government and the 

not-for-profit sector initiating and driving 

strategic change in policy and strategy 

development, and program design and 

delivery. Her specialist expertise is in 

social and affordable housing, community 

development and urban strategic and social 

planning.

Ms O’Loughlin is a qualified Town Planner 

and her career has been focused on social 

policy and strategy, particularly housing, 

including roles with City of Sydney, NSW 

Department of Urban Affairs and Planning, 

Housing NSW, Department of Human 

Services, Department of Family and 

Community Services and more recently the 

not for profit Community Housing Sector 

working at Evolve Housing. She graduated 

from UNSW with the University Medal in 

Town Planning. 

Ms O’Loughlin has extensive experience 

in affordable housing. She was the former 

Director of the NSW Centre for Affordable 

Housing, delivered the National Rental 

Affordability Scheme in NSW, chaired the 

COAG Local Government Housing sub-

committee and was a member of the NSW 

Government’s 2012 Ministerial Affordable 

Housing Taskforce.

In her role as Social Commissioner, 

Ms O’Loughlin is working with the 

Commission’s recently established Youth 

Panel and a wide range of social and 

cultural infrastructure stakeholders across 

government, not-for-profit and private 

sectors and the wider community to deliver 

more liveable and equitable communities for 

residents of Greater Sydney.

Helen O’Loughlin BTP (Hons) PIA, AIH 
Social Commissioner
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Elizabeth Dibbs 
Western City District Commissioner

“Through our collaborations with the highly committed local leaders and communities 
of the Western City District, all tiers of government and the business sector, we are 
on our way to achieving the vision for the Western Parkland City – a connected and 
sustainable city of innovation and opportunity, a place that is rightly renowned for its 
extraordinary natural assets, culture and lifestyle.”

Liz Dibbs was appointed to the Greater 

Sydney Commission as Western City District 

Commissioner in September 2018.

Ms Dibbs brings to the Commission diverse 

experience across the corporate, for-purpose 

and tertiary education sectors. She started 

her career as a commercial litigator with 

Mallesons Stephen Jaques in Sydney and 

Linklaters & Paines in London before 

becoming General Counsel and Partner 

at PwC. 

In 2005, Ms Dibbs left the corporate sector 

motivated by a desire to join the for-purpose 

and government sectors in roles that focused 

on community building, education and 

health. 

Ms Dibbs is the Deputy Chancellor of 

Western Sydney University, Chair of its 

Audit & Risk Committee, Chair of non-profit 

United Way Australia and a Governor of 

the Centenary Institute of Cancer Medicine 

and Cell Biology. She has previously been 

President of YWCA NSW, a director of 

YWCA Australia, a Council Member of 

Chief Executive Women and Chair of its 

Scholarship Committee. 

She graduated from Sydney University with 

the University Medal in Law and gained 

her Master of Laws (Hons 1) at Cambridge 

University.

In her role as Western City District 

Commissioner, Ms Dibbs has chaired and 

supported key projects and collaborations 

across the District. She is a passionate 

advocate for the Western Parkland City, 

speaking regularly about the vision for the 

city and Aerotropolis. 

Commissioners
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“Now that the District Plans are in place, our task is to implement them collaboratively 
to achieve their goals which include an enhanced natural environment and great 
places with improved accessibility, liveability and productivity.”

Deborah Dearing was appointed to 

the Greater Sydney Commission as 

North District Commissioner in late 2015. 

Dr Dearing was reappointed to this role and 

the additional role of Eastern City District 

Commissioner in September 2018.

Dr Dearing is recognised for her leadership 

in improving the design quality of cities 

and communities. She has over 30 years’ 

international experience in urban design, 

strategic land use planning, heritage 

conservation, affordable housing and 

property development in both public and 

private sectors. 

She has held senior executive roles with 

the NSW Department of Urban Affairs and 

Planning, Architectus, Stockland and the 

Sydney Harbour Foreshore Authority, and 

board positions with the Australian Institute 

of Architects, NSW Heritage Council, City 

West Housing, Liveable Housing Australia 

and the Sydney Harbour Federation Trust. 

Dr Dearing has received numerous 

prestigious awards, including Fellowship 

of the Planning Institute of Australia, Life 

Fellowship of the Australian Institute of 

Architects for service to architecture and 

urban design, and the NAWIC Ryder Hunt 

Award for leadership in the Construction and 

Development Industry. 

Dr Dearing is currently President of the 

NSW Architects Registration Board and a 

member of the Architects Accreditation 

Council of Australia, Sydney University’s 

Henry Halloran Trust, and the Victorian 

Government’s Design Review Panel.

At the Commission, Dr Dearing has worked 

with 18 councils across the North and 

Eastern City Districts to collaboratively 

develop and deliver the vision for the Eastern 

Harbour City.

Dr Deborah Dearing BArch, PhD, LFRAIA 
North District & Eastern City District Commissioner

Greater Sydney Commission | Annual Report 2018/19

13



The Commission would like to 

acknowledge the contribution of 

former Social Commissioner Heather 

Nesbitt and former Eastern City 

District Commissioner Maria Atkinson 

who finished their terms with the 

Commission in September 2018.

The Commission would also like to 

acknowledge former South District 

Commissioner the Hon Morris Iemma 

who resigned in May 2019 to focus 

on commitments outside of his 

Commission role.

“We are planning for a well-designed Central River City. A city that builds upon its 
existing local character and delivers public places and environments that people will 
want to live, work and play in for generations to come.”

Peter Poulet was appointed to the Greater 

Sydney Commission as Central City District 

Commissioner in September 2018.

He was the 23rd NSW Government Architect 

from 2012–2018, providing independent, 

impartial, whole-of-government perspective 

and advice on the built environment to 

achieve optimal architectural, urban design 

and environmental outcomes.

Mr Poulet refocused the role to work across 

sectors and disciplines and promote good 

design of the built environment through 

advocacy, research, consultation, and 

guidance. This has driven the inclusion of 

a new ‘design object’ in the Environmental 

Planning and Assessment Act, the 

development of the State’s first design policy 

Better Placed and Greener Places and the 

establishment of the NSW State Design 

Review Panel.

A champion of collaborative links between 

the public and private sector, Peter has 

fostered design-led approaches across 

government, industry and academia,  

with his projects receiving numerous  

awards including the Horbury Hunt, the 

Blackett and an Australian Institute of 

Architects’ award.

He has over 30 years’ experience in private 

and government architectural offices 

and was the inaugural State Architect of 

Tasmania 2009–2012.

As Central City District Commissioner, 

Mr Poulet aims to bring resilient, quality 

outcomes to the natural and built 

environments of the District by deploying 

design methods and thinking to connect, 

engage and empower communities.

Peter Poulet 
Central City District Commissioner

Commissioners
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Ex-officio Members

Tim Reardon is the Secretary of the NSW 

Department of Premier and Cabinet. Since 

taking up the role in 2017, he has led delivery 

of the Government’s priorities, for the people 

of NSW, including customer service, driving 

digital technology, infrastructure delivery 

and transformation of the public service, 

with a strong focus on implementation and 

accountability. 

Prior to Premier and Cabinet, Mr Reardon 

was the Secretary, Transport where he 

successfully led the Transport Cluster and 

its people on behalf of the NSW community. 

He was responsible for the delivery of the 

largest transport infrastructure and services 

pipeline in a generation. 

Mr Reardon has worked in both government 

and the private sector in NSW and 

internationally.

Tim Reardon 
Secretary, NSW Department of Premier and Cabinet

Ex-officio members of the Greater Sydney Commission attend full Commission meetings to 
ensure planning and land-use decisions are coordinated across Government.

Ex-officio members are:

• Secretary, NSW Department of Premier and Cabinet: Tim Reardon;

• Secretary, NSW Department of Planning, Industry and Environment: Jim Betts;

• Secretary, NSW Treasury: Michael Pratt AM;

• Secretary, Transport for NSW: Rodd Staples; and

• Chief Executive Officer, Greater Sydney Commission: Dr Sarah Hill.

Jim Betts is the Secretary of the Department 

of Planning, Industry and Environment, 

which holds key responsibilities within the 

NSW Government for long-term planning, 

infrastructure priorities, natural resources, 

the environment, energy and growing the 

State’s industries.

Mr Betts joined the Department of Planning, 

Industry and Environment in 2019, following 

almost six years as the Chief Executive 

Officer at Infrastructure NSW and five years 

as the Secretary of the Victorian Department 

of Transport.

As part of his role at Infrastructure NSW, 

Mr Betts led the development of the 2014 

State Infrastructure Strategy Update and 

the 2018 State Infrastructure Strategy, 

which provided over 200 project and policy 

recommendations to Government. He 

also chaired the Infrastructure Investor 

Assurance Committee, which monitors and 

advises on almost 500 infrastructure projects 

across government.

During his time in Victoria, Mr Betts was 

involved in the delivery of the $38 billion 

Victoria Transport Plan, the overhaul of 

Victoria’s legislative framework to integrate 

the planning of transport and land use, 

and overseeing the construction of the 

$4.3 billion Regional Rail Link project.

Jim Betts 
Secretary, NSW Department of Planning, Industry and Environment
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Michael Pratt AM was appointed as the 

27th Secretary of NSW Treasury on 1 

August 2017. As a result of the Machinery 

of Government changes announced by the 

Premier in April 2019, the Treasury Cluster 

includes NSW Treasury, NSW Small Business 

Commission, Destination NSW, Western 

City & Aerotropolis Authority, Jobs for 

NSW, Procurement NSW, NSW Treasury 

Corporation, iCare (Insurance & Care NSW) 

and SAS Trustee Corporation. 

As Secretary, Mr Pratt is responsible for 

strategic management of the entirety of the 

State’s finances, budget, assets, liabilities and 

financial risk management framework and 

transformation.

Prior to his role with Treasury, Mr Pratt was 

the NSW Customer Service Commissioner, 

where he revolutionised the way the 

Government delivers services – putting 

the people of NSW at the heart of service 

delivery in the establishment of Service 

NSW. He led major service reform across 

the NSW Government, chairing the NSW 

Customer Advisory Board - the responsible 

governance entity for the delivery of State 

Government services to the citizens of NSW.

Mr Pratt was honoured as a Member of 

the Order of Australia (AM) in the Queen’s 

Birthday 2016 Honours List. He was 

recognised as a role model for Australian 

society for providing significant service to 

public administration through reforms in 

customer service and communication, and 

to the finance and banking industry. He 

was also awarded an Honorary Doctorate of 

Letters in April 2018 from Western Sydney 

University for his services to the University 

and to the wider community.

Prior to his role as Customer Service 

Commissioner, Mr Pratt was CEO of 

Consumer and SME Banking, North East 

Asia, with Standard Chartered Bank. He 

is a former President of the Australian 

Institute of Banking and Finance and was 

the inaugural Joint President of FINSIA, the 

Financial Services Institute of Australasia. 

His previous roles also include senior 

executive positions as Group Executive of 

Westpac Business & Consumer Banking, 

CEO of National Australia Bank in Australia, 

CEO of Bank of New Zealand and CEO of 

Bank of Melbourne. Mr Pratt was also Deputy 

Chancellor of Western Sydney University. 

Prior directorships include Non-Executive 

Director roles at TAL Dai-ichi Life Australia 

and Credit Union Australia where he chaired 

their respective risk committees, Deputy 

Chair of iCare, MasterCard International 

Inc New York, MasterCard Asia Pacific, BT 

Financial Services, Chairman of Bennelong 

Funds Management, Chairman of Shenzen 

Credit Corporation and Executive Director 

of Standard Chartered Bank Hong Kong 

and China.

Michael Pratt AM 
Secretary, NSW Treasury

Carolyn McNally 

The Commission would like to acknowledge the contribution of Carolyn McNally who 

served as the NSW Department of Planning and Environment Secretary until April 2019.

Ex-officio Members
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Dr Sarah Hill commenced as the inaugural 

Chief Executive Officer of the Greater Sydney 

Commission (the Commission) in January 2016. 

Dr Hill has led the Commission’s work across 

State and local government to implement 

the Greater Sydney Region and District Plans 

and deliver quality planning outcomes for 

the people of Greater Sydney. Most recently, 

she led the collaborative development and 

delivery of a comprehensive reporting and 

monitoring framework to measure progress 

on implementing the plans. 

In addition to her role as CEO of the 

Commission, Dr Hill is also the Deputy 

Secretary of Strategic Directions and Integration 

in the NSW Department of Planning, Industry 

and Environment. In this role Dr Hill seeks to 

strategically align the work of the Department 

and the Commission to collaboratively plan 

the future of Greater Sydney. 

Previously, as a Director of Hill PDA 

Consulting, Dr Hill specialised as an 

economic planner with expertise in 

employment areas, retail, affordable housing 

and the economic feasibility of development. 

Dr Hill was also an independent advisor to 

government on planning reform and was 

a member of the NSW Government’s 2012 

Affordable Housing Taskforce. She has prior 

experience in the UK working to deliver 

affordable housing and the creation of a new 

planning authority known as the London 

Olympic and Paralympic Joint Planning 

Authority responsible for the master-planning 

and approvals for the London 2012 Olympic 

and Paralympic Games and their legacy. 

A past-President and Fellow of the NSW 

Division of the Planning Institute of 

Australia, 2016–17, PIA NSW and Australia 

Planner of the Year and a graduate of the 

Australian Institute of Company Directors, 

Dr Hill has received two international 

planning awards including the Mayor of 

London’s Award for Excellence and the Royal 

Town Planning Institute Award for Planning. 

Dr Hill is an Adjunct Professor at the 

University of Technology Sydney in the 

Faculty of Design, Architecture and Building 

and in 2018 completed her Doctoral thesis on 

the economics of planning in NSW.

Dr Sarah Hill RPIA (Fellow) 
Chief Executive Officer, Greater Sydney Commission

As Secretary of Transport for NSW, Rodd 

Staples leads the Transport cluster which 

has more than 25,000 people working across 

the transport agencies on behalf of the NSW 

community. He is responsible for leading 

the Transport cluster to deliver Premier’s 

and State priorities, and his role covers 

the planning and delivery of services and 

infrastructure across the transport system 

including trains, buses, ferries, roads and 

traffic, freight and ports, light rail, point to 

point transport, intrastate air services, and 

active travel. 

Mr Staples is accountable for delivering the 

largest transport infrastructure pipeline in 

a generation, which includes $55.6bn of 

capital works over a four year period.

He is also accountable for better integration 

across transport services, implementing 

technology and innovation to improve 

customer service, and driving reforms and 

long-term planning to make the transport 

system more customer-focused and efficient.

In his previous role as Program Director, 

Sydney Metro Delivery Office, Mr Staples led 

the delivery of Sydney Metro – Australia’s 

biggest public transport project.

Rodd Staples 
Secretary, Transport for NSW
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Parramatta, Central City District

Highlights
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Highlights

In 2017/18 the Commission’s focus was on the development and 
finalisation of the Greater Sydney Region Plan and District Plans . 
2018/19 has been the year of implementation and delivery . On 1 July 
2018 the Commission commenced reporting directly to the Premier, 
placing the Commission at the centre of Government and with a new 
set of priorities .

Legislative amendments to both the Greater Sydney Commission Act 2015 (commencing 10 

December 2018) and the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 (commencing 1 January 

2019) have strengthened the Commission’s role in the whole of Government implementation 

of the plans and its ability to independently advise the NSW Government on strategic planning 

matters.

The Commission is proud of its extensive achievements over the past 12 months. 
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Working with councils to deliver 
quality outcomes for communities
Since the NSW Government’s adoption of the Greater 

Sydney Region Plan and the release of the five District 

Plans in March 2018, the Commission has continued 

to work closely with the 33 councils of Greater Sydney 

to move to implementation and create a clear strategic 

line-of-sight across region, district and local planning.

The Commission established a process to deliver 

the new assurance requirements for councils’ Local 

Strategic Planning Statements. The assurance program 

is built upon a collaborative approach that supports 

councils in their preparation of Local Strategic Planning 

Statements – a new statutory requirement which sets 

out the 20-year vision for a local government area. The 

Local Strategic Planning Statement demonstrates how 

change will be managed and identifies local priorities 

for updating council Local Environmental Plans.

In 2018/19, assurance milestones included providing 

feedback to councils on Local Environmental Plan 

Reviews and bringing together councils with relevant 

State Government agencies at an Agency and 

Assurance Expo. At this event agencies and councils 

discussed Local Strategic Planning Statement inputs, 

and the coordination of land use and infrastructure 

planning. See page 36 for more.

Place-based planning
The Commission had a strong focus on place-based 

planning in 2018/19 to ensure that places are looked 

at holistically and deliver quality outcomes for the 

people who live, work and do business there. Place-

based initiatives included work on Place Infrastructure 

Compacts and Collaboration Areas.

Growth Infrastructure Compacts
A Growth infrastructure Compact (GIC) is a 

collaborative model for sequencing growth in 

housing and jobs with the delivery of services and 

infrastructure to ensure great places are delivered for 

people. In 2018/19 the Commission continued to pilot 

the process in Greater Parramatta and the Olympic 

Peninsula (GPOP), where it has now evolved to a Place 

Infrastructure Compact, and began work on two 

new Growth Infrastructure Compacts in the Western 

Parkland City, delivering on commitments in the 

Western Sydney City Deal.

The Commission is preparing the results of the pilot 

Place Infrastructure Compact for GPOP for Government 

consideration in the second half of 2019 and the 

Western Sydney GICs will be provided to Government 

for consideration in 2020. See page 40 for more.

Place Strategies and new 
Collaboration Areas
The Commission continued its work on Collaboration 

Areas, an initiative designed to unlock the high 

productivity potential of a place, by bringing together 

multiple stakeholders to address complex urban issues. 

In September 2018, the Commission published 

four Place Strategies for the 2017/18 program of 

Collaboration Areas – Liverpool, Randwick, Penrith 

and Camperdown-Ultimo. Each Place Strategy set out 

priorities and actions for the Collaboration Area. 

The Commission also commenced work on new 

Collaboration Areas in Campbelltown-Macarthur, 

Collaboration Areas Symposium

Highlights
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Kogarah, Bankstown CBD and Airport, and the 

Australian Nuclear Science and Technology 

Organisation. 

Draft Place Strategies for the 2018/19 Collaboration 

Areas will be delivered in 2019/20. See page 39 for more.

Progressing the Western Sydney 
City Deal
The Western Sydney City Deal commits all three 

levels of government to work together to deliver 

transformative change to the Western Parkland City. 

The Western Sydney City Deal Delivery Office is driving 

and coordinating the implementation of all 38 City 

Deal commitments, eight of which were completed in 

2018/19. 

Key achievements included establishing the Western 

City & Aerotropolis Authority and the Western Sydney 

Planning Partnership to deliver better and more 

efficient planning outcomes. The first round of projects 

under the Western Parkland City Liveability Program 

were approved and the Western Sydney Growth 

Infrastructure Compact program was established, 

delivering on two key commitments from the City Deal. 

See page 42 for more.

Thought leadership
In October 2018, the 

Commission released 

the first in a series of 

thought leadership 

papers, A Metropolis 

that Works. The paper 

provides further context 

to the industrial lands 

policy adopted by the 

Government in the 

Greater Sydney Region 

Plan, in relation to 

the retention, enhancement and 

evolution of industrial and urban services land as 

priorities for different parts of Greater Sydney. It raises 

awareness of the challenges Greater Sydney faces in 

best managing its industrial and urban services land 

and highlights the need for a well-considered approach 

to land use decisions. See page 55 for more.

Assurance Review of planning in the 
Ryde Local Government Area 
At the request of the Premier, the Commission 

undertook an Assurance Review of planning in the 

Ryde Local Government Area (LGA), with a particular 

focus on the Macquarie Park Investigation Area and 

its broader impact on the Ryde LGA. This Review was 

led by an Assurance Panel comprised of the Chief 

Commissioner and Deputy Chief Commissioner. 

The Review found that Ryde LGA is presently facing 

challenges owing to the current scale, rate and 

volume of residential development. The Panel made 

recommendations to the NSW Government about both 

Ryde LGA, and place-based planning in Greater Sydney. 

The Assurance Review provided an opportunity for 

Ryde LGA’s local residents and business communities 

to provide their views on planning and related issues 

such as the alignment and provision of infrastructure.

The Ryde Assurance Review Reports are available on 

the Commission’s website. See page 45 for more.

Greater Sydney Commission | Annual Report 2018/19

21



A greater voice for younger 
Sydneysiders
As part of its ongoing commitment to listening to 

and engaging with the people of Greater Sydney, the 

Commission created a Youth Panel in May 2019. 

The Youth Panel consists of ten youth representatives 

– two from each of the five Districts – who have been 

appointed for two years. The Youth Panel will provide 

insights on strategic planning and issues affecting 

young people across the Region. See page 52 for more.

Greater Sydney Commission Youth Panel

Highlights
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PIA National Awards

PIA National Awards

Celebrating the work of 
the Commission
The work of Commissioners and the Commission was 

recognised during the year with a number of awards.

The Planning Institute of Australia (PIA) (NSW 

Division) presented Chief Commissioner Lucy Turnbull 

with an Honorary Fellowship for her outstanding 

contribution to planning.

Deputy Chief Commissioner, Geoff Roberts, was 

recognised in the 2019 Queen’s Birthday Honours 

where he was appointed a Member of the Order of 

Australia (General Division) for significant service 

to urban planning and development. The planning 

profession also recognised Mr Roberts’ contributions 

with PIA awarding him National Planning Champion, 

and Western Sydney Leadership Dialogue presenting 

him with the Patron’s Prize for ‘Excellence in 

Partnership’. 

The Commission’s engagement program was 

recognised with awards from both PIA (NSW) and 

the International Association of Public Participation. 

The Greater Sydney Region Plan received a highly 

commended at the PIA NSW Awards for Best 

Planning Idea.
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Camden, Western City District

The Greater Sydney Commission
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The Greater Sydney 
Commission

The Greater Sydney Commission was established through the 
Greater Sydney Commission Act 2015 (GSC Act) .

The Commission takes a collaborative ‘one government’ approach to lead and guide the strategic 

planning for development, infrastructure and housing so that Greater Sydney will be a liveable, 

productive and sustainable city for all.

On 10 December 2018 amendments to the GSC Act and Environmental Planning and Assessment 

Act 1979 (EP&A Act) commenced, strengthening the Commission’s role in assuring that significant 

state and local plans align with the Greater Sydney Region Plan and District Plans, and co-

ordinating the whole of government implementation of the strategic plans. The Act amendments 

also reflected the Commission’s move to the Department of Premier and Cabinet cluster, reporting 

directly to the Premier.

Part 2, Section 2 (9) of the GSC Act now states that the Commission’s principal objectives are:

(a)  to lead metropolitan planning for the Greater Sydney Region;

(b)  to promote orderly development in the Greater Sydney Region, integrating social, economic 

and environmental considerations with regard to the principles of ecologically sustainable 

development contained in section 6 (2) of the Protection of the Environment Administration 

Act 1991;

(c)  to promote the alignment of Government infrastructure decision-making with land use 

planning;

(d)  to promote the supply of housing, including affordable housing;

(e)  to encourage development that is resilient and takes into account natural hazards;

(f)  to support ongoing improvement in productivity, liveability and environmental quality; and

(g)  to provide increased opportunity for public involvement and participation in environmental 

planning and assessment in the Greater Sydney Region.

Part 2, Section 2 (10) of the GSC Act now states that the Commission’s functions are:

(1) (a) to provide advice and make recommendations to the Minister on matters relating to 

planning and development in the Greater Sydney Region;

(a1) to provide advice and make recommendations to the Minister administering this Act, and 

other Ministers with the approval of the Minister administering this Act, on matters relating to 

land use and infrastructure in the Greater Sydney Region;

(b)  to prepare and provide reports to the Minister on the implementation (including any 

impediments to the implementation) of any plan or proposal relating to development in the 

Greater Sydney Region;
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(c)  to provide advice and make recommendations 

to the Minister on any impediments to the 

implementation of any plan or proposal relating to 

development in the Greater Sydney Region;

(c1)  to provide progress and assurance reports to 

the Minister administering this Act, and other 

Ministers with the approval of the Minister 

administering this Act, on matters relating to the 

preparation and implementation of any plan or 

proposal relating to development in the Greater 

Sydney Region;

(d)  to provide advice to the Minister on the application 

of any development fund created under section 7.35 

of the Planning Act in respect of land in the Greater 

Sydney Region;

(e)  to assist local councils in the Greater Sydney 

Region and other government agencies (including 

an agency of the Commonwealth) on the 

implementation of any plan or proposal relating to 

development in the Greater Sydney Region;

(f)  to provide the Minister with such information, 

advice or reports as the Minister may request;

(f1)  to provide the Minister administering the Planning 

Act with any information, advice or reports 

requested by the Minister administering the 

Planning Act;

(g)  if requested to do so by a Minister other than the 

Minister administering this Act or the Minister 

administering the Planning Act (the “other 

Minister”), to provide the other Minister with such 

information, advice or reports as may be requested 

by the other Minister.

(2)  Any such other Minister must obtain the approval 

of the Minister administering this Act before 

making a request under subsection (1) (g).

(3)  The Commission has such other functions as are 

conferred or imposed on it by or under this or any 

other Act.

(4)  Without limiting subsection (3), the Commission 

may exercise functions delegated to it under any 

other Act.

 The EP&A Act was amended to reflect the following:

• Day-to-day local plan making responsibilities have 

been transferred to the Department of Planning 

and Environment (referred to as the Department of 

Planning, Industry and Environment as of  

1 July 2019).

• Councils in the Greater Sydney Region are required 

to obtain the written advice of the Commission in 

support of a Local Strategic Planning Statement 

before it is made by the council.

The Greater Sydney Commission

Greater Sydney Commission | Annual Report 2018/19

26



• The Minister for Planning is required to consult with 

the Commission on any Local Environment Plan if 

the Minister believes it is likely to significantly affect 

implementation of the Greater Sydney Region Plan 

or District Plans.

• The Minister for Planning is required to consult 

with the Commission on any State Environmental 

Planning Policies if the Minister believes it is likely 

to significantly affect implementation of the Greater 

Sydney Region Plan or District Plans.

• The Commission is required to review the Greater 

Sydney Region Plan in 2023 (instead of 2022) to 

ensure the review is informed by the latest census 

data which will become available in 2022.

Commissioners Supported by

Chief Commissioner Chief Executive 
Officer
• Executive team
• Support staff
• Agency 

secondments
• Local government 

secondments
• Technical experts

District Commissioners
• Eastern City/North
• Central City
• Western City
• South

Greater Sydney 
Commissioners
• Economic
• Social
• Environment

Ex-officio Members
• Secretary of NSW 

Department of Planning 
& Environment

• Secretary of Transport 
for NSW

• Secretary of Treasury
• Secretary of Department of 

Premier and Cabinet
• Chief Executive Officer, 

Greater Sydney 
Commission

GPOP Subcommittee

• IDC members
• Infrastructure NSW
• UrbanGrowth
• Land and Housing Corporation
• Sydney Olympic Park Authority
• Property NSW
• Department of Justice NSW
• Health Infrastructure
• Roads and Maritime Services

• Landcom
• School Infrastructure NSW
• Sydney Water
• Create NSW
• Office of Environment & Heritage
• Department of Industry
• Department of Premier and Cabinet
• Sydney Metro-West

Committees

Finance and Governance
• Chief Commissioner
• Economic Commissioner
• Social Commissioner
• Environment Commissioner

Infrastructure Delivery
• Chief Commissioner
• Economic Commissioner
• Social Commissioner
• Environment Commissioner
• Ex-officio Members
• Secretary of the Ministry  

of Health
• Secretary of the 

Department of Education

Strategic Planning
• Chief Commissioner
• Economic Commissioner
• Social Commissioner
• Environment Commissioner
• District Commissioners

Governance structure

Greater Sydney Commission | Annual Report 2018/19

27



The Greater Sydney Commission

Governance
The Commission’s governance structure is based on 

the statutory requirements of the GSC Act.

Following the amendment of the GSC Act in 2018, 

membership of the Commission comprises one 

Chief Commissioner and up to three Greater Sydney 

Commissioners, five District Commissioners and five 

ex-officio members, as shown in the figure on page 27. 

Changes to committee membership and department 

names as a result of Machinery of Government changes 

will be reflected in the Commission’s 2019/20 Annual 

Report.

Full Commission
The Greater Sydney Commission (often referred to 

as the Full Commission) was established under the 

GSC Act and is responsible for providing expertise 

and advice on the effective implementation of the 

strategic plans for the Greater Sydney Region. The 

Full Commission is also responsible for the overall 

governance of its operations and must ensure the 

organisation as a whole complies with its contractual, 

statutory and other legal obligations.

Its membership comprises the Chief Commissioner, 

Economic Commissioner, Environment Commissioner, 

Social Commissioner, District Commissioners and 

ex-officio members including the Commission’s Chief 

Executive Officer.

Committees 
The Strategic Planning Committee is responsible 

for providing strategic direction and governance 

oversight. If requested to do so by the Commission, 

the Committee is required to prepare draft strategic 

plans and provide information, advice and quarterly 

reports on the implementation of strategic plans for 

the Greater Sydney Region. In addition, the Strategic 

Planning Committee is required to advise and assist 

the Commission in connection with any of its other 

functions. 

Its membership comprises the Chief Commissioner, 

Economic Commissioner, Environment Commissioner, 

Social Commissioner and District Commissioners. 

The Infrastructure Delivery Committee provides 

information, advice and regular reports on the 

infrastructure requirements to support housing and 

employment opportunities in Greater Sydney. The 

Infrastructure Delivery Committee is a key point of 

intersection and integration across multiple functions 

and departments of government. 

Its membership compromises the Chief Commissioner, 

Economic Commissioner, Environment Commissioner, 

Social Commissioner, and Secretaries of the 

Department of Planning and Environment, Transport 

for NSW, NSW Treasury, NSW Health, the Department 

of Education and the CEO of the Commission. 

Infrastructure NSW and UrbanGrowth NSW 

Development Corporation attend as observers. 

The Finance and Governance Committee is 

responsible for monitoring and reporting against the 

Greater Sydney Commission’s statutory obligations, 

Government priorities, budget, governance and 

compliance.

Its membership comprises the Chief Commissioner, 

Economic Commissioner, Environment Commissioner, 

Social Commissioner and the CEO of the Commission.

The Greater Parramatta and the Olympic Peninsula 
(GPOP) Sub-Committee of the Commission’s 

Infrastructure Delivery Committee was established 

by a resolution of 28 February 2017, and pursuant to 

section 16(2) of the GSC Act.

The purpose of the Sub-Committee is to coordinate 

transformative infrastructure, strategic development 

of Government owned lands, job creation and housing 

supply within the GPOP growth area.

Its membership includes the Infrastructure Delivery 

Committee as well as Infrastructure NSW, Land and 

Housing Corporation, Sydney Olympic Park Authority, 

Property NSW, Department of Justice NSW, Health 

Infrastructure, Roads and Maritime Services, Landcom, 

School Infrastructure NSW, Sydney Water and 

Department of Premier and Cabinet.

As required by the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983, 

the Commission has an Audit and Risk Committee. 

The Commission’s audit and risk functions were 

transitioned to the Department of Premier and 

Cabinet’s Audit and Risk Committee under a shared 

services agreement, signed by the Department of the 

Premier and Cabinet and the Commission. 
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2018/19 Organisational chart

Chief Executive Officer, Sarah Hill

City Planning 
Projects

City Planning 
Strategy

City Planning 
Infrastructure

Corporate 
Services

Executive Director,  
Greg Woodhams

• Collaboration Areas
• Special Projects

A/Executive Director, 
Stephanie Barker

• Strategic Plans
• Strategic Advisory
• Research

A/Executive Director, 
Natalie Camilleri

• Western City Growth 
Infrastructure 
Compacts

• GPOP Growth 
Infrastructure 
Compacts

Chief Operating Officer, 
Danielle Smalley

• Communications & 
Engagement

• Operations & 
Governance

Principal officers

Senior Officers Qualifications

Sarah Hill
Chief Executive Officer

Doctor of Philosophy 
Master of Urban & Regional Planning (Hons) 
Bachelor of Science 
Certificate of UK Planning Law & Practice 
AICD (Graduate)

Danielle Smalley
Chief Operating Officer

Master of Public Administration 
Master of Arts (Communication Management) 
Bachelor of Arts

Greg Woodhams

Executive Director –  
City Planning Projects

Master of Town and Country Planning 
Bachelor of Arts (Hons)  
Diploma of Corporate Management

Stephanie Barker
A/ Executive Director – 
City Planning Strategy

Master of Urban Regional Planning 
Bachelor of Science (Architecture) 

Natalie Camilleri
A/ Executive Director – 
City Planning Infrastructure

Master of Public Administration 
Bachelor of Town Planning (Medal, Hons 1)

All Commission staff are based in the Commission’s office in Parramatta.
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Vivid Sydney, Eastern City District

Delivering quality outcomes
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Delivering quality 
outcomes

Moving to the Department of Premier and Cabinet cluster 
and reporting directly to the Premier from 1 July 2018, placed 
the Commission and Greater Sydney’s strategic planning and 
implementation at the centre of Government . As part of this 
transition, the Premier and Chief Commissioner agreed on a new 
set of priorities focusing on the provision of independent advice, 
strategic oversight and coordination across government agencies 
and councils to implement the Region and the District Plans . 
The Commission has commenced work on all these priorities . 
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The Commission’s original 24 Ministerial Priorities were delivered in 2018 .

Premier’s Priorities for the Commission and status summary

No Priority Progress

1 Provide independent advice to Government See page 49 
for more .

2 Lead the strategic planning of Greater Sydney, including implementation of the 
Greater Sydney Region Plan

Lead the strategic planning of Greater Sydney, develop more innovative ways of cross-
government working that successfully deliver the 15 actions of the Greater Sydney 
Region Plan and monitor the Plan’s implementation and report progress to Government .

See page 34 
for more .

3 Assure the delivery of key state and local plans

Assure the timely delivery of 33 Local Environmental Plans that reflect the Government’s 
strategy for Greater Sydney .

See page 36 
for more .

4 Implement the Western Sydney City Deal

Coordinate land use and infrastructure planning for the Western City, including 
implementation of the Western Sydney City Deal . Explore future economic opportunities 
for Western Sydney .

See page 42 
for more .

5 Lead delivery of the vision for Greater Parramatta and the  
Olympic Peninsula

Lead cross-government implementation of the vision for Greater Parramatta and 
the Olympic Peninsula .

See page 41 
for more .

6 Deliver to Government an effective tool for infrastructure planning – Growth 
Infrastructure Compact (GIC)

Deliver the GIC, pilot the GIC in Greater Parramatta and the Olympic Peninsula and 
deliver up to three GICs in Western Sydney . 

See page 40 
for more .

7 Community and stakeholder engagement

Lead robust conversation with community and stakeholders through innovative 
engagement opportunities . Provide the Government with independent advice 
on infrastructure planning issues that are a priority for the community and 
stakeholders .

See page 51 
for more .
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No Priority Progress

8 Innovate to develop a more sustainable and liveable  
Greater Sydney

Deliver sustainable development and lower carbon precincts in the Western 
and Central Cities through collaboration with the Department of Planning and 
Environment, INSW, Sydney Water, Water NSW and state-owned utility corporations . 
Work with Government Property, Landcom and Urban Growth to optimise the 
use of surplus or under-utilised land to enhance social infrastructure and local 
connectivity .

Ongoing .

9 Strategic thought leadership

Lead community and stakeholder engagement, dialogue and debate and advise 
Government on key city making issues .

See page 55 
for more .

10 Other priorities

Carry out certain tasks on a when required basis . Undertake priorities of and on its 
own in relation to any matter consistent with the GSC Act .

Work 
undertaken 
as required . 

Palm Beach, North District
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Summary of progress on the Actions of the Greater Sydney Region Plan (as at 30 June 2019)

Action Lead agency Progress

1 . Identify, prioritise and 
deliver Collaboration Areas

Greater Sydney 
Commission

Published four Place Strategies for 2017/18 Collaboration 
Areas: Liverpool, Randwick, Penrith and Camperdown-Ultimo .

2 . Coordinate land use 
and infrastructure for the 
Western City District

Greater Sydney 
Commission

Established implementation and governance arrangements . 
Includes the Western City Aerotropolis Authority, Western 
Sydney Planning Partnership and Western Sydney GICs .

3 . Prepare housing 
strategies

Councils, Department 
of Planning and 
Environment, Greater 
Sydney Commission

Department of Planning and Environment is supporting the 
preparation of housing strategies .

4 . Develop 6–10 year 
housing targets

Greater Sydney 
Commission, councils

The Commission and Department of Planning and 
Environment will review local housing strategies and council 
capacity analysis in 2019/20 together with councils to develop 
and confirm housing targets . 

5 . Implement Affordable 
Rental Housing Targets

Greater Sydney 
Commission, councils

All councils have been included in SEPP 70 as a first step in 
implementing Affordable Rental Housing targets . An inter-
agency working group is developing a whole-of-government 
approach to securing, delivering and managing Affordable 
Rental Housing . 

6 . Collaborate to deliver 
the Greater Parramatta 
and the Olympic Peninsula 
(GPOP) vision

Greater Sydney 
Commission, NSW 
Government, councils

Commission continues to chair the inter-agency GPOP 
Coordination Group . The GPOP vision is being delivered 
through the Place Infrastructure Compact pilot and the 
development of performance indicators for the precinct . 

7 . Develop a growth 
infrastructure compact for 
Greater Parramatta and 
the Olympic Peninsula

Greater Sydney 
Commission

Commission completed the Place Infrastructure Compact 
pilot program in GPOP in December 2018 and is preparing the 
results for Government consideration . 

8 . Support the growth of 
the Camperdown-Ultimo 
Collaboration Area

Greater Sydney 
Commission

Commission published the Camperdown-Ultimo Collaboration 
Area Place Strategy . New governance arrangements are 
being established to continue work and to implement the 
Place Strategy . 

Implementing the Region and District Plans 
The Commission has a statutory requirement under the 

Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 (EP&A 

Act) to report on the implementation of the Greater 

Sydney Region Plan.

The Region Plan has 15 Actions to be delivered by the 

Commission, State agencies, the Australian Government 

and councils. Each action has a lead agency, in some cases 

with supporting State agencies and/or councils.

More information on implementation progress is available 

on the Commission’s website.

Delivering quality outcomes
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Action Lead agency Progress

9 . Collaborate to deliver 
the Western Sydney City 
Deal

Australian 
Government, NSW 
Government, councils

The Australian and NSW Governments, and eight Western 
Parkland City councils have worked together to coordinate 
and oversee delivery of the 38 commitments which are 
outlined in the City Deal Implementation Plan, published in 
December 2018 . Eight commitments have been completed, 27 
are progressing, and three are scheduled to commence .

10 . Facilitate whole-of-
government place-based 
outcomes through 
Collaboration Areas for 
targeted centres, including 
Liverpool, Greater Penrith 
and Randwick

Greater Sydney 
Commission

The Commission published Place Strategies for Liverpool, 
Penrith and Randwick . 

11 . Review and plan for 
industrial and urban 
services land

Greater Sydney 
Commission

The Commission is meeting with ‘review and manage’ councils 
and supporting all other councils through the provision 
of an industrial lands database to assist with employment 
strategies . 

12 . Develop and implement 
the South Creek Corridor 
Project

Infrastructure NSW, 
working with the 
Commission

INSW has finalised Stage 1 of the South Creek Strategy 
in consultation with State agencies and councils . The 
Commission led the landscape and urban design workstream 
with Department of Planning and Environment .

13 . Develop the Greater 
Sydney Commission’s role 
in peer reviewing key land 
use and infrastructure 
plans prepared by NSW 
Department of Planning 
and Environment to 
provide assurance to 
the community that 
robust planning is being 
undertaken across Greater 
Sydney consistent with the 
Region and District Plans .

Greater Sydney 
Commission

The Commission has commenced an assurance program for 
Local Strategic Planning Statements with Local Environmental 
Plan reviews completed for all councils . The Commission has 
undertaken an Assurance Review of planning in the Ryde Local 
Government Area and will undertake an Assurance Review of 
the Western Sydney Planning Partnership’s Western Sydney 
Aerotropolis Land Use and Infrastructure Implementation 
Plan and initial Precinct Plans in 2019, to ensure consistency 
with the Region and District Plans .

14 . Develop performance 
indicators in consultation 
with state agencies and 
councils that measure the 
10 Directions to inform 
inter-agency, state and 
local government decision-
making

Greater Sydney 
Commission, 
Transport for NSW, 
Infrastructure NSW, 
NSW Health, NSW 
Department of 
Education, councils

The Commission worked with agencies and councils to 
identify measures to track the implementation of the plans . 
This consultation was expanded to community and industry 
and initial indicators were published in The Pulse of Greater 
Sydney . This included new data sets for the 30-minute city, 
tree canopy and heat vulnerability .

15 . Develop detailed 
monitoring and 
reporting of housing and 
employment in Greater 
Sydney

Department of 
Planning and 
Environment, 
councils

Department of Planning and Environment supported councils 
by providing monitoring and reporting tools including the 
Community Profile Tool, the Demography and Housing 
Dashboard and the Housing Mapping Scenario Tool . The 
Employment Lands Development Monitor is being updated . 
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Implementing District Plans
Premier’s Priority for the Commission:  
Assure the delivery of key state and local plans

District Plans are being implemented by councils across 

Greater Sydney through a process that will lead to 

updates of their Local Environmental Plans.

The implementation process has three key parts:

• Local Strategic Planning Statements: Councils are 

developing Local Strategic Planning Statements to 

set the 20-year vision for their local government 

area, including identifying the special character 

and values to be preserved and how change will be 

managed. The Local Strategic Planning Statement 

explains how council is implementing the planning 

priorities and actions in the relevant District Plan in 

conjunction with their Community Strategic Plan.

• Local housing strategies: District Plans require 

councils to prepare local housing strategies to 

address housing needs. This work informs 6–10 year 

housing targets for each local government area.

• Updates to Local Environmental Plans: Local 

Environmental Plans provide the rules that guide 

local development and contain controls such as 

land use zoning and height. Councils are currently 

updating their Local Environmental Plans to reflect 

their District Plan and deliver the vision set out in 

their Local Strategic Planning Statements. Updated 

council Local Environmental Plans are due to be 

exhibited in 2020 for funded priority councils, and 

2021 for all other councils.

The new assurance program developed by the 

Commission in collaboration with the Department of 

Planning and Environment will assure the final Local 

Strategic Planning Statements submitted by councils, 

to ensure consistency with the District Plans. The 

program takes a collaborative approach and involves 

the Commission drawing on expertise and sharing data 

and guidance materials from across Government to 

assist councils to meet the timeframes for exhibiting 

their Local Environmental Plans. Assurance milestones 

have included:

• Local Environmental Plan reviews: in October 

2018, councils reported to the Commission on 

reviews to their Local Environmental Plans against 

local circumstances and District Plan priorities and 

actions. Assessing this alignment was important as it 

provided councils with direction for developing and 

delivering their Local Strategic Planning Statements. 

The Commission facilitated a series of Technical 

Working Groups in late 2018 involving State agencies 

to support councils in this work. In late 2018, the 

Commission issued Letters of Assurance for Local 

Environmental Plan Reviews to each council. 

• Assurance and Agency Expo: in February 2019, 

the Commission convened a two-day Agency and 

Assurance Expo which facilitated conversations 

between agencies and councils about the key 

barriers they needed to address to ensure alignment 

with the plans and provided detailed guidance on 

preparing Local Strategic Planning Statements. The 

Expo was attended by 125 council officers from 32 

councils and 80 government staff from 12 agencies.

• Local Strategic Planning Statement health checks: 
in March-April 2019, the Commission undertook 

Technical Health Checks with all councils to 

understand and assist with the preparation of draft 

Local Strategic Planning Statement documents. This 

provided councils with the opportunity to outline 

their approach to the Local Strategic Planning 

Statements to the Commission and relevant 

agencies. The Health Checks, hosted by the relevant 

District Commissioner, provided a forum for 

councils to ask frank questions and receive tailored, 

efficient feedback. 

The Commission will continue to support councils as 

they finalise their Local Strategic Planning Statements, 

from November 2019 to March 2020.

Delivering quality outcomes
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Assurance process Status

Councils’ LEP Reviews Completed

Assurance Expo – Commission hosted 
event for State agencies and councils to 
discuss LSPS issues

Completed

Health checks – Commission hosted 
meetings with all councils and relevent 
State government agencies on Draft 
LSPS preparations

Completed

Councils’ draft LSPS public exhibition To commence before 1 October 2019 . 
Many councils will be exhibiting draft 
Local Housing Strategies concurrently 
with their draft LSPS .

In progress

Councils review submissions and finalise 
LSPS for submission to the Commission

August 2019 – January 2020

Rolling program relative to each 
council’s exhibition dates .

Pending

Commission undertakes assurance 
of final LSPS

November 2019 – March 2020

Rolling program commences from 
each council’s submission to the 
Commission .

Pending

LSPS comes into effect By 31 March 2020 Pending

LEP Updates – accelerated councils

LEP Updates – remaining councils

By June 2020

By June 2021

Pending

Pending

Assurance of Local Strategic Planning Statements – project milestones
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Campsie, South District
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Collaboration Areas
Greater Sydney Region Plan Action 1:  
Identify, prioritise and deliver Collaboration Areas

Greater Sydney Region Plan Action 8:  
Support the growth of the Camperdown-Ultimo 
Collaboration Area

Greater Sydney Region Plan Action 10:  
Facilitate whole-of-government place-based 
outcomes through Collaboration Areas for 
targeted centres, including Liverpool, Greater 
Penrith and Randwick

The Collaboration Areas program focuses on delivering 

vibrant, diverse and productive places, centred around 

employment and education opportunities, enhanced 

liveability and sustainability. The approach brings 

together key stakeholders to look holistically at a place, 

develop a shared vision and actions, and implement a 

governance system to ensure ongoing success. 

Each Collaboration Area begins by drawing together 

key stakeholders important to the success of the 

area. This stakeholder group meets regularly during 

a rigorous program of interactive workshops and 

meetings where knowledge, data, organisational 

priorities and aspirations are shared. Through this 

process, the group co-creates a Place Strategy – a 

shared vision for the place and the actions required to 

implement it.

The Commission has led Collaboration Areas in 

Liverpool, Greater Penrith, Camperdown-Ultimo 

and Randwick. In 2018/19 the Commission began 

work on Collaboration Areas in Campbelltown-

Macarthur, Kogarah, the Australian Nuclear Science 

and Technology Organisation site at Lucas Heights 

(ANSTO) and Bankstown CBD and Airport.

Key achievements in 2018/19
In September 2018, the Commission’s Board approved 

four Place Strategies for the Liverpool, Randwick, 

Penrith and Camperdown-Ultimo Collaboration Areas. 

These are available on the Commission’s website. 

Rhodes East Collaboration Area is on hold pending 

direction from the Department of Planning, Industry 

and Environment on the Rhodes East Planned Precinct.

As part of the process, the Commission facilitated 

workshops and meetings with relevant councils, 

institutions and State Government agencies focusing 

on the key themes of productivity, connectivity, 

liveability and sustainability. Key non-government 

stakeholders, business chambers and community 

service providers (identified by councils) were included 

through the establishment of a Reference Group for 

each Collaboration Area. Throughout the Collaboration 

Area program, the Commission has worked with 60 

organisations. 

Collaboration Areas Symposium
To mark the close of the formal program of 

the 2017/18 Collaboration Areas, and the 

commencement of the 2018/19 Collaboration 

Areas, the Commission hosted its first 

Collaboration Areas Symposium, with partners 

from State and local government and non-

government institutions. The Symposium 

brought together stakeholders from across the 

two-year program to share lessons learnt and 

celebrate successes. 

Attendees from the 2017/18 Collaboration Areas 

program discussed progress made since their 

Place Strategies were finalised and shared key 

learnings to aid the new stream of Collaboration 

Areas.

The Symposium included an expert panel with 

speakers from Liverpool City Council, City of 

Sydney, Western Sydney University, University 

of Technology Sydney, Transport for NSW and 

Sydney Local Health District.

Key learnings and observations from the 

Symposium will inform an insights paper on 

the Commission’s approach to place-based 

collaboration.
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Following the release of the Liverpool, Randwick, 

Penrith and Camperdown-Ultimo Collaboration Place 

Strategies, these Collaboration Areas are now shifting 

from vision to implementation. This has seen the 

Commission’s role transition from establishing the 

foundations for collaboration, to supporting place-

based leadership that will accelerate outcomes and help 

resolve the complex issues identified.

While it is too early to fully appraise or measure the 

outcomes of Collaboration Areas, the transition of 

the existing Collaboration Areas into implementation 

is vital to the success of the process.

Future priorities
The Commission’s ongoing responsibility is to support 

emerging place-based governance frameworks and 

share experiences within Government and between 

Collaboration Areas:

• Camperdown-Ultimo: The University of 

Technology Sydney, The University of Sydney, 

TAFE NSW, Sydney Local Health District, Health 

Infrastructure NSW, City of Sydney and Inner 

West Council have formed an alliance group. The 

alliance seeks to build on the Camperdown-Ultimo 

Collaboration Area Place Strategy framework.

• Randwick: The University of NSW, Randwick 

City Council, Health Infrastructure NSW and the 

Australian Turf Club have formed a governance 

group and have appointed a shared resource to help 

accelerate and implement actions.

• Penrith: Penrith City Council is leading future 

governance and is in the process of establishing a 

governance group. Transport for NSW is working 

on an Integrated Transport Strategy and the NSW 

Government has released a Guideline to support 

the future growth of Penrith in the context of the 

challenges of flood risk.

• Liverpool: Liverpool City Council is leading future 

governance to drive the Place Strategy. Transport for 

NSW is working on an Integrated Transport Strategy, 

which was identified as an Immediate Imperative in 

the Place Strategy.

District Commissioners will continue to support 

Collaboration Area place-based governance 

groups, providing a critical interface with the NSW 

Government and enabling long term and strategic 

priorities to be pursued by delivery agencies. The 

continuing role of the Commission in this way will 

ensure the collaborative approach reaches deeper into 

each participating agency or organisation.

Draft Place Strategies for the 2018/19 Collaboration 

Areas are currently being prepared and will be 

presented to the Commission’s Board for approval in 

2019/20.

There is an opportunity for the councils involved 

in Collaboration Areas to use the Place Strategies to 

inform the Local Strategic Planning Statements they 

are currently preparing. They can also serve as a guide 

for Government agencies when considering their 

capital works programs and priorities for delivery of 

infrastructure or services.

Place Infrastructure Compacts
Premier’s Priority for the Commission:  
Lead delivery of the vision for Greater Parramatta 
and the Olympic Peninsula (GPOP)

Premier’s Priority for the Commission:  
Deliver to Government an effective tool for 
infrastructure planning (GIC)

Greater Sydney Region Plan Action 6:  
Collaborate to deliver the Greater Parramatta and 
the Olympic Peninsula (GPOP) vision

Greater Sydney Region Plan Action 7:  
Develop a growth infrastructure compact for GPOP

In 2017, the Commission established the Growth 

Infrastructure Compact (GIC) concept – a new 

collaborative model, that sequences new housing and 

jobs with the delivery of services and infrastructure, to 

ensure great places are delivered for people.

The Commission has completed piloting the 

process in the Greater Parramatta and the Olympic 

Peninsula (GPOP) area, where it evolved into a 

Place Infrastructure Compact (PIC) to recognise the 

inherent focus on driving liveability, productivity and 

sustainability outcomes for places as they grow. The 

Commission recently commenced work on GICs in the 

Western Parkland City.

Delivering quality outcomes

Greater Sydney Commission | Annual Report 2018/19

40



Greater Parramatta and the Olympic 
Peninsula – Pilot Place Infrastructure 
Compact
GPOP is the geographic heart of Greater Sydney and is 

evolving rapidly. A growing city needs a vision to set 

a dynamic agenda. In October 2016, the Commission 

released a draft vision for GPOP following consultation 

with the community and stakeholders.

GPOP was selected as the place for the pilot PIC 

because of the high levels of infrastructure being 

delivered now and planned for the future, strong 

growth in jobs and housing, and its strong potential 

to rebalance and improve opportunities for Greater 

Sydney residents. 

The development of a place-based strategic business 

case for the PIC is Recommendation 1 in the State 

Infrastructure Strategy. 

Key achievements in 2018/19
Throughout 2018/19, a dedicated multi-disciplinary 

team within the Commission continued to collaborate 

with over 20 partners, including State agencies, utility 

providers and councils, to develop the GPOP PIC. 

Significant progress was made in developing data and 

Geographic Information System mapping tools to 

integrate complex land use and infrastructure needs as 

part of the new methodology. 

Future priorities for the GPOP pilot 
Place Infrastructure Compact
The Commission completed its pilot in GPOP in 

December 2018 and is preparing the results for 

Government consideration in the second half of 2019.

Western Sydney Growth 
Infrastructure Compacts
In 2018/19 the Commission established the Western 

Sydney Growth Infrastructure Compact Program to 

deliver on two commitments from the Western Sydney 

City Deal:

• Priority 5 – The NSW Government will establish 

pilot GICs for the Western Parkland City. The 

GICs will coordinate planning and delivery of 

new housing supply and ensure that the required 

infrastructure is delivered as it is needed.

• Priority 7 – The NSW and Australian Governments 

will develop transport and water infrastructure 

models to innovatively plan for future infrastructure 

needs. These models will accelerate development 

application processes and streamline infrastructure 

delivery, and support GICs.

Key achievements in 2018/19
To implement the GICs, the Commission established 

a dedicated team with expertise drawn from Federal, 

State and local government. 

To ensure a holistic planning approach, the 

Commission’s team is working with all Western City 

District councils, State agencies and utility providers, 

the Western City Planning Partnership and the Western 

City & Aerotropolis Authority.

In 2018/19 the Commission delivered the requirements 

of the first milestone set out in the Project Agreement 

with the Australian Government, including an 

assessment of the existing infrastructure and services 

for the initial GIC in the Western Sydney Growth 

Area (Aerotropolis), and the development of future 

scenarios.

The Western Sydney GIC program is overseen by the 

Commission’s Infrastructure Delivery Committee. 

The program also provides regular updates to, and 

seeks guidance from, the Implementation Board 

established under the City Deal. 

Future priorities for the Western 
Sydney GIC
The initial two Western Sydney GICs will be provided to 

the NSW Government for consideration in 2020.
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Delivering the Western Sydney 
City Deal
Greater Sydney Region Plan Action 2:  
Coordinate land use and infrastructure for the 
Western City District

Premier’s Priority for the Commission:  
Implement the Western Sydney City Deal

The Western Sydney City Deal is a 20-year agreement 

between the NSW and Commonwealth Governments, 

and eight councils of the Western City District to 

deliver transformative change to the Western Parkland 

City. It commits the three levels of government to 

work together and deliver 38 commitments as an 

integrated package, driving the growth, liveability, 

and sustainability of the Western Parkland City. It was 

signed in March 2018.

The Western Sydney City Deal Delivery Office, with 

representatives from the three levels of government, 

is driving and coordinating the implementation of 

all 38 City Deal commitments, supporting the Chief 

Coordinator, Western Parkland City and governance 

arrangements, and providing regular monitoring and 

reporting. 

Key achievements in 2018/19
Eight of the 38 commitments were completed in 

2018/19. Key achievements included: 

• Establishment of the Western City & Aerotropolis 

Authority in November 2018. The Authority is 

leading the master planning and delivery of the 

Western Sydney Aerotropolis, and planning key 

strategic sites across the Western Parkland City in 

collaboration with councils;

• The allocation of funding for the first round of 

projects under the Western Parkland City Liveability 

Program in January 2019. The $170 million program 

is co-funded by the three levels of government 

and provides grants for council-led infrastructure 

projects to enhance liveability and provide open-

space, amenity, and recreation for residents;

• Establishment of a new Western Sydney Planning 

Partnership with the eight councils of the Western 

City District and Blacktown City Council to deliver 

better, more efficient planning outcomes within 

Western Sydney. The Planning Partnership is 

responsible for delivering the final Land Use and 

Infrastructure Implementation Plan to support 

rezoning of the Western Sydney Aerotropolis; and

• The implementation of robust long-term 

governance arrangements between the three levels 

of government to oversee the delivery of the City 

Deal and the enduring growth and sustainability of 

the Western Parkland City. An Implementation Plan 

was released in December 2018. 

Future Priorities
The Commission will continue working across 

the three levels of government to coordinate 

implementation of the City Deal and ensure it delivers 

for all Western Parkland City residents.

Future milestones for the City Deal will include 

funding the second round of the Western Parkland 

City Liveability Program and completing the final 

business case for the first stage of the North South Rail 

Link from St Marys via Western Sydney Airport to the 

Aerotropolis. 

Further priorities include finalising the Land Use 

and Infrastructure Implementation Plan and State 

Environmental Planning Policy for the Aerotropolis. 

A Digital Action Plan will also be completed and 

implemented across all eight council areas, and the 

Western Sydney Airport Skills Exchange will be 

established in partnership between Western Sydney 

Airport and TAFE NSW. 

Delivering quality outcomes
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Affordable Rental Housing Targets
Greater Sydney Region Plan Action 5:  
Implement Affordable Rental Housing Targets

The Commission is working closely with the 

Department of Planning and Environment to 

streamline the implementation of new programs 

particularly with respect to the workings of State 

Environmental Planning Policy (Affordable Rental 

Housing) and State Environmental Planning Policy No 

70 – Affordable Housing (Revised Schemes) (SEPP 70).

Key achievements in 2018/19
All councils have been included in SEPP 70 as a first 

step in implementing Affordable Rental Housing 

targets. An inter-agency working group is developing a 

whole-of-government approach to securing, delivering 

and managing Affordable Rental Housing.

Future Priorities
The Commission will continue to work to finalise the 

whole-of-government approach to implementing the 

Affordable Rental Housing targets to support councils 

and relevant planning authorities and ensure that 

housing strategies include a sufficient affordable 

housing needs analysis and strategy to identify 

preferred affordable housing locations in each local 

government area.

Penrith, Western City District

Greater Sydney Commission | Annual Report 2018/19

43



Blacktown, Central City District

Assurance
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Premier’s Priority for the Commission:  
Assure the delivery of key state and local plans

The Premier’s Priorities for the Commission and amended GSC and 
EP&A Acts establish the Commission’s role of assuring the alignment 
of significant local and state plans with the Region and District Plans .

Local Strategic Planning Statements
Following the NSW Government’s adoption of the Greater Sydney Region Plan and release of 

the five District Plans in March 2018, the Commission has continued to work closely with the 33 

councils of Greater Sydney to implement them and create a clear strategic line-of-sight between 

the Greater Sydney Region Plan, District Plans and local plans. For more information on the Local 

Strategic Planning Statements assurance program, see page 36.

Assurance Review of planning in the Ryde Local Government Area
At the request of the Premier, the Commission undertook an Assurance Review of planning in the 

Ryde Local Government Area (LGA) with a particular focus on the Macquarie Park Investigation 

Area and its broader impact on the Ryde LGA. This Review was led by an Assurance Panel 

comprised of the Chief Commissioner and Deputy Chief Commissioner. 

As part of the Assurance Review, two Listening Sessions held in February 2019 provided an 

opportunity for more than 30 residents and businesses to speak directly to the Assurance Panel 

and provide their views on planning. The sessions were open to the public to attend and videos 

of the sessions were uploaded to the Commission’s website. People were also able to make online 

submissions which were considered by the Panel. 

The Assurance Panel provided two reports to the Premier, a Stage 1 Report in February 2019, and a 

Stage 2 Report in May 2019. These reports are available on the Commission’s website.

Assurance
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Dural, North District

Assurance
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The Review found that the Ryde LGA is presently facing 

challenges due to the current scale, rate and volume of 

residential development occurring. This has resulted in 

a mismatch between the timing of development  

and the delivery of the infrastructure necessary to 

support it.

The Panel made eight recommendations to the NSW 

Government including: 

• establishing a Ryde LGA Coordination Group to 

better co-ordinate land-use, infrastructure planning 

and delivery across the LGA;

• finalising a Master Plan for the Macquarie Park 

Investigation Area;

• preparing a Master Plan for the Meadowbank 

Education Precinct and surrounds;

• maintaining the existing pauses on new residential 

planning proposals, maintaining the delayed 

commencement of the Low-Rise Medium Density 

Housing Code and pausing the finalisation of any 

existing residential planning proposals in the  

Ryde LGA;

• investigating opportunities for improved cycleway 

connectivity across the LGA;

• investigating improvements to pedestrian amenity 

and connectivity;

• investigating opportunities to improve the night-

time economy in Macquarie Park; and

• investigating management of waste in high density 

residential development in Macquarie Park.

The Panel also made two suggestions to the NSW 

Government about place-based coordination and 

collaboration models that may assist in improving 

planning and infrastructure coordination across 

Greater Sydney. 

Western Sydney Aerotropolis Land Use 
and Infrastructure Implementation Plan
In June 2019 the Premier gave the Commission 

approval to provide the Minister for Planning and 

Public Spaces with advice and assurance reports on the 

final Land Use and Infrastructure Implementation Plan 

(LUIIP) for the Western Sydney Aerotropolis and initial 

precinct plans. The Premier highlighted the importance 

of ensuring the LUIIP is consistent with the vision, 

recommendations and commitments of the Western 

City District Plan and the Western Sydney City Deal.

In response, the Commission initiated an Assurance 

Review of the Stage 2 (final) LUIIP for the Western 

Sydney Aerotropolis and initial precinct plans. An 

Assurance Panel has been established and is being 

chaired by the Chief Commissioner. 

The Assurance Review Panel will provide reports to 

the NSW Minister for Planning and Public Spaces and  

the Premier. 
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Rockdale, Eastern City District

Providing independent, strategic advice
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Premier’s Priority for the Commission:  
Provide independent advice to Government

Under the GSC Act, the Commission plays an important role 
providing independent, strategic advice to the Premier, Minister for 
Planning, and to other Ministers on the approval of the Premier on 
any matter related to land use and infrastructure planning . 

Planning for cemeteries 
In February 2019, the NSW Premier requested the Commission provide advice and 

recommendations on strategic planning considerations for the provision of cemeteries. The 

letter also requested strategic guidance on the criteria that should be considered when assessing 

appropriate sites for new cemeteries in Greater Sydney. 

The Commission will provide advice and recommendations to the Premier in an Information 

Note that will set out criteria for use by practitioners, proponents, the cemetery industry and 

landowners. This will provide a consistent basis from which to consider the suitability of sites 

for future cemeteries. The Information Note will consider site context, environmental, legislative 

and infrastructure criteria to identify and assess sites for new cemeteries. It will not address 

individual sites or cemetery applications nor look at the demand for burial space, the operational 

characteristics of cemeteries or alternate methods for interment. 

The advice is expected to be provided to the Premier by the end of 2019.

Masterplan for Meadowbank
The Commission is overseeing the preparation of a masterplan for the Meadowbank Education 

and Employment Precinct. This work was identified in the Commission’s Assurance Review on 

planning in the Ryde Local Government Area. 

School Infrastructure NSW and TAFE NSW are developing a site at Meadowbank for a new 

integrated public primary and high school with improved TAFE facilities. The Commission’s 

masterplan will consider a wider area including an adjoining industrial area and the Sydney Water 

West Ryde pumping station. The masterplan will aim to align educational opportunities with the 

necessary infrastructure, as well as provide potential links to nearby employment areas.

The preparation of the masterplan will be overseen by the Ryde Local Government Area 

Coordination Group and reported to the Commission’s Infrastructure Delivery Committee for 

approval. The Coordination Group is made up of state and local government representatives. 

This reflects the recommendations in the Ryde Assurance Review.

Providing independent, 
strategic advice
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Penrith, Western City District

A listening organisation
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Premier’s Priority for the Commission: 
Community and stakeholder engagement

Since the Commission’s inception, creating opportunities for public 
participation has been one of its core priorities . 2018/19 has included 
meaningful and robust engagement with a wide cross-section of 
stakeholders including the people of Greater Sydney, local councils, 
Commonwealth Government agencies, industry and peak groups . 

During 2018/19 the Commission engaged with more than 13,000 people and a range of 

organisations and local councils to help shape its work, including the development of performance 

indicators, a Community Participation Plan, and the Local Strategic Planning Statement 

assurance process. Engagement events included Citizens’ Panels, workshops with the community, 

roundtables, briefings, listening sessions and speaking engagements. 

Digital and social media was important in making engagement as inclusive as possible with 

Commission events live streamed on Facebook and opportunities for online participation included 

wherever possible. Throughout 2018/19 the Commission had more than 33,000 engagements on 

social media.

Community Participation Plan – co-design workshops
Since its establishment, the Commission has had an Engagement Strategy that guided how 

it conducted engagement with the community. In accordance with new requirements of the 

Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 the Commission is now preparing a Community 

Participation Plan that will replace the Engagement Strategy. The Community Participation Plan 

will explain how the organisation will continue to work with the community so that people can 

have their say on strategic planning and city shaping issues across Greater Sydney.

The Commission has worked in partnership with the community to co-design the Community 

Participation Plan, ensuring we listened to community members in each of the three cities about 

what was important to them when participating in engagement with us. 

During co-design workshops, participants identified barriers to engagement and ways to 

overcome them, as well as methods for helping the Commission better connect with the 

community. Findings from these workshops will be incorporated into the Commission’s draft 

Community Participation Plan which will be placed on exhibition in November 2019 and finalised 

by 1 December 2019.

A listening 
organisation
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Greater Sydney Commission Youth Panel
With much of the Commission’s work focused on 

planning Greater Sydney’s future, it is critical to involve 

young people who, in the future, will inherit the city we 

are currently shaping.

During February and March 2019, the Commission 

sought nominations from people aged 16–30 

years to convene a Youth Panel, consisting of two 

representatives from each of the five Districts. The 

Panel is designed to provide insights on the strategic 

planning issues important to young people.

The Commission received more than 160 applications 

to join the Panel. Panellists selected included a mix 

of ages, cultural backgrounds and experience in both 

strategic planning and youth engagement. Initially, 

the Panel will focus on safety in Greater Sydney, as well 

as the future of work and what it means for jobs and 

employment for young people. 

Greater Sydney Commission 
Citizens’ Panel
When developing the performance indicators to 

measure the outcomes of the Greater Sydney Region 

and District Plans, the Commission convened its 

first Citizens’ Panel. Over two days, the Commission 

listened to community members from across Greater 

Sydney about the things that matter to them in the city. 

The Citizens’ Panel also discussed how these things can 

be accurately measured to instil confidence that the 

Plan is being successfully implemented.

The Panel consisted of representatives from each of the 

33 local government areas in Greater Sydney, including 

people with disability, from Cultural and Linguistically 

Diverse backgrounds and Aboriginal and Torres Strait 

Islander people. It also had broad representation of 

ages with the youngest participant 17 years old and the 

oldest 77 years old. 

Key themes to emerge from the Citizens’ Panel 

included:

• jobs closer to where people live, together with access 

to affordable and quality education;

• better access to, and reliability of, public transport 

and more opportunities to walk and cycle safely;

• more trees and open space;

• improved housing choice and affordability; and

• feeling safe and socially connected with local access 

to shared community facilities and events.

These themes are represented in the initial 

performance indicators selected by the Commission 

to track the progress of the Plan. These indicators 

form part of The Pulse of Greater Sydney – the first 

monitoring and reporting framework developed for 

Greater Sydney, which will be launched in the second 

half of 2019. 

Celebrating quality outcomes in 
Greater Sydney
The third annual Greater Sydney Planning Awards, held 

in June 2019, highlighted excellence in planning and 

recognised outstanding collaboration, innovation and 

bold initiatives that delivered benefits to communities, 

economies and the environment.

This year, the Commission introduced a new ‘Planning 

Disruptor’ Award, recognising forward-thinking 

approaches to planning that disrupt traditional 

methodologies.

Seven winners were chosen from nominations 

showcasing a diverse range of initiatives including 

shared educational and sporting facilities, 

comprehensive engagement programs, a resilience 

strategy for Greater Sydney and a development 

encompassing affordable housing and thoughtful 

heritage interpretation.

The judging panel consisted of:

• Dr Deborah Dearing – North District and Eastern 

City District Commissioner (Panel Chair);

• Davina Rooney – CEO, Green Building Council of 

Australia;

• Dillon Kombumerri – Principal Architect, Office of 

the NSW Government Architect;

• Eamon Waterford – Head of Strategy and Advocacy, 

Committee for Sydney;

• Juliet Grant – President, Planning Institute of 

Australia, NSW Division; and

• Kavya Nagpal – 2018 Lendlease Bradfield 

Urbanisation Scholar.

The seven winners were: 

• Great Community Collaboration – Excellence in 

community engagement – City of Canterbury 

Bankstown;

A listening organisation
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• Development Supported by Infrastructure – Bella 

Vista Public School shared sporting facilities – 

School Infrastructure NSW and The Hills Shire 

Council;

• Great New Place to Live and/or Work – Harold Park 

– Mirvac;

• Planning for jobs and skills – Liverpool Innovation 

Precinct – Western Sydney Business Chamber;

• Great Sustainability Initiative – Sustaining our City 

Initiative – Randwick City Council;

• Planning Disruptor – Creation of Australia’s first 

Bicycle Geodatabase – Brad Donaldson; and

• Chief Commissioner’s Award – Resilient Sydney 

Strategy – Resilient Sydney.

Five commendations were also awarded to:

• Great Community Collaboration: Mount Druitt 

Community Dialysis Centre – Health Infrastructure 

NSW;

• Great Community Collaboration: DUBA, BUDU, 

BARRA: Ten steps to a living river – the Parramatta 

River Masterplan – Parramatta River Catchment 

Group;

• Planning for Jobs and Skills: Planning Controls for 

Late Night Trading in Sydney – City of Sydney;

• Planning for Jobs and Skills: Kick Start Café – Payce 

Foundation; and

• Great Sustainability Initiative: Angus Creek Storm-

water Harvesting Scheme – Blacktown City Council.

2018/19 engagement activities

Activity Description

New Commissioners’ 
breakfast

Breakfast briefing with council Mayors and General Managers to introduce the 
newly-appointed Commissioners .

Peak body roundtables 
(x3)

Reconvening of our social, environment and industry peak body roundtables to 
discuss the development of performance indicators to track the progress of the 
Greater Sydney Region Plan and to present the work being undertaken by the 
Western Sydney City Deal Delivery Office .

Update on the 
Commission (x3)

Briefing sessions with State and local government to share the amendments made 
to the GSC Act and the EP&A Act .

Citizens’ Panel (x2) Workshop with community members to provide input into the development of 
metrics to help track the progress of the implementation of the Greater Sydney 
Region Plan .

Ryde Assurance 
Listening Sessions (x2)

Part of the Commission’s Assurance Review of planning in the Ryde Local 
Government Area, the Listening Sessions gave the Panel the opportunity to hear 
from stakeholders and the local community . See page 45 for more information .

Community 
Participation Plan co-
design workshops (x3)

Workshops with community members from across the three cities to provide input 
into how the Commission can continue to engage with the community . The findings 
will be included in the Commission’s draft Community Participation Plan .

Youth Panel  
meetings (x2)

Induction and first meeting of the Greater Sydney Commission Youth Panel, 
established to help the Commission better engage with young people .

Collaboration Areas 
Symposium

An opportunity to share lessons learnt from the first program of Collaboration Areas 
with partners from across State and local government, and private institutions .

Speaking engagements  
(over 130)

A series of speaking engagements with a range of social, business, environmental 
and industry audiences, providing updates on the Commission’s key projects, 
priorities and deliverables .
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Premier’s Priority for the Commission: 
Strategic thought leadership

A key priority for the Commission is leading community 
engagement, dialogue and debate on significant city-making 
issues . The Commission’s thought leadership papers build on 
the detail of the Greater Sydney Region Plan and District Plans to 
provoke discussion and, in some cases, provide practical ideas on 
implementation across a range of challenging issues in the near, 
medium and long term .

A Metropolis that Works
In October 2018, the Commission released A Metropolis that Works, its first thought leadership 

paper on planning for Greater Sydney’s industrial lands. The paper provides further context to 

the industrial lands policy adopted by the Government in the Greater 

Sydney Region Plan, in relation to the retention, enhancement and 

evolution of industrial and urban services land as priorities for 

different parts of Greater Sydney.

A Metropolis that Works did not propose new policy or regulations 

but was designed to invite discussion about key aspects of the 

policy on industrial and urban services land adopted by the NSW 

Government.

Thought leadership
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Future publications 
The Commission is currently preparing two thought 

leadership papers for release in 2019/20 and an insights 

paper on the Collaboration Areas program:

• Health, Innovation and Education thought 

leadership paper – The Commission is working 

in partnership with Universities and NSW Health 

to develop this paper which will outline the 

importance of health and education precincts and 

what is required for these to thrive.

• Water’s role in the Metropolis of Three Cities thought 

leadership paper – The Commission is working 

with Sydney Water to develop this paper on water 

management as a key enabler for Greater Sydney 

to achieve its vision of a liveable, productive and 

sustainable global metropolis of three cities.

• Partnerships and Place: Collaboration Area insights 

paper – The Commission will outline its approach 

to place-based collaboration and the outcomes that 

can be achieved through this type of collaborative 

planning.

Future of work in Greater Sydney 
The Commission has established a working group of 

city-making experts to look at the economics of city 

planning with an initial focus on the future of work 

in Greater Sydney and what it means for land use 

planning and productivity. 

The group includes the Committee for Sydney, Property 

Council of Australia, Planning Institute of Australia, 

Urban Development Institute of Australia, key State 

agencies including the Department of Planning, 

Industry and Environment and NSW Treasury. The 

first meeting was held in June 2019 and the group will 

convene six to eight times over the next 12 months.

When complete, insights about the future of work 

will be made available on the Commission’s website, 

ensuring we share and build on our significant 

repository of research and data.

Thought leadership
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Blacktown, Central City District
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Greater Sydney Commission
The Commission was established under the Greater 

Sydney Commission Act 2015 (GSC Act) and has the 

following members:

a1)  a person appointed by the Minister as the Chief 

Commissioner of the Commission;

a) up to 3 persons appointed by the Minister (the 

Greater Sydney Commissioners), each of whom has, 

in the opinion of the Minister, expertise in at least 

one of the following areas, namely, environmental 

sustainability, environmental science, sustainable 

design, strategic planning, infrastructure planning 

and delivery, architecture, urban design, traffic and 

transport, engineering, community development 

and services, local government, environmental 

planning law, social justice, property development, 

community engagement, economics, tourism or 

heritage;

b) each person appointed by the Minister to represent 

a District in the Greater Sydney Region (the District 

Commissioners), being a person who has, in the 

opinion of the Minister, expertise in at least one of 

the following areas, namely, planning, architecture, 

heritage, the environment, urban design, land 

economics, traffic and transport, law, engineering, 

tourism or government and public administration;

c) each of the following ex-officio members:

I. the Secretary, Department of Premier and 

Cabinet;

II. the Secretary, Department of Planning 

and Environment (now the Department of 

Planning, Industry and Environment);

III. the Secretary Transport for NSW;

IV. the Secretary, NSW Treasury; and

V. the Chief Executive Officer, Greater Sydney 

Commission.

In 2018/19 the Full Commission’s statutory functions 

were:

a) to provide advice and make recommendations to 

the Minister on matters relating to planning and 

development in the Greater Sydney Region;

b) to provide advice and make recommendations 

to the Minister administering this Act, and other 

Ministers with the approval of the Minister 

administering this Act, on matters relating to 

land use and infrastructure in the Greater Sydney 

Region;

c) to prepare and provide reports to the Minister on 

the implementation (including any impediments 

to the implementation) of any plan or proposal 

relating to development in the Greater Sydney 

Region;

d) to provide advice and make recommendations 

to the Minister on any impediments to the 

implementation of any plan or proposal relating to 

development in the Greater Sydney Region;

e) to provide progress and assurance reports to 

the Minister administering this Act, and other 

Ministers with the approval of the Minister 

administering this Act, on matters relating to the 

preparation and implementation of any plan or 

proposal relating to development in the Greater 

Sydney Region;

f) to provide advice to the Minister on the application 

of any development fund created under section 7.35 

of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 

1979 (EP&A Act) in respect of land in the Greater 

Sydney Region;

g) to assist local councils in the Greater Sydney 

Region and other government agencies (including 

an agency of the Commonwealth) on the 

implementation of any plan or proposal relating to 

development in the Greater Sydney Region;

h) to provide the Minister with such information, 

advice or reports as the Minister may request;

i) to provide the Minister administering the EP&A Act 

with any information, advice or reports requested 

by the Minister administering the EP&A Act; and

j) if requested to do so by a Minister other than 

the Minister administering the GSC Act or the 

Minister administering the EP& A Act (the other 

Minister), to provide the other Minister with such 

information, advice or reports as may be requested 

by the other Minister.

Greater Sydney Commission | Annual Report 2018/19

61



Appointments
During the reporting period, two new ex-officio 

member positions were filled:

• Secretary, Department of Premier and Cabinet  

– Mr Tim Reardon; and

• Chief Executive Officer, Greater Sydney Commission 

– Dr Sarah Hill.

Ms Lucy Turnbull AO was reappointed by the Premier 

in her role as Chief Commissioner. Her appointment 

as the Interim District Commission for Central City 

ended on 8 September 2018 following the appointment 

of the new Central City District Commissioner, Mr 

Peter Poulet. Please refer to page 8 for Ms Turnbull’s 

credentials.

Mr Geoff Roberts was reappointed in his role as Deputy 

Chief Commissioner and Economic Commissioner. 

His appointment as Interim Western City District 

Commissioner ended on 8 September 2018 following 

the appointment of the new Western City District 

Commissioner. Mr Roberts was also appointed Chief 

Coordinator for Western Parkland City with respect to 

the implementation of the Western Sydney City Deal. 

Please refer to page 9 for Mr Roberts’ credentials.

Mr Roderick Simpson was reappointed in his role as the 

Environment Commissioner. Please refer to page 10 for 

Mr Simpson’s credentials.

Ms Helen O’Loughlin was appointed as Social 

Commissioner on 8 September 2018. Please refer to 

page 11 for Ms O’Loughlin’s credentials.

Dr Deborah Dearing was reappointed in her role as 

North District Commissioner and appointed to the 

additional role of Eastern City District Commissioner. 

Please refer to page 13 for Dr Dearing’s credentials.

Ms Elizabeth Dibbs was appointed as Western City 

District Commissioner on 8 September 2018. Please 

refer to page 12 for Ms Dibbs’ credentials.

Commission Committees
The Commission’s three statutory committees are: 

a) Finance and Governance Committee;

b) Strategic Planning Committee; and

c) Infrastructure Delivery Committee.

Finance and Governance Committee
Section 12 of the GSC Act requires the Commission to 

establish a Finance and Governance Committee.

Finance and Governance Committee members are the 

four Greater Sydney Commissioners.

The Finance and Governance Committee’s statutory 

functions are:

a) to advise and assist the Commission in connection 

with such functions of the Commission as are 

determined by the Minister;

b) to advise and assist the Commission in connection 

with any of the other functions of the Commission; 

and

c) to advise and assist the Minister on the activities 

of the Commission to the extent they relate to 

environmental, social and economic matters.

Strategic Planning Committee
Section 13 of the GSC Act requires the Commission to 

establish a Strategic Planning Committee.

Strategic Planning Committee members are the Greater 

Sydney Commissioners and all District Commissioners.

The Strategic Planning Committee’s statutory functions 

are: 

a) to advise and assist the Commission in connection 

with such functions of the Commission as may be 

determined by the Minister;

b) if requested to do so by the Commission to:

(i) prepare draft strategic plans under Division 3.1 

of the EP&A Act for the Greater Sydney Region;

(ii) provide information, advice and quarterly 

reports on the implementation of strategic 

plans for the Greater Sydney Region; and

(iii) advise and assist the Commission in 

connection with any of the other functions of 

the Commission.
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Infrastructure Delivery Committee
Section 14 of the GSC Act requires the Commission to 

establish an Infrastructure Delivery Committee.

The members of the Infrastructure Delivery Committee 

are the:

• Greater Sydney Commissioners;

• ex-officio members;

• Secretary of the NSW Ministry of Health; and

• Secretary of the NSW Department of Education.

The Infrastructure Delivery Committee’s statutory 

functions are:

a) to advise and assist the Commission in connection 

with such functions of the Commission as may be 

determined by the Minister;

b) if requested to do so by the Commission to:

i. provide information, advice and regular reports 

on the infrastructure requirements to support 

housing and employment opportunities in the 

Greater Sydney Region; and

ii. advise and assist the Commission in 

connection with any of the other functions of 

the Commission.

Subcommittees
In February 2017, the Infrastructure Delivery 

Committee created a sub-committee pursuant to 

section 16(2) of the GSC Act referred to as the Greater 

Parramatta and the Olympic Peninsula Sub-Committee.

As at 30 June 2019, the Greater Parramatta and the 

Olympic Peninsula Sub-Committee’s members are:

a) members and observers of the Infrastructure 

Delivery Committee;

b) Chief Commissioner, Chair;

c) CEO, Infrastructure NSW (Co-Chair);

d) Deputy Secretary, NSW Land and Housing 

Corporation;

e) Deputy Secretary, Department of Justice NSW;

f) Deputy Secretary, Justice NSW;

g) Deputy Secretary, Create NSW;

h) Deputy Secretary, Department of Industry;

i) CEO, Landcom;

j) CEO, UrbanGrowth Development Corporation;

k) CEO Health Infrastructure NSW;

l) CEO, Roads and Maritime Services;

m) Chief Executive, Sydney Water;

n) CEO, Property NSW;

o) CEO, Sydney Olympic Park Authority;

p) Program Director, for the Parramatta Light Rail, 

Transport for NSW; and 

q) Project Director, Sydney Metro West, Transport 

for NSW.

The responsibilities of the Greater Parramatta and 

the Olympic Peninsula (GPOP) Sub-Committee, as set 

out in the Sub-Committee’s terms of reference are to 

provide oversight and guidance over:

• The delivery of the Premier’s Priorities for the 

Greater Sydney Commission as issued in June 2018:

– Lead cross-Government implementation of 

the vision for GPOP, especially optimising 

opportunities presented by the Health and 

Education precincts and investment in 

transport infrastructure (Greater Sydney 

Region Plan Action 6).

–  Deliver an effective tool (the growth 

infrastructure compact – GIC) to support 

Government infrastructure planning to align 

infrastructure with growth and make the most 

effective use of Government resources (Greater 

Sydney Region Plan Action 7).

• Preparation of a place-based Strategic Business Case 

being led by INSW to implement the GIC Pilot for 

GPOP, consistent with Recommendation 1 of the 

State Infrastructure Strategy 2018–2038 Building 

Momentum;

• Any recommended strategic and statutory planning 

directions for land use planning to implement the 

GIC Pilot for GPOP;

• Government owned lands in GPOP currently 

being separately managed by Land and Housing 

Corporation, UrbanGrowth NSW, Property NSW, 

Health Infrastructure NSW and Sydney Olympic 

Park Authority; and

• Relevant integration matters related to the planning, 

development and delivery of Parramatta Light Rail 

and Sydney Metro West.
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Audit and Risk Committee
The Commission, as required by the Public Finance 

and Audit Act 1983, has an Audit and Risk Committee. 

The Audit and Risk Committee operates pursuant 

to a Principal Department led shared arrangement 

approved by NSW Treasury. The Commission operated 

under a shared arrangement with the Department of 

Planning and Environment until 12 September 2018. 

Following the transition of the Commission to the 

Department of Premier and Cabinet (DPC) in July 2018, 

the organisation entered into a new shared agreement 

with DPC which was approved by NSW Treasury on 23 

October 2018.

The shared arrangement is between DPC, 

Parliamentary Council, Natural Resources Commission 

and the Western City & Aerotropolis Authority.

The arrangement provides for the sharing of the Audit 

and Risk Committee and chief audit executive, and the 

provision of secretariat services for the Audit and Risk 

Committee by DPC.

The members of the Audit and Risk Committee 

appointed by the DPC are:

• Gerardine Brus   Chair

• Christine Feldmanis Independent

• Garry Dinnie  Independent 

The Audit and Risk Committee has a charter consistent 

with the model charter in the NSW Treasury Policy and 

Guidelines Paper (TPP 15-03) Internal Audit and Risk 

Management Policy for the NSW Public Sector.
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Commission meetings and attendance

Members 18 Sep  
18

5 Dec  
18

26 Feb  
19

25 Jun  
19

Chief Commissioner Apology

Economic Commissioner In part

Social Commissioner

Environment Commissioner

District Commissioner, Central City

District Commissioner, North and Eastern City

District Commissioner, Western City

District Commissioner, South*

Secretary, Department of Premier and Cabinet** – –

Secretary, Department of Planning and Environment*** #

Secretary, NSW Treasury Apology Apology Apology

Secretary, Transport for NSW Apology

Chief Executive Officer, Greater Sydney Commission** –

NB:  Following the appointment of new Board members in September 2018, the North and Eastern City District Commissioner roles became a dual 
appointment

*  The Hon Morris Iemma resigned from the Board on 10 May 2019 .

** Members of the Commission following amendment of the GSC Act (Part 2, Division 1, Section 6 (2)

***  In April 2019 following Machinery of Government changes, Mr Jim Betts was appointed Secretary, Department of Planning, Industry and Environment 
replacing Ms Carolyn McNally .

#  Attendance by Statutory Delegation

–  Not a member of the Board until the change in legislation .
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Strategic Planning Committee 2018/19

Members 24 Jul  
18

11 Sep  
18

6 Nov  
18

12 Dec  
18

12 Feb  
19

20 May  
19

Chief Commissioner

Economic Commissioner Apology Apology Apology

Social Commissioner* Apology

Environment Commissioner Apology

District Commissioner, Central City** – Apology

District Commissioner, Eastern City*** – – – – –

District Commissioner, North**** – – – – –

District Commissioner,  
North and Eastern City**** –

District Commissioner, Western City***** –

District Commissioner, South******

* Ms Heather Nesbitt’s term of appointment ended on 8 September 2018 and she was replaced by Ms Helen O’Loughlin, who was appointed Social 
Commissioner on 9 September 2019 .

**  Ms Lucy Turnbull’s role as interim Central City District Commissioner ended on 8 September 2018 and she was replaced by Mr Peter Poulet, who was 
appointed Central City District Commissioner on 9 September 2018 .

***  Ms Maria Atkinson’s term of appointment ended on 8 September 2018 and she was replaced by Dr Deborah Dearing, who was appointed North and 
Eastern City District Commissioner on 9 September 2018 .

****  Dr Deborah Dearing was appointed North and Eastern City District Commissioner on 9 September 2018 . Dr Dearing’s attendance is recorded as 
‘District Commissioner, North and Eastern City’ from 11 September 2018 . 

***** Mr Geoff Roberts’ role as interim Western City District Commissioner ended on 8 September 2018 and he was replaced by Ms Elizabeth Dibbs, who 
was appointed Western City District Commissioner on 9 September 2018 .

******The Hon Morris Iemma resigned on 10 May 2019 . This position is currently vacant .

–  Not a member of the Committee until the change in legislation
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Finance and Governance Committee 2018/19

Members
24 Jul  

18
11 Sep  

18
6 Nov  

18
12 Dec  

18
18 Feb  

19
18 Apr  

19
4 Jun  

19

Chief Commissioner

Economic Commissioner Apology Apology

Social Commissioner Apology

Environment Commissioner

CEO, Greater Sydney 
Commission* – – –

*  Member of the Committee following amendment of the GSC Act (Part 2, Division 2, Section 12(2)) .

–  Not a member of the Committee until the change in legislation

 
Infrastructure Delivery Committee 2018/19

Members 11 Sep  
18

4 Dec  
18*

19 Feb  
19*

19 Mar  
19*

15 Apr  
19*

14 May  
19*

12 Jun  
19

Chief Commissioner

Economic Commissioner Apology Apology

Social Commissioner Apology Apology

Environment Commissioner Apology

Secretary, Department of Premier  
and Cabinet ** – Apology Apology Apology Apology Apology

Secretary, Department of Planning 
and Environment # # # # # Apology

Secretary, NSW Treasury # Apology Apology Apology Apology Apology Apology

Secretary, Transport for NSW Apology Apology Apology Apology Apology Apology

Secretary, Department of Education Apology Apology Apology Apology Apology Apology Apology

Secretary, NSW Health Apology Apology Apology Apology

CEO, Greater Sydney Commission** – Apology

*  Combined IDC and IDC GPOP meetings .

**  Member of the Committee following amendment of the GSC Act (Part 2, Division 3, Section 14) .

#  Attendance by Statutory Delegation

–  Not a member of the Committee until the change in legislation
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Legal Change 

Changes in Acts and subordinate legislation
• Planning Legislation Amendment (Greater Sydney Commission) Act 2018 No 66

• Parts of the Government Sector Finance Act 2018 (Amendment No 55) and Government Sector Finance Regulation 

2018 commenced in December 2018; the Regulation was amended by the Government Sector Amendment 

Regulation 2019

• Statute Law (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 2019

• Western City & Aerotropolis Authority Act 2018

Local Environmental Plans
• Ashfield Local Environmental Plan 2013 (Amendment No 6) (2019-164) LW 5 April 2019

• Auburn Local Environmental Plan 2010 (Amendment No 25) (2018-373) LW 6 July 2018

• Auburn Local Environmental Plan 2010 (Amendment No 26) (2018-613) LW 2 November 2018

• Bankstown Local Environmental Plan 2015 (Amendment No 6) (2018-414) LW 3 August 2018

• Bankstown Local Environmental Plan 2015 (Amendment No 7) (2018-562) LW 28 September 2018

• Blacktown Local Environmental Plan 2015 (Amendment No 7) (2018-429) LW 10 August 2018

• Blacktown Local Environmental Plan 2015 (Amendment No 12) (2019-94) LW 22 February 2019

• Blacktown Local Environmental Plan 2015 (Amendment No 13) (2018-481) LW 24 August 2018

• Blacktown Local Environmental Plan 2015 (Amendment No 21) (2019-110) LW 28 February 2019

• Blacktown Local Environmental Plan Amendment (Sydney Region Growth Centres—Alex Avenue Precinct)  

2019 (2019-226) LW 31 May 2019

• Blacktown Local Environmental Plan Amendment (Sydney Region Growth Centres–Marsden Park Industrial 

Precinct) 2018 (2018-603) LW 26 October 2018

• Blacktown Local Environmental Plan Amendment (Sydney Region Growth Centres–North West Growth Centre) 

2018 (2019-108) LW 28 February 2019

• Blacktown Local Environmental Plan Amendment (Sydney Region Growth Centres–North West Growth Centre) 

2019 (2019-227) LW 31 May 2019

• Blacktown Local Environmental Plan Amendment (Sydney Region Growth Centres–Schofields Precinct)  

2018 (2019-52) LW 1 February 2019

• Blue Mountains Local Environmental Plan 2015 (Amendment No 1) (2019-294) LW 28 June 2019

• Blue Mountains Local Environmental Plan 2015 (Amendment No 3) (2018-722) LW 14 December 2018

• Blue Mountains Local Environmental Plan 2015 (Amendment No 7) (2019-82) LW 15 February 2019

• Botany Bay Local Environmental Plan 2013 (Amendment No 7) (2018-723) LW 14 December 2018

• Burwood Local Environmental Plan 2012 (Amendment No 15) (2018-563) LW 28 September 2018

• Camden Local Environmental Plan 2010 (Amendment No 16) (2018-758) LW 21 December 2018

• Camden Local Environmental Plan 2010 (Amendment No 40) (2019-109) LW 28 February 2019

• Camden Local Environmental Plan 2010 (Amendment No 42) (2019-189) LW 10 May 2019

• Camden Local Environmental Plan 2010 (Amendment No 43) (2019-190) LW 10 May 2019

• Camden Local Environmental Plan Amendment (Sydney Region Growth Centres–Oran Park Precinct)  

2019 (2019-103) LW 28 February 2019

• Campbelltown Local Environmental Plan 2015 (Amendment No 8) (2018-390) LW 20 July 2018
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• Campbelltown Local Environmental Plan 2015 (Amendment No 9) (2018-397) LW 27 July 2018

• Campbelltown Local Environmental Plan 2015 (Amendment No 10) (2018-546) LW 21 September 2018

• Campbelltown Local Environmental Plan 2015 (Amendment No 11) (2018-415) LW 3 August 2018

• Campbelltown Local Environmental Plan 2015 (Amendment No 13) (2019-95) LW 22 February 2019

• Campbelltown Local Environmental Plan 2015 (Amendment No 14) (2019-96) LW 22 February 2019

• Campbelltown Local Environmental Plan 2015 (Amendment No 16) (2019-191) LW 10 May 2019

• Canada Bay Local Environmental Plan 2013 (Amendment No 15) (2018-531) LW 14 September 2018

• Fairfield Local Environmental Plan 2013 (Amendment No 27) (2018-605) LW 26 October 2018

• Fairfield Local Environmental Plan 2013 (Amendment No 29) (2019-104) LW 28 February 2019

• Fairfield Local Environmental Plan 2013 (Amendment No 30) (2019-106) LW 28 February 2019

• Holroyd Local Environmental Plan 2013 (Amendment No 17) (2019-185) LW 3 May 2019

• Hurstville Local Environmental Plan 2012 (Amendment No 13) (2019-141) LW 28 February 2019

• Hurstville Local Environmental Plan 2012 (Amendment No 14) (2019-53) LW 1 February 2019

• Ku-ring-gai Local Environmental Plan 2015 (Amendment No 18) (2018-432) LW 10 August 2018

• Ku-ring-gai Local Environmental Plan (Local Centres) 2012 (Amendment No 9) (2019-107) LW 28 February 2019

• Ku-ring-gai Local Environmental Plan (Local Centres) 2012 (Amendment No 10) (2018-760) LW 21 December 2018

• Lane Cove Local Environmental Plan 2009 (Amendment No 33) (2019-251) LW 14 June 2019

• Leichhardt Local Environmental Plan 2013 (Amendment No 11) (2018-633) LW 9 November 2018

• Leichhardt Local Environmental Plan 2013 (Amendment No 14) (2018-433) LW 10 August 2018

• Leichhardt Local Environmental Plan 2013 (Amendment No 16) (2018-552) LW 21 September 2018

• Leichhardt Local Environmental Plan 2013 (Amendment No 17) (2019-166) LW 5 April 2019

• Lithgow Local Environmental Plan 2014 (Amendment No 3) (2019-193) LW 10 May 2019

• Liverpool Local Environmental Plan 2008 (Amendment No 52) (2018-520) LW 5 September 2018

• Liverpool Local Environmental Plan 2008 (Amendment No 56) (2019-150) LW 22 March 2019

• Liverpool Local Environmental Plan 2008 (Amendment No 72) (2018-527) LW 7 September 2018

• Liverpool Plains Local Environmental Plan 2011 (Amendment No 8) (2018-709) LW 7 December 2018

• Manly Local Environmental Plan 2013 (Amendment No 14) (2018-615) LW 2 November 2018

• Manly Local Environmental Plan 2013 (Amendment No 15) (2019-66) LW 8 February 2019

• Marrickville Local Environmental Plan 2011 (Amendment No 15) (2018-400) LW 27 July 2018

• Marrickville Local Environmental Plan 2011 (Amendment No 16) (2019-100) LW 22 February 2019

• North Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2013 (Amendment No 23) (2018-606) LW 26 October 2018

• North Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2013 (Amendment No 24) (2019-293) LW 28 June 2019

• Parramatta Local Environmental Plan 2011 (Amendment No 27) (2018-417) LW 3 August 2018

• Parramatta Local Environmental Plan 2011 (Amendment No 29) (2018-619) LW 7 November 2018

• Parramatta Local Environmental Plan 2011 (Amendment No 31) (2019-142) LW 28 February 2019

• Parramatta Local Environmental Plan 2011 (Amendment No 32) (2018-418) LW 3 August 2018

• Parramatta Local Environmental Plan 2011 (Amendment No 33) (2018-532) LW 14 September 2018

• Penrith Local Environmental Plan 2010 (Amendment No 15) (2019-174) LW 26 April 2019

• Penrith Local Environmental Plan 2010 (Amendment No 16) (2019-111) LW 28 February 2019

• Penrith Local Environmental Plan 2010 (Amendment No 20) (2019-152) LW 22 March 2019
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• Penrith Local Environmental Plan 2010 (Amendment No 25) (2018-773) LW 21 December 2018

• Pittwater Local Environmental Plan 2014 (Amendment No 11) (2018-609) LW 26 October 2018

• Randwick Local Environmental Plan 2012 (Amendment No 5) (2018-457) LW 17 August 2018

• Randwick Local Environmental Plan 2012 (Amendment No 6) (2019-98) LW 22 February 2019

• Ryde Local Environmental Plan 2014 (Amendment No 16) (2018-376) LW 6 July 2018

• Ryde Local Environmental Plan 2014 (Amendment No 21) (2018-710) LW 7 December 2018

• Ryde Local Environmental Plan 2014 (Amendment No 22) (2018-664) LW 23 November 2018

• Ryde Local Environmental Plan 2014 (Amendment No 23) (2019-13) LW 18 January 2019

• Standard Instrument (Local Environmental Plans) Amendment (Artisan Food and Drink Industries)  

Order 2018 (2018-404) LW 27 July 2018

• Standard Instrument (Local Environmental Plans) Amendment (Garden Centres)  

Order 2018 (2018-405) LW 27 July 2018

• Standard Instrument (Local Environmental Plans) Amendment (Greater Sydney Commission)  

Order 2018 (2018-717) LW 7 December 2018

• Standard Instrument (Local Environmental Plans) Amendment (Land Use Terms)  

Order 2018 (2018-477) LW 29 August 2018

• Standard Instrument (Local Environmental Plans) Amendment (Low Rise Medium Density Housing)  

Repeal Order 2018 (2018-369) LW 5 July 2018

• Standard Instrument (Local Environmental Plans) Amendment (Primary Production and Rural Development) 

Order 2019 (2019-133) LW 28 February 2019

• State Environmental Planning Policy No 47–Moore Park Showground (Amendment No 3) (2018-719)  

LW 7 December 2018

• State Environmental Planning Policy No 47–Moore Park Showground (Amendment No 4) (2018-788)  

LW 21 December 2018

• State Environmental Planning Policy No 70–Affordable Housing (Revised Schemes) Amendment (Application) 

2019 (2019-135) LW 28 February 2019

• State Environmental Planning Policy (Aboriginal Land) 2019 (2019-55) LW 6 February 2019

• State Environmental Planning Policy (Affordable Rental Housing) Amendment (Boarding House Development) 

2019 (2019-143) LW 28 February 2019

• State Environmental Planning Policy Amendment (36–50 Cumberland Street, The Rocks–Sirius Site)  

2018 (2018-420) LW 3 August 2018

• State Environmental Planning Policy Amendment (Arncliffe and Banksia Precincts) 2018 (2018-590)  

LW 12 October 2018

• State Environmental Planning Policy Amendment (Artisan Food and Drink Industries) 2018 (2018-406)  

LW 27 July 2018

• State Environmental Planning Policy Amendment (Exempt Development–Cladding and Decorative Work)  

2018 (2018-505) LW 31 August 2018

• State Environmental Planning Policy Amendment (Garden Centres) 2018 (2018-407) LW 27 July 2018

• State Environmental Planning Policy Amendment (Land Use Terms) 2018 (2018-488) LW 29 August 2018

• State Environmental Planning Policy Amendment (Miscellaneous) 2018 (2018-665) LW 23 November 2018

• State Environmental Planning Policy Amendment (Remediation of Land) 2018 (2018-506) LW 31 August 2018

• State Environmental Planning Policy Amendment (Rural Land Sharing) 2018 (2018-413) LW 3 August 2018
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• State Environmental Planning Policy Amendment (Sydney Regional Environmental Plan No 33–Cooks Cove)  

2018 (2018-544) LW 21 September 2018

• State Environmental Planning Policy Amendment (Telopea Precinct) 2018 (2018-754) LW 19 December 2018

• State Environmental Planning Policy (Concurrences) 2018 (2018-764) LW 21 December 2018

• State Environmental Planning Policy (Exempt and Complying Development Codes) Amendment  

(Greenfield Housing Code) 2018 (2018-486) LW 24 August 2018

• State Environmental Planning Policy (Exempt and Complying Development Codes) Amendment  

(Low Rise Medium Density Housing Code) 2019 (2019-291) LW 28 June 2019

• State Environmental Planning Policy (Exempt and Complying Development Codes) Amendment  

(Low Rise Medium Density Housing Exemptions) 2018 (2018-384) LW 13 July 2018

• State Environmental Planning Policy (Exempt and Complying Development Codes) Amendment  

(Low Rise Medium Density Housing) Further Amendment 2018 (2018-370) LW 5 July 2018

• State Environmental Planning Policy (Exempt and Complying Development Codes) Amendment  

(Trading Hours of Licensed Premises on New Year’s Eve) 2018 (2018-720) LW 7 December 2018

• State Environmental Planning Policy (Housing for Seniors or People with a Disability) Amendment 2018  

(2018-570) LW 2 October 2018

• State Environmental Planning Policy (Housing for Seniors or People with a Disability) Amendment  

(Heritage Conservation Areas) 2019 (2019-134) LW 28 February 2019

• State Environmental Planning Policy (Infrastructure) Amendment 2018 (2018-507) LW 31 August 2018

• State Environmental Planning Policy (Infrastructure) Amendment (Water and Emergency Services Facilities) 2019 

(2019-224) LW 31 May 2019

• State Environmental Planning Policy (Mining, Petroleum Production and Extractive Industries) Amendment  

(Air and Noise Impacts) 2018 (2018-545) LW 21 September 2018

• State Environmental Planning Policy (State and Regional Development) Amendment (Eden Street) 2018 (2018-592) 

LW 12 October 2018

• State Environmental Planning Policy (State and Regional Development) Amendment (The Rocks) 2019 (2019-136) 

LW 28 February 2019

• State Environmental Planning Policy (State Significant Precincts) Amendment (Luna Park) 2018 (2018-718)  

LW 7 December 2018

• State Environmental Planning Policy (State Significant Precincts) Amendment (Sydney Olympic Park)  

2017 (2018-513) LW 31 August 2018

• State Environmental Planning Policy (Sydney Harbour Catchment) Amendment 2018 (2018-747)  

LW 14 December 2018

• State Environmental Planning Policy (Sydney Region Growth Centres) Amendment (Miscellaneous) 2019  

(2019-138) LW 28 February 2019

• State Environmental Planning Policy (Sydney Region Growth Centres) Amendment (North Wilton Precinct) 

2018 (2018-650) LW 20 November 2018

• State Environmental Planning Policy (Vegetation in Non-Rural Areas) Amendment 2018 (2018-478)  

LW 24 August 2018

• State Environmental Planning Policy (Western Sydney Employment Area) Amendment (Ropes Creek)  

2018 (2018-648) LW 16 November 2018

• Sutherland Shire Local Environmental Plan 2015 (Amendment No 14) (2019-54) LW 1 February 2019

• Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 (Amendment No 39) (2019-14) LW 18 January 2019
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• Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 (Amendment No 40) (2018-483) LW 24 August 2018

• Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 (Amendment No 44) (2018-575) LW 5 October 2018

• Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 (Amendment No 47) (2019-146) LW 8 March 2019

• Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 (Amendment No 50) (2018-765) LW 21 December 2018

• The Hills Local Environmental Plan 2012 (Amendment No 47) (2018-711) LW 7 December 2018

• The Hills Local Environmental Plan 2012 (Amendment No 54) (2018-663) LW 23 November 2018

• The Hills Local Environmental Plan 2012 (Amendment No 55) (2018-697) LW 30 November 2018

• The Hills Local Environmental Plan 2012 (Amendment No 56) (2018-771) LW 21 December 2018

• The Hills Local Environmental Plan 2012 (Amendment No 57) (2018-636) LW 9 November 2018

• The Hills Local Environmental Plan 2012 (Amendment No 59) (2018-637) LW 9 November 2018

• The Hills Local Environmental Plan Amendment (Sydney Region Growth Centres–North West  

Growth Centre) 2019 (2019-230) LW 31 May 2019

• Warringah Local Environmental Plan 2011 (Amendment No 21) (2018-485) LW 24 August 2018

• Waverley Local Environmental Plan 2012 (Amendment No 14) (2018-458) LW 17 August 2018

• Wollondilly Local Environmental Plan 2011 (Amendment No 28) (2018-766) LW 21 December 2018

• Wollondilly Local Environmental Plan 2011 (Amendment No 29) (2018-383) LW 13 July 2018

• Wollondilly Local Environmental Plan 2011 (Amendment No 31) (2018-437) LW 10 August 2018

• Wollondilly Local Environmental Plan 2011 (Amendment No 32) (2018-772) LW 21 December 2018

• Woollahra Local Environmental Plan 2014 (Amendment No 10) (2019-210) LW 24 May 2019
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Significant judicial decisions affecting agency or users 

of its services

1. Help Save Mt Gilead Inc v Mount Gilead Pty Ltd 

(No 4) [2018] NSWLEC 149

The Greater Sydney Commission was the third 

respondent in Help Save Mt Gilead Inc v Mount Gilead 

Pty Ltd (No 4) [2018] NSWLEC 149. These proceedings 

challenged the validity of amendments to the 

Campbelltown Local Environment Plan 2012 made by 

a delegate of the Commission in 2017 to enable the 

development of land at Mount Gilead. The respondents 

(including the Greater Sydney Commission) were 

successful on all grounds and the proceedings were 

dismissed.

2. Moorebank Recyclers Pty Ltd v Tanlane Pty Ltd 

[2018] NSWCA 304

The Greater Sydney Commission was the second 

respondent in Moorebank Recyclers Pty Ltd v Tanlane 

Pty Ltd [2018] NSWCA 304. The Court of Appeal held 

that a Gateway determination made by the Commission 

on 9 March 2017 in relation to a planning proposal 

from Liverpool City Council was invalid. Invalidity 

of the Gateway determination was a consequence of 

the invalidity of the Council’s resolution to forward 

a planning proposal that had not complied with a 

relevant clause of the State Environmental Planning 

Policy No 55. 

Risk management and insurance

Risk Management
The Commission recognises the importance of robust 

risk management procedures. It has developed a 

risk management program to identify and manage 

risks consistent with NSW Government guidelines 

and policy (in particular the Internal Audit and Risk 

Management Policy for the NSW Public Sector  

(TPP15- 03)).

The Commission maintains an Enterprise Risk Register 

and reports regularly on its risks and risk management 

strategies to the Full Commission, the Finance and 

Governance Committee and the Audit and Risk 

Committee.

Insurance 
The Commission’s insurance cover includes workers’ 

compensation, building contents (including office 

equipment) and public liability insurance. The 

insurance policies are with the NSW Self Insurance 

Corporation, under the NSW Self Insurance 

Corporation Act 2004. 
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Internal Audit and Risk Management Attestation

Internal Audit and Risk Management Attestation Statement  
for the 2018/19 Financial Year for the Greater Sydney Commission 

I, Chief Executive Officer, on behalf of the Greater Sydney Commission am of the opinion that the Greater Sydney Commission 

has internal audit and risk management processes in operation that are, excluding the exceptions or transitional arrangements 

described below, compliant with the eight (8) core requirements set out in the Internal Audit and Risk Management Policy for 

the NSW Public Sector, specifically:

Risk Management Framework

1 .1 The agency head is ultimately responsible and accountable for risk management in the agency Compliant

1 .2 A risk management framework that is appropriate to the agency has been established and maintained and the 
framework is consistent with AS/NZS ISO 31000:2009 Compliant

Internal Audit Function

2 .1 An internal audit function has been established and maintained Compliant

2 .2 The operation of the internal audit function is consistent with the International Standards for the Professional 
Practice of Internal Auditing Compliant

2 .3 The agency has an Internal Audit Charter that is consistent with the content of the ‘model charter’ Compliant

Audit and Risk Committee

3 .1 An independent Audit and Risk Committee with appropriate expertise has been established Compliant

3 .2 The Audit and Risk Committee is an advisory committee providing assistance to the agency head on the agency’s 
governance processes, risk management and control frameworks, and its external accountability obligations Compliant

3 .3 The Audit and Risk Committee has a Charter that is consistent with the content of the ‘model charter’ Compliant

Membership
The chair and members of the Audit and Risk Committee are:

Role Name Start term date Finish term date

Independent Chair Gerardine Brus January 2018 December 2020

Independent Member Christine Feldmanis December 2017 November 2020

Independent Member Garry Dinnie October 2017 April 2021

The Audit and Risk Committee has been established under a Treasury approved principal department  

(Department of Premier and Cabinet) led shared arrangement with the following statutory bodies:

• Department of Premier and Cabinet 

• Parliamentary Counsel

• Natural Resources Commission

• Western City & Aerotropolis Authority

• Greater Sydney Commission
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Conflicts of interest

The Commission is vigilant when it comes to identifying and managing where staff or 
Commissioners have interests that actually or potentially conflict with their respective 
positions within the organisation .

Staff conflicts of interest 
All staff, as employees of the Greater Sydney 

Commission, are required to follow the Commission’s 

Disclosing Interests and Managing Conflicts of Interest 

policy, which requires them to declare conflicts: 

• when commencing work with the Commission;

• when commencing a new role;

• when their circumstances or private interests 

change;

• when a new conflict of interest arises;

• after six months, if a conflict has been declared; and

• annually, if no conflict has been declared.

The Disclosing Interests and Managing Conflicts of 

Interest policy applies to all Commission employees 

including:

• permanent staff;

• temporary staff;

• casual staff;

• other Government sector employees who are on 

secondment or assigned to the Commission;

• contractors;

• consultants;

• volunteers; and

• employees of organisations who provide services 

under contract to the Commission.

As part of this process, if a conflict has been identified, 

staff members are required, to agree to a plan to 

manage that conflict with their manager. 

In addition, and in line with the Commission’s Code 

of Ethics and Conduct, all senior executives must 

complete a declaration of private Interests:

• annually;

• when there is any relevant change in their private 

interests; and

• when they have been assigned to a new role.

Commissioner conflicts of interest 
Members of the Commission, its committees and sub-

committees are required to comply with the conflicts 

of interest policies contained within the Commission’s 

Code of Ethics and Conduct, the NSW Government’s 

Boards and Committees Guidelines and the GSC Act. 

Accordingly, all Commission, committee and sub-

committee members and observers have submitted 

an undertaking and declaration of interests form and 

a conflicts of interest form. Commission, committee 

members and observers are required to provide a 

strategy for dealing with any actual or perceived 

conflicts of interest. 

Members of the Commission, its committees and 

sub-committees undertake a conflict of interest refresh 

twice a year, or when a conflict arises.

A register of interests is maintained by the Commission 

Secretary, a copy of which is provided to the Premier, as 

the Minister for the Commission. 
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Digital Information Security Attestation 

Cyber Security Annual Attestation & Evidence of Certification Statement for the 
2018/19 Financial Year for the Greater Sydney Commission 

I, Sarah Hill, am of the opinion that the Greater Sydney Commission had an Information Security Management 

System in place via Planning, Industry and Environment Cluster Corporate Services during the 2018/19 financial 

year that is consistent with the Manditory requirements set out in the NSW Government Cyber Security Policy and 

have managed cyber security risks in a manner consistent with this policy.

Risks to the information and systems of Department of Planning, Industry and Environment have been assessed 

and are engaged.

Governance is in place to manage the cyber-security maturity and initiatives by Department of Planning, Industry 

and Environment.

There exists a current cyber incident response plan for Department of Planning, Industry and Environment which 

has been tested during the reporting period.

Planning and Environment Cluster Corporate Services has maintained certified compliance with ISO 27001 

Information technology – Security techniques – Information security management systems – Requirements by an 

Accredited Third Party (BSI) during the 2018/2019 financial year (Certificate Number IS 645082).

Sarah Hill 
Chief Executive Officer, Greater Sydney Commission

Date: 
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Appendix 3

• Public access to government information

• GIPA Act applications

• Consumer response

• Public interest disclosures

• International travel

• Research and development

• Waste management

• Report publication

• Privacy and personal information protection
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Public access to government 
information
The Government Information (Public Access) Act 2009 

(GIPA Act) encourages NSW public sector agencies to 

release information proactively and give individuals 

easier access to information held by agencies. During 

the reporting period, the Commission proactively 

disclosed information on its website, including:

• the Statement of Priorities agreed between the 

Premier and the Chief Commissioner;

• Commission minutes;

• media releases;

• progress on the actions of the Greater Sydney Region 

Plan and implementing the District Plans;

• thought leadership paper: A Metropolis that Works;

• operational policies;

• details on how stakeholders can comment or 

participate in the Commission’s work via  

social media;

• a register of meetings with registered lobbyists, and 

business interests; and

• evidence / information reports.

Under section 7(3) of the GIPA Act, the Commission 

reviewed its program for the release of government 

information in the reporting period to confirm that 

information it holds that should be in the public 

interest was made available.

GIPA Act applications
As the Commission is declared to be part of 

Department of Planning and Environment under 

Schedule 3 of the Government Information (Public 

Access) Regulation 2009, the Department is responsible 

for handling the Commission’s access applications. Two 

formal GIPA applications were received relating to the 

Commission by Members of the public (application by 

legal representative) and access was granted in full on 

both applications. These applications are included in 

the Department of Planning and Environment’s  

Annual Report.

Consumer response
All requests made to the Commission for information 

or assistance are met directly and promptly and/or are 

referred to the most appropriate officer. 

Stakeholders and the community have many avenues 

to provide feedback. They can make contact in writing, 

by email, or through social media.
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Public interest disclosures
The Commission operated under the Department of 

Planning and Environment’s Public Interest Disclosure 

Policy until March 2019 when it adopted its own Public 

Interest Disclosure Policy. The Commission now has 

its own system, procedures and reporting mechanisms 

in place to ensure compliance with the Public Interest 

Disclosures Act 1994. 

The following table contains information about the 

Commission’s obligations under Section 31 of the 

Public Interest Disclosures Act 1994.

No Category Total 
number

1 Public interest disclosures made 
by public officials in performing 
their day to day functions

Nil

2 Public interest disclosures not 
covered by 1 . that are made 
under a statutory or other legal 
obligation

Nil

3 All other public interest 
disclosures Nil

4 Total number of public interest 
disclosures received relating to 
possible or alleged:

Nil

a . Corrupt conduct Nil

b . Maladministration Nil

c . Serious and substantial waste 
of public or local government 
money

Nil

d . Government information 
contraventions Nil

e . Local government pecuniary 
interest contraventions Nil

5 Total number of public interest 
disclosures received Nil

6 Number of public interest 
disclosures that have been 
finalised

Nil

7 Whether we have a public 
interest disclosures policy in 
place

Yes

8 Action taken by us to ensure 
that our staff awareness 
responsibilities under s 6E(1)(b) 
of the Public Interest Disclosures 
Act 1994 have been met

Yes

International travel
The Commission incurred minimal international travel 

costs in the reporting period for the following trips.

The Chief Executive Officer was invited to attend 

and speak at the London Real Estate Forum and 

Shaping Better Cities Symposium in London, UK. 

The Commission provided funding of approximately 

$3,700 in relation to flights and accommodation. The 

remaining costs were covered by an honorarium from 

the event organisers.

The Deputy Chief Commissioner, acting in his role 

as Chief Coordinator for Western Sydney, travelled 

to the UK and Singapore to highlight investment 

opportunities associated with the Aerotropolis and 

Western Sydney. This trip was at the request of NSW 

Department of Industry, who covered the total cost. 

The Chief Commissioner represented the Commission 

at a Smart Cities conference in New York, USA. The 

Commission did not incur any travel expenses relating 

to this trip. 

The Environment Commissioner represented the 

Commission at a Hotspot Cities Symposium in 

Pennsylvania, USA. The Commission did not incur any 

travel expenses relating to this trip. 

The Chief Executive Officer travelled to Singapore and 

New Zealand to attend modules of an Executive Fellows 

program. The Commission funded $1,900 relating  

to airfares. 
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Research and development
The Commission undertakes studies to inform strategic 

planning policy analysis and decision making within 

the Commission, across government and to inform the 

community. 

Waste management 
The Commission seeks to reduce waste and promote 

recycling and re-use as a part of its commitment to 

sustainable practices and meeting its obligations 

under the NSW Government’s Waste Reduction and 

Purchasing Policy and Resource Efficiency Policy.

The Commission encourages the use of public 

transport for work related travel in place of corporate 

or hire vehicles. It also publishes documents 

electronically wherever possible. Most printers are set 

to double-sided printing as a default setting. 

Report publication
The Commission’s 2018/19 Annual Report was 

produced in house and was independently reviewed 

for compliance. The total cost incurred to produce this 

report was $4,700.

Privacy and personal information 
protection
The Commission as an agency within the NSW 

Department of Planning and Environment Cluster, 

has adopted the Department’s Privacy Management 

Plan. This outlines processes and responsibilities 

for managing personal and health information 

commensurate with the Privacy and Personal 

Information Protection Act 1998. 

The Privacy Management Plan: 

• outlines processes and responsibilities for managing 

personal and health information 

• applies to all staff members, any individual 

employed, appointed, or otherwise attached to the 

Commission whether on an ongoing, temporary, 

casual, contract, or voluntary basis 

• requires that personal information only be 

collected for a lawful purpose directly related to 

the Commission’s work and which is reasonably 

necessary for that work, and that personal 

information be stored securely 

• contains provisions in respect of accessing, 

amending, updating and disclosing personal 

information held 

• contains procedures for complaints 

• sets out public interest directions under the Privacy 

and Personal Information Protection Act 1998 and 

processes for internal review in relation to privacy 

matters. 

Under the Privacy and Personal Information Protection 

Act 1998, in the 2018/19 reporting period, the 

Commission did not receive any requests for access to 

document
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Human Resources
People and culture remained a key focus of the 

Commission in 2018/19 as the organisation continued 

to mature. Some key initiatives and activities during 

the reporting period included:

People Matter Employee Survey (PMES): 
• Once again, the Commission had a 100 per cent 

response rate from our staff. 

• Overall the results were positive and indicated a very 

high level of engagement. 

• The Commission’s efforts to implement activities 

arising out of the previous PMES were recognised in 

the 2018 PMES results, with a 20 per cent increase in 

the number of staff indicating they believe there will 

be action as a result of their feedback.

• The highest scoring questions centred around topics 

such as diversity, WHS, respect and stakeholder 

satisfaction.

• Areas of focus included communication by senior 

managers, modelling the Public Sector Values, 

continuing to implement Performance Development 

Agreements and career development opportunities, 

and enhancing collaboration between teams.

Workplace events
• Staff held events to raise awareness and celebrate 

key dates throughout the year including 

International Women’s Day, NAIDOC week, Chinese 

Lunar New Year and Ramadan.

• In all cases guest speakers dedicated their time to 

share their experiences with our staff.

Charitable pursuits
• Staff nominated a charity (the Mito Foundation) to 

support over the course of the year.

• In addition, staff came together to raise funds for the 

Vinnies CEO Sleepout and Million Paws Walk.

Performance management
• Performance Development Agreements for 

employees and secondees were implemented to 

ensure clarity of KPIs, a continued alignment to the 

Commission’s mandate and developing staff to their 

full potential.

Learning and development
• Workshops and training sessions were held 

on a diverse range of topics including health 

and wellbeing, anti-bullying, discrimination 

and harassment, facilitation skills, corruption 

prevention, presentation skills, a planning 

masterclass and Planning for non-Planners.

• An online learning and development system 

allowed staff to have greater visibility of training 

opportunities and provide alignment to their 

professional development plans.

Workforce planning 
• Constant monitoring of projects, staff numbers and 

required skillsets ensured the Commission remained 

an agile and appropriately resourced organisation. 

• Employees (permanent and temporary), secondees 

and contractors all formed the make-up of the 

Commission and provided for a dynamic, diverse 

and highly skilled workplace. 

Values and behaviours
• A workshop was conducted with staff to establish a 

set of behaviours aligned to our Public Sector values 

of Integrity, Trust, Service and Accountability. 

• These values formed the basis for the inaugural 

GSC Values – Staff Awards, where we recognised 

individuals and teams who live and breathe these 

values.
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Exceptional movements in salaries 
and wages
There were no exceptional movements in salaries and 

wages for the reporting period.

Human Resources and industrial 
relations policies and practices
The Commission adopted the Department of Planning 

& Environment’s policies and practices for the majority 

of the reporting period. The Commission is in the 

process of transitioning to its own policy framework. 

Staff are provided with regular information regarding 

policies and practices via written communication and 

face to face updates. 

Employees are employed by the Commission on an 

award or senior executive basis. 

Executive remuneration and 
senior executives 
The Commission comprises of 13 senior executive 

employees at the Band 1 – 4 level as noted below:

2017/2018

Senior 
Executive 
Band

Range 
Per Annum

 
Male

 
Female

Average 
Remuneration

Band 4 $463,551 to 
$535,550 

0 0 N/A

Band 3 $328,901 to 
$463,550

0 1 $420,250

Band 2 $261,451 to 
$328,900

2 2 $297,670

Band 1 $183,300 to 
$261,450

1 5 $230,668

2018/2019

Senior 
Executive 
Band

Range 
Per Annum

 
Male

 
Female

Average 
Remuneration

Band 4 $475,151 to 
$548,950

0 0 N/A

Band 3 $337,101 to 
$475,150

0 1 $430,756

Band 2 $268,001 to 
$337,100

1 3 $295,593

Band 1 $187,900 to 
$268,000

4 4 $220,239

Tweny seven percent of the Commission’s salary-

related expenditure in 2018/19 related to senior 

executives, compared with 22 percent in 2017/18. 
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Staff profile by category and gender
The Commission staff profile consists of employees 

(employed by the Commission), secondees (from state 

agencies and local councils) and contractors (engaged 

via labour hire agencies). Sixty three percent of staff are 

women and 62 percent of senior executive positions are 

held by women.

The table below provides staff information as at 30 June 

for the last two reporting periods:

2017/2018

Employment 
Type

 Headcount (#) Headcount (%)

Male Female Total Male Female

Employee 
(Ongoing) 4 21 25 16 84

Employee 
(Temporary) 3 1 4 75 25

Secondee 3 8 11 27 73

Contractor 7 8 15 47 53

17 38 55 31 69

2018/2019

Employment 
Type

 Headcount (#) Headcount (%)

Male Female Total Male Female

Employee 
(Ongoing) 6 19 25 24 76

Employee 
(Temporary) 3 3 6 50 50

Secondee 4 5 9 44 56

Contractor 10 13 23 43 57

23 40 63 37 63
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Budgets

Outline Budget for 2018/19

Notes 2018/19 
$’000

Total expenses excluding losses Operating expenses, personnel and other expenses 16,658

Total Revenue Grants, contributions and other revenue 16,608

Net Result (50)

Note: Budget as provided by the Department of Premier and Cabinet and reflects all approved 2018-19 budget 

proposals.

Outline Budget for 2019/20
The 2019-20 budget provided to Greater Sydney Commission is $23.535m. The budget will be used to deliver the 

Commission’s priorities for 2019-20. This will include continuing to deliver a metropolis of three cities as outlined 

in the Greater Sydney Region Plan and providing independent advice to Government. The Commission’s budget 

includes $8 million to deliver Growth Infrastructure Compacts as part of the Western Sydney City Deal, ensuring 

alignment of growth and infrastructure in the Parkland City.

Account Payment Performance

Aged analysis at the end of each quarter

All Suppliers

Quarter
Current  

(within due date) 
($)

< 30 days  
Overdue  

($)

31 - 60 days  
Overdue  

($)

61 - 90 days  
Overdue  

($)

>90 days  
Overdue  

($)

Sep – 2018 3,293,874 133,440 10,010 – –

Dec – 2018 2,039,373 11,269 – – 44,086

Mar – 2019 1,702,442 130,379 – – –

Jun – 2019 2,662,892 93,354 – – –

Total 9,698,581 368,442 10,010 – 44,086
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Accounts Due or Paid Within Each Quarter

Accounts due or paid within each quarter

Measure Total 
2018 – 19 Sep 2018 Dec 2018 Mar 2019 Jun 2019

All Suppliers

Number of invoices due for 
payment 1578 475 407 340 356

Number of invoices paid on time 1554 466 466 337 349

Actual percentage of invoices  
paid on time  
(based on number of invoices)

98.5% 98 .1% 98 .8% 99 .1% 98 .0%

Dollar amount of invoices due  
on time 10,121,119 3,437,324 2,094,728 1,832,820 2,756,246

Dollar amount of invoices paid  
on time 9,698,581 3,293,874 2,039,373 1,702,442 2,662,892

Actual percentage of invoices  
paid on time (based on $) 95.8% 95 .8% 97 .4% 92 .9% 96 .6%

Accounts due or paid within each quarter

Measure Total 
2018 – 19 Sep 2018 Dec 2018 Mar 2019 Jun 2019

Small Business Suppliers

Number of invoices due for 
payment 6 – – 2 4

Number of invoices paid on time 6 – – 2 4

Actual percentage of invoices  
paid on time  
(based on number of invoices)

100.0% 100 .0% 100 .0%

Dollar amount of invoices due  
on time 174,192 – – 50,298 123,895

Dollar amount of invoices paid  
on time 174,192 – – 50,298 123,895

Actual percentage of invoices  
paid on time (based on $) 100.0% 100 .0% 100 .0%
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Consultants
Number of consultancy engagements costing less than $50,000: 5

Total value of consultancy engagements costing less than $50,000: $121,543

These costs related to: Strategy and planning and management 
services

Number of consultancy engagements costing $50,000 or more: 1 

Name of consultant Title of project Amount $

Centre for International Economics Designed an evaluation framework for the Growth 
Infrastructure Compact pilot process $156,875

Total $156,875
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
Greater Sydney Commission 

 

To Members of the New South Wales Parliament 

Opinion 
I have audited the accompanying financial statements of Greater Sydney Commission 
(the Commission), which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 
30 June 2019, the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2019, the Statement of Changes in 
Equity and the Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a Statement of 
Significant Accounting Policies and other explanatory information. 

In my opinion, the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Commission as at 30 June 2019, and of 
its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards 

• are in accordance with section 41B of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 (PF&A Act) and 
the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015. 

 

My opinion should be read in conjunction with the rest of this report. 

Basis for Opinion 
I conducted my audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under the 
standards are described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
section of my report. 

I am independent of the Commission in accordance with the requirements of the: 

• Australian Auditing Standards 
• Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 ‘Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants’ (APES 110). 
 

I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with APES 110. 

Parliament promotes independence by ensuring the Auditor-General and the Audit Office of 
New South Wales are not compromised in their roles by: 

• providing that only Parliament, and not the executive government, can remove an 
Auditor-General 

• mandating the Auditor-General as auditor of public sector agencies 
• precluding the Auditor-General from providing non-audit services. 
 

I believe the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 

 

 

 
 

 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
Greater Sydney Commission 

 

To Members of the New South Wales Parliament 

Opinion 
I have audited the accompanying financial statements of Greater Sydney Commission 
(the Commission), which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 
30 June 2019, the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2019, the Statement of Changes in 
Equity and the Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a Statement of 
Significant Accounting Policies and other explanatory information. 

In my opinion, the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Commission as at 30 June 2019, and of 
its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards 

• are in accordance with section 41B of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 (PF&A Act) and 
the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015. 

 

My opinion should be read in conjunction with the rest of this report. 

Basis for Opinion 
I conducted my audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under the 
standards are described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
section of my report. 

I am independent of the Commission in accordance with the requirements of the: 

• Australian Auditing Standards 
• Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 ‘Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants’ (APES 110). 
 

I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with APES 110. 

Parliament promotes independence by ensuring the Auditor-General and the Audit Office of 
New South Wales are not compromised in their roles by: 

• providing that only Parliament, and not the executive government, can remove an 
Auditor-General 

• mandating the Auditor-General as auditor of public sector agencies 
• precluding the Auditor-General from providing non-audit services. 
 

I believe the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 
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Other Information 
The Commission’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2019 includes other information in 
addition to the financial statements and my Independent Auditor’s Report thereon. The Chief 
Executive Officer of the Commission is responsible for the other information. At the date of this 
Independent Auditor’s Report, the other information I have received comprise the Statement by the 
Acting Chief Executive Officer pursuant to section 41C of the PF&A Act. 

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information. Accordingly, I do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion on the other information. 

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. 

If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude there is a material misstatement of the other 
information, I must report that fact. 

I have nothing to report in this regard. 

The Chief Executive Officer’s Responsibilities for the Financial Statements 
The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the PF&A Act, and for such 
internal control as the Chief Executive Officer determines is necessary to enable the preparation and 
fair presentation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Chief Executive Officer is responsible for assessing the 
Commission’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting, unless it is not appropriate to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
My objectives are to: 

• obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error 

• issue an Independent Auditor’s Report including my opinion. 
 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect material misstatements. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or 
in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions users take 
based on the financial statements. 

A description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at the Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board website at: www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf. The 
description forms part of my auditor’s report. 
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My opinion does not provide assurance: 

• that the Commission carried out its activities effectively, efficiently and economically 
• about the assumptions used in formulating the budget figures disclosed in the financial 

statements 
• about the security and controls over the electronic publication of the audited financial 

statements on any website where they may be presented 
• about any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the financial statements. 
 

 

 

 

Min Lee 
A/Director, Financial Audit Services 

Delegate of the Auditor-General for New South Wales 

20 September 2019 
SYDNEY 
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Greater Sydney Commission 
Statement by the Chief Executive Officer
for the year ended 30 June 2019

Pursuant to section 41C of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983, I declare, on behalf of the Greater Sydney 

Commission (the Commission) that in my opinion:

(a)  The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with:

• Applicable Australian Accounting Standards (which includes Australian Accounting Interpretations);

• The requirements of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 and Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015; 

and

• The Financial Reporting Directions published in the Financial Reporting Code for NSW General 

Government Sector Entities or issued by the NSW Treasurer.

(b) The statements and notes exhibit a true and fair view of the financial position and transactions of the 

Commission; and

(c) There are no circumstances which would render any particulars included in the financial statements to be 

misleading or inaccurate.

Danielle Smalley 
Acting Chief Executive Officer

Date: 17 September 2019
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Greater Sydney Commission 
Statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 30 June 2019

Consolidated GSC

  Actual Budget Actual Actual Actual
  2019 2019 2018 2019 2018
 Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

EXPENSES EXCLUDING LOSSES     

Operating expenses     

Employee related 2(a) 7,200 11,972 – – –

Personnel services 2(e) – – – 6,515 8,889

Other operating expenses 2(b) 10,255 2,948 – 10,255 13,268

Depreciation and amortisation 2(c) 75 50 – 75 57

Grants and subsidies 2(d) – 25,315 – – 750

Total expenses excluding losses  17,530 40,285 – 16,845 22,964

     

REVENUE     

Grants and contributions 3(a) 16,808 40,235 – 16,808 22,515

Acceptance by the Crown Entity of 
employee benefits and other liabilities

3(b) 685 – – – 328

Other revenue 3(c) 406 – – 406 98

Total revenue  17,899 40,235 – 17,214 22,941

Net result  369 (50) – 369 (23)

     

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME     

Other comprehensive income – – – – –

Total other comprehensive income  – – – – –

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR  369 (50) – 369 (23)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements .
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Greater Sydney Commission 
Statement of financial position
for the year ended 30 June 2019

Consolidated GSC

  Actual Budget Actual Actual Actual
  2019 2019 2018 2019 2018
 Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

ASSETS     

Current assets     

Cash and cash equivalents 4 419 230 – 314 524

Receivables 5 287 203 – 310 343

Total current assets 706 433 – 624 867

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment

Leasehold improvements 75 – 75 87

Plant and equipment 227 (2) – 227 13

Total property, plant and equipment 6 302 (2) – 302 100

Intangible assets 7 78 119 – 78 112

Total non-current assets 380 117 – 380 212

Total assets 1,086 550 – 1,004 1,079

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Payables 8 2,147 2,416 – 2,144 2,618

Provisions 9 743 193 – 664 646

Total current liabilities 2,890 2,609 – 2,808 3,264

Non-current liabilities

Provisions 9 38 – – 38 –

Total non-current liabilities 38 – – 38 –

Total liabilities 2,928 2,609 – 2,846 3,264

Net assets/(liabilities) (1,842) (2,059) – (1,842) (2,185)
 

EQUITY

Accumulated funds (1,842) (2,059) – (1,842) (2,211)

Total equity  (1,842) (2,059) – (1,842) (2,211)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements .
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GSC
Accumulated Total

 Funds Equity
 $'000 $'000

Balance at 1 July 2018 (2,211) (2,211)

 

Net result for the year 369 369

Other comprehensive income – –

Total other comprehensive income – –

Total comprehensive income for the year 369 369

 

Balance at 30 June 2019 (1,842) (1,842)

Balance at 1 July 2017 (2,188) (2,188)

 

Net result for the year (23) (23)

Other comprehensive income – –

Total other comprehensive income – –

Total comprehensive income for the year (23) (23)

 

Balance at 30 June 2018 (2,211) (2,211)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements .
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Consolidated GSC
  Actual Budget Actual Actual Actual
  2019 2019 2018 2019 2018
 Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

CASH FLOWS FROM  
OPERATING ACTIVITIES     

Payments     

Employee related (6,411) (11,972) – –

Personnel services – – – (6,512) (7,009)

Grants and Subsidies – (25,315) – – (750)

Other payments (10,672) (2,948) – (10,676) (14,278)

Total Payments (17,083) (40,235) – (17,188) (22,037)

 

Receipts

Grants and contributions 16,808 40,235 – 16,808 22,515

Other revenue 387 – – 387 98

Total Receipts 17,195 40,235 – 17,195 22,613

 
NET CASH FLOWS FROM 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 13 112 – – 7 576

CASH FLOWS FROM  
INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of property, plant 
and equipment

(217) – – (217) (27)

Purchase of Intangible assets – – – – (25)

NET CASH FLOWS FROM 
INVESTING ACTIVITIES (217) – – (217) (52)

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (105) – – (210) 524

Opening cash and cash equivalents 524 230 – 524 –

CLOSING CASH AND  
CASH EQUIVALENTS 4 419 230 – 314 524

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements .
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for the year ended 30 June 2019

1. Summary of significant accounting policies

(a) Reporting entity

The Greater Sydney Commission (the Commission) 

is a NSW government entity and is controlled 

by the State of New South Wales, which is the 

ultimate parent. The Commission is a reporting 

entity, comprising all the entities under its control, 

namely Greater Sydney Commission Staff Agency. 

The reporting entity is consolidated as part of the 

NSW Total State Sector Accounts.

The Commission is a public service agency 

established under the Greater Sydney Commission 

Act 2015 and is pursuant to Part 2 of Schedule 

1 of the Government Sector Employment Act 

2013. The Commission comprises of persons 

who are employed under the Government Sector 

Employment Act 2013 to enable the Commission 

exercise its functions.

In the process of preparing the consolidated 

financial statements for the economic entity 

consisting of the controlling and controlled 

entities, all inter-entity transactions and balances 

have been eliminated.

The Commission is a budget dependent Statutory 

Authority. The Commission is a not-for-profit 

entity (as profit is not its principal objective) and it 

has no cash generating units.

These financial statements for the period ended 

30 June 2019 have been authorised for issue by the 

Chief Executive Officer on 17 September 2019.

(b) Basis of preparation

The Commission’s financial statements are general 

purpose financial statements which have been 

prepared on an accrual basis in accordance with:

• applicable Australian Accounting Standards 

(AAS) (which include Australian Accounting 

Interpretations);

• the requirements of the Public Finance and 

Audit Act 1983 (the Act) and Public Finance 

and Audit Regulation 2015; and

• Treasurer’s Directions issued under the Act.

Property, plant and equipment are measured at fair 

value. Other financial statement items are prepared 

in accordance with the historical cost convention 

except where specified otherwise.

Judgements, key assumptions and estimations 

management has made are disclosed in the relevant 

notes to the financial statements.

The financial statements are prepared on a 

going concern basis. The Commission currently 

has negative accumulated funds primarily due 

to timing differences in 2016-17 as accrued 

expenditure was not funded by grants revenue 

from the principal Department. Both the 

Department of Premier and Cabinet and NSW 

Treasury will continue to support the objectives 

of the Commission and provide grants revenue 

funding from the Consolidated Fund.

All amounts are rounded to the nearest one 

thousand dollars and are expressed in Australian 

currency, which is the entity’s presentation and 

functional currency.

(c) Statement of compliance

The Commission’s financial statements and 

notes comply with Australian Accounting 

Standards, which include Australian Accounting 

Interpretations.

(d) Insurance

The Commission’s insurance activities are 

conducted through the NSW Treasury Managed 

Fund Scheme of self-insurance for Government 

agencies. The expense (premium) is determined by 

the Fund Manager based on past claims experience.
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(e) Accounting for the Goods and Services Tax 
(GST)

Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of 

the amount of GST, except that:

• amount of GST incurred by the Commission 

as a purchaser that is not recoverable from the 

Australian Taxation Office is recognised as part 

of an asset’s cost of acquisition or as part of an 

item of expense; and

• receivables and payables are stated with  

GST included

Cash flows are included in the Statement of 

Cash Flows on a gross basis. However, the GST 

components of cash flows arising from investing 

and financing activities which are recoverable 

from, or payable to, the Australian Tax Office are 

classified as operating cash flows.

(f) Income recognition

Income is measured at the fair value of the 

consideration or contribution received or 

receivable. Comments regarding the accounting 

policies for the recognition of income are discussed 

below:

i. Grants and Contributions

Income from grants (other than contribution 

by owners) is recognised when the entity 

obtains control over the contribution. The 

entity is deemed to have assumed control when 

the grant is received or receivable.

Contributions are recognised at their fair value. 

Contributions of services are recognised when 

and only when a fair value of those services can 

be reliably determined and the services would 

be purchased if not donated.

(g) Property, plant and equipment 

i. Acquisitions of property, plant and 
equipment

Property, plant and equipment acquired are 

initially recognised at cost and subsequently 

measured at fair value less accumulated 

depreciation and impairment. Cost is the 

amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or 

the fair value of other consideration given to 

acquire the asset at the time of its acquisition 

or construction or, where applicable, 

the most attributed to that asset when 

initially recognised in accordance with the 

requirements of other Australian Accounting 

Standards.

Assets acquired at no cost, or for nominal 

consideration, are initially recognised at their 

fair value at the date of acquisition.

Fair value is the price that would be received to 

sell an asset in an orderly transaction between 

market participants at measurement date.

ii. Capitalisation thresholds

Property, plant and equipment and intangible 

assets costing $5,000 and above individually 

(or forming part of a network costing more 

than $5,000) are capitalised.

iii. Restoration cost

The present value of the expected cost for 

the restoration or cost of dismantling of an 

asset after its use is included in the cost of the 

respective asset if the recognition criteria for a 

provision are met.

iv. Maintenance

Day-to-day servicing costs or maintenance are 

charged as expenses as incurred, except where 

they relate to the replacement or enhancement 

of a part or a component of an asset, in which 

case the costs are capitalised and depreciated.
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v. Depreciation of property, plant and 
equipment

Depreciation is provided for on a straight-line 

basis for all depreciable assets so as to write 

off the depreciable amount of each asset 

as it is consumed over its useful life to the 

Commission.

All material identifiable components of assets 

are depreciated separately over their useful life. 

Following are the depreciation rates:

 

DEPRECIATION 
RATES

2019  
% Rate

2018  
% Rate

Office furniture 
and fittings 14 14

Leasehold 
improvements 20 – 33 20 – 33

Plant and 
equipment 20 – 25 20 – 25

Computer 
equipment and 
hardware

33 33

vi. Revaluation of property, plant and 
equipment

Physical non-current assets are valued in 

accordance with the ‘Valuation of Physical 

Non-current Assets at Fair Value’ Policy and 

Guidelines Paper (TPP 14-01). This policy 

adopts fair value in accordance with AASB 13, 

AASB 116 and AASB 140 Investment Property.

The entity has non-specialised assets with 

short useful lives, these are measured at 

depreciated historical cost as a surrogate for 

fair value.

vii. Impairment of property, plant and 
equipment

As a not-for-profit entity with no cash 

generating units, impairment under AASB 

136 Impairment of Assets is unlikely to arise. 

Since property, plant and equipment is carried 

at fair value or an amount that approximates 

fair value, impairment can only arise in rare 

circumstances such as where the costs of 

disposal are material.

The Commission assesses, at each reporting 

date, whether there is an indication that an 

asset may be impaired. If any indications exists, 

or when annual impairment testing for an asset 

is required, the Commission estimates the 

asset’s recoverable amount. When the carrying 

amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable 

amount, the asset is considered impaired and 

is written down to its recoverable amount.

(h) Leases

A distinction is made between finance leases which 

effectively transfer from the lessor to the lessee 

substantially all the risks and rewards incidental 

to ownership of the leased assets, and operating 

leases under which the lessor does not transfer 

substantially all the risks and rewards.

Operating lease payments are recognised as 

an operating expense in the Statement of 

Comprehensive Income on a straight line basis 

over the lease term.

(i) Intangible assets

The Commission recognises intangible assets 

only if it is probably that future economic benefits 

will flow to the Commission and the cost of the 

asset can be measured reliably. Intangible assets 

are measured initially at cost. Where an asset is 

acquired at no or nominal cost, the cost is its fair 

value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial 

recognition, intangible assets are subsequently 

measured at fair value only if there is an active 

market. If there is no active market for the 

Commission’s intangible assets, the assets are 

carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation 

and impairment losses.
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All research costs are expensed. Development costs 

are only capitalised when certain criteria are met. 

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to 

be finite.

The Commission’s intangible assets are amortised 

using the straight line method over a period of 4 to 

5 years appropriate to the future economic benefits.

The amortisation period and the amortisation 

method for an intangible asset with a finite 

useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each 

reporting period.

Intangible assets are tested for impairment where 

an indicator of impairment exists. If the recoverable 

amount is less than its carrying amount, the 

carrying amount is reduced to recoverable  

amount and the reduction is recognised as an 

impairment loss.

(j) Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives 

rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial 

liability or equity instrument of another entity.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially 

measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are 

directly attributable to the acquisition or issue 

of financial assets and financial liabilities (other 

than financial assets and financial liabilities at 

fair value through profit or loss) are added to or 

deducted from the fair value of the financial assets 

or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial 

recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable 

to the acquisition of financial assets or financial 

liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are 

recognised immediately in net result.

The Commission determines the classification 

of its financial assets and liabilities after initial 

recognition and, when allowed and appropriate, 

re-evaluates this at each financial year end.

i. Financial assets

• Loans and receivables

Trade receivables, loans, and other receivables 

that have fixed or determinable payments that are 

not quoted in an active market are classified as 

loans and receivables. Loans and receivables are 

measured at amortised cost using the effective 

interest method, less any impairment. Changes 

are recognised in the net result for the year 

when impaired, derecognised or through the 

amortisation process.

Short-term receivables with no stated interest rate 

are measured at the original invoice amount unless 

the effect of discounting is material.

• Impairment of financial assets

All financial assets are subject to an annual review 

for impairment. Financial assets are considered to 

be impaired when there is objective evidence that, 

as a result of one or more events that occurred after 

the initial recognition of the financial assets, the 

estimated future cash flows have been affected.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as 

trade receivable, the entity first assesses whether 

impairment exists individually for financial assets 

that are individually significant, or collectively for 

financial assets that are not individually significant. 

Assets are assessed for impairment on a collective 

basis if they were assessed not to be impaired 

individually.

 For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the 

amount of the allowance is the difference between 

the asset’s carrying amount and the present 

value of estimated future cash flow, discounted 

at the effective interest rate. The amount of the 

impairment loss is recognised in the net result for 

the year.

Any reversals of impairment losses are reversed 

through the net result for the year, where there is 

objective evidence. Reversals of impairment losses 

of financial assets carried at amortised cost cannot 

result in a carrying amount that exceeds what the 

carrying amount would have been had there not 

been an impairment loss.
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ii. Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (including 

borrowings and trade payables).

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are initially 

measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. 

These are subsequently measured at amortised cost 

using the effective interest method, with interest.

Payables represent liabilities for goods and services 

provided to the Commission and other amounts. 

Short-term payables with no stated interest rate are 

measured at the original invoice amount where the 

effect of discounting is immaterial.

Gains or losses are recognised in the net result for 

the year on de-recognition of financial liabilities.

iii. Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset 

and the net amount is reported in the balance 

sheet if there is a currently enforceable legal right 

to offset the recognised amounts and there is an 

intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the 

assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

(k) Employee benefits and other provisions

Employee benefits are provided to the Commission 

by the Greater Sydney Commission Staff Agency. 

The Commission recognises personnel services 

expenses and provisions for these benefits.

i. Salaries and wages, annual leave and  
sick leave

Salaries and wages (including non-monetary 

benefits) and paid sick leave that are expected 

to be settled wholly within 12 months after the 

end of the period in which the employees render 

the service are recognised and measured at the 

undiscounted amounts of the benefits.

Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly 

before 12 months after the end of the annual 

reporting period in which the employees render 

the related service. As such, it is required to be 

measured at present value in accordance with AASB 

119 Employee Benefits (although short-cut methods 

are permitted). Actuarial advice obtained by 

Treasury has confirmed that the use of a nominal 

approach plus the annual leave entitlements 

accrued while taking annual leave (using 7.9% of 

the nominal value of annual leave) can be used 

to approximate the present value of the annual 

leave liability. The entity has assessed the actuarial 

advice based on the entity’s circumstances and 

has determined that the effect of discounting 

is immaterial to annual leave. All annual leave 

is classified as a current liability even where 

the entity does not expect to settle the liability 

within 12 months as the entity does not have an 

unconditional right to defer the settlement.

Unused non-vesting sick leave does not give rise to 

a liability as it is not considered probable that sick 

leave taken in the future will be greater than the 

benefits accrued in the future.

ii. Long service leave and superannuation

The Staff Agency’s liabilities for long service leave 

and defined benefit superannuation are assumed 

by the Crown Entity. The entity accounts for the 

liability as having been extinguished, resulting 

in the amount assumed being shown as part of 

the non-monetary revenue item described as 

‘Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee 

benefits and other liabilities’.

Long service leave is measured at the present 

value of expected future payments to be made in 

respect of services provided up to the reporting 

date. Consideration is given to certain factors based 

on actuarial review, including expected future 

wage and salary levels, experience of employee 

departures, and periods of service. Expected future 

payments are discounted using commonwealth 

government bond rate at the reporting date.

The superannuation expense for the financial year 

is determined by using the formulae specified in 

the Treasurer’s Directions. The expense for certain 

superannuation schemes (i.e. Basic Benefit and 

First State Super) is calculated as a percentage of 

the employees’ salary. For other superannuation 

schemes (i.e. State Superannuation Scheme 

and State Authorities Superannuation Scheme), 

the expense is calculated as a multiple of the 

employees’ superannuation contributions.
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iii. Consequential on-costs

Consequential costs to employment are recognised 

as liabilities and expenses where the employee 

benefits to which they relate have been recognised. 

This includes outstanding amounts of payroll tax 

and workers’ compensation insurance premiums.

(l) Other provisions

Provisions are recognised when the entity has a 

present legal or constructive obligation as a result 

of a past event; it is probable that an out flow of 

resources will be required to settle the obligation; 

and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount 

of obligation. When the entity expects some or all 

of the provision to be reimbursed, for example, 

under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is 

recognised as a separate asset, but only when the 

reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense 

relating to a provision is presented net of any 

reimbursement in the Statement of  

Comprehensive Income.

(m) Equity and reverses

i.  Accumulated Funds

The category ‘Accumulated Funds’ includes all 

current and prior period retained funds.

(n) Fair value hierarchy

Fair value hierarchy disclosure under AASB 13 

Fair Value Measurement, is not required as the 

Commission’s assets are non-specialised short-live 

assets and measured at depreciated historical cost 

as a surrogate for fair value.

(o) Budgeted amounts

The budgeted amounts are drawn from the 

original budgeted financial statements presented 

to Parliament in respect of the reporting period. 

Subsequent amendments to the original budget 

(e.g. adjustment for transfer of functions between 

entities as a result of Administrative Arrangement 

Orders) are not reflected in the budgeted amounts. 

Major variances between the original budgeted 

amounts and the actual amounts disclosed in the 

financial statements are explained in Note 12.

(p) Comparative information

Except when an Australian Accounting Standard 

permits or requires otherwise, comparative 

information is disclosed in respect of the previous 

period for all amounts reported in the financial 

statements.

Since the Greater Sydney Commission Staff Agency 

was only established on 1 July 2018, there was no 

requirement to prepare Consolidated Financial 

Statements for 2017–18.

(q)  Changes in accounting policy, including 
new or revised Australian Accounting 
Standards

i. Effective for the first time in 2018–19

The accounting policies applied in 2018–19 are 

consistent with those of the previous financial year 

except for the following standards adopted for the 

first time in 2018-19. The impact of these Standards 

in the period of initial application is not material.

• AASB 9 Financial Instruments

The Commission has adopted AASB 9 Financial 

Instruments (AASB 9), which resulted in changes 

in accounting policies in respect of recognition, 

classification and measurement of financial assets 

and financial liabilities; derecognition of

financial instruments; impairment of financial 

assets and hedge accounting. AASB 9 also 

significantly amends other standards dealing with 

financial instruments such as the revised AASB 7 

Financial Instruments: Disclosures (AASB 7R).

The Commission applied AASB 9 retrospectively 

but has not restated the comparative information 

which is reported under components of equity. 

AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 

Measurement (AASB 139).
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The effect of adopting AASB 9 on the statement of 

financial position as at 1 July 2018 is not material.

a)  Classification and measurement of financial 

instruments

The classification and measurement requirements 

of AASB 9 did not have a significant impact to 

the Commission. The Commission continued 

measuring at fair value, all financial assets 

previously held at fair value under AASB 139.

 The following are the changes in the classification 

of the Commission’s financial assets:

• Trade receivables and other financial assets 

(i.e. term deposits) classified as ‘Loans and 

receivables’ under AASB 139 as at 30 June 

2018 are held to collect contractual cash flows 

representing solely payments of principal  

and interest.

At 1 July 2018, these are classified and measured as 

debt instruments at amortised cost.

The Commission has not designated any financial 

liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. 

There are no changes in the classification and 

measurement for the Commission’s financial 

liabilities.

b) Impairment

The adoption of AASB 9 has changed the 

Commission’s accounting for impairment losses for 

financial assets by replacing AASB 139’s incurred 

loss approach with a forward-looking expected 

credit loss (ECL) approach. AASB 9 requires the 

Commission to recognise an allowance for ECLs for 

all debt instruments not held at fair value through 

profit or loss.

There is no material impact to the Commission on 

adopting the new impairment model.

ii. Issued but not yet effective

NSW public sector entities are not permitted to 

early adopt new Australian Accounting Standards, 

unless Treasury determines otherwise

The following new Australian Accounting 

Standards have not been applied and are not yet 

effective (NSW TC 19-04) mandates agencies not 

to early adopt any of the following accounting 

pronouncements:

The Commission anticipates that adoption of 

these standards in the period of initial application 

will have no material impact on the financial 

statements, except for AASB 16 Leases which will 

affect different accounts and related disclosures.

• AASB 15, AASB 2014-5, AASB 2015-8 and 

2016-3 regarding Revenue from Contracts with 

Customers

• AASB 16 Leases

Based on the impact assessments the Commission 

has undertaken on currently available information, 

the Commission estimates additional lease 

liabilities of $1 million and right-of-use assets 

of $1 million will be recognised as at 1 July 2019 

for leases in which the Commission is a lessee. 

Most operating lease expenses will be replaced by 

depreciation of the right of use asset and interest 

on the lease liability. The impact on the statement 

of comprehensive income is expected to be $nil.

• AASB 17 Insurance Contracts

• AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-profit Entities

• AASB 1059 Service Concession Arrangements: 

Grantors

• AASB 2016-8 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards – Australian 

Implementation Guidance for Not for Profit 

Entities

• AASB 2017-1 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards – Transfer of investment 

Property, Annual Improvements 2014–2016 

Cycle and Other Amendments
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• AASB 2017-4 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards – Uncertainty over 

Income Tax Treatments

• AASB 2017-6 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards – Prepayment Features 

with Negative Compensation

• AASB 2017-7 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards – Long-term Interests in 

Associates and Joint Ventures

• AASB 2018-1 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards – Annual Improvements 

2015-2017 Cycle

• AASB 2018-2 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards – Plan Amendment, 

Curtailment or Settlement

• AASB 2018-3 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure 

Requirements Profit Public Sector Licensors

• AASB 2018-4 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards – Australian 

Implementation Guidance for

• Not-for-Profit Public Sector Licensors

• AASB 2018-5 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards – Deferral of AASB 1059

• AASB 2018-6 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards – Definition of a Business

• AASB 2018-7 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards – Definition of Material

• AASB 2018-8 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards – Right-of-Use Assets of 

Not-for-Profit Entities

• Interpretation 22 Foreign Currency Transactions 

and Advance Consideration

• Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax 

Treatment
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2. Expenses excluding losses

(a) Employee related expenses

Consolidated GSC

 2019 2018 2019 2018
 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Salaries and wages (including annual leave) 5,609 – – –

Superannuation – defined contribution plans 396 – – –

Long service leave 681 – – –

Payroll tax and Fringe benefits tax 392 – – –

On-costs – annual leave and long service leave 122 – – –

 7,200 – – –

(b) Other operating expenses

Auditor's remuneration – audit of the financial 
statements

39 – 39 76

Contractors 4,464 – 4,464 5,327

Fees for services rendered 2,772 – 2,772 5,046

Board remuneration and expenses 1,621 – 1,621 1,449

Consultants 278 – 278 110

Operating lease expense 590 – 590 616

Computer Costs 65 – 65 44

Minor equipment purchases 3 – 3 3

Advertising/public relations 14 – 14 10

Training and conferences 136 – 136 71

Travelling 37 – 37 25

Other operating expenses 236 – 236 491

 10,255 – 10,255 13,268
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(c) Depreciation and amortisation expense

Consolidated GSC

 2019 2018 2019 2018
 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Depreciation – plant and equipment 3 – 3 4

Depreciation – leasehold improvements 38 – 38 21

Amortisation – intangible assets 34 – 34 32

 75 – 75 57

(d) Grants and subsidies

Grants and subsidies – – – 750

 – – – 750

(e) Personnel Services

Paid to Greater Sydney Commission Staff Agency – – 6,515 8,889

 – – 6,515 8,889
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3. Revenue

(a) Grants and contributions

Consolidated GSC

 2019 2018 2019 2018
 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Contributions from the Department of  
Premier and Cabinet

16,608 – 16,608 –

Contributions from the Department of  
Planning and Environment

– – – 22,515

Capital Grants from Department of 
Premier and Cabinet

200 – 200 –

 16,808 – 16,808 22,515

(b) Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee benefits and other liabilities

The following liabilities and/or expenses have been assumed by the Crown Entity:

Long service leave 681 – – –

Superannuation - defined benefit plans 4 – – –

 685 – – –

(c) Other revenue

Services received free of charge 41 – 41 62

Interagency project contributions from  
Infrastructure NSW

187 – 187 –

Interagency project contributions from 
Department of Planning and Environment

150 – 150 –

Other 28 – 28 36

 406 – 406 98
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Greater Sydney Commission 
Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 30 June 2019

4. Current assets – cash and cash equivalents

Consolidated GSC

 2019 2018 2019 2018
 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

 Cash at bank or on hand 419 – 314 524

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and cash on hand.

Cash and cash equivalent assets recognised in the statement of financial position are reconciled at the end of 

the financial year to the statement of cash flows as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents  
(per Statement of financial position)

419 – 314 524

Closing cash and cash equivalents  
(per Statement of cash flows) 419 – 314 524

Refer to Note 15 for details regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk arising from financial intruments.

5. Current assets – receivables

Debtors 19 – 19 –

Less allowance for expected credit losses – – – –

GST receivables 268 – 268 294

Intercompany receivable – – 23 –

Prepayment – – – 49

 287 – 310 343
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Greater Sydney Commission 
Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 30 June 2019

6. Non-current assets – property, plant and equipment

 Leasehold 
improvements

Plant and 
equipment

Work in 
progress Total

 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

At 1 July 2018 – fair value  

Gross carrying amount 127 17 – 144

Accumulated depreciation and impairment (40) (4) – (44)

Net carrying amount 87 13 – 100

 

At 30 June 2019 – fair value

Gross carrying amount 152 17 217 386

Accumulated depreciation and impairment (77) (7) – (84)

Net carrying amount 75 10 217 302

Reconciliation

A reconciliation of the carrying amount of plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the current 

reporting period is set out below:

Year ended 30 June 2019  

Net carrying amount at beginning of year 87 13 – 100

Additions 26 – 217 243

Depreciation expense (38) (3) – (41)

Net carrying amount at end of year 75 10 217 302

 

At 1 July 2017 – fair value

Gross carrying amount 100 17 – 117

Accumulated depreciation and impairment (19) - – (19)

Net carrying amount 81 17 – 98

At 30 June 2018 – fair value

Gross carrying amount 127 17 – 144

Accumulated depreciation and impairment (40) (4) – (44)

Net carrying amount 87 13 – 100
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Greater Sydney Commission 
Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 30 June 2019

6. Non-current assets – property, plant and equipment (continued)

Reconciliation:

A reconciliation of the carrying amount of each class of plant and equipment at the beginning  

and end of the previous reporting period is set out below:

Year ended 30 June 2018  

Net carrying amount at start of year 81 17 – 98

Additions 27 – – 27

Depreciation expense (21) (4) – (25)

Net carrying amount at end of year 87 13 – 100

7. Intangible assests – computer software
 Software
 $'000

At 1 July 2018  

Cost (gross carrying amount) 163

Accumulated depreciation and impairment (51)

Net carrying amount 112

  

At 30 June 2019  

Cost (gross carrying amount) 163

Accumulated depreciation and impairment (85)

Net carrying amount 78
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Greater Sydney Commission 
Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 30 June 2019

7. Non-current assets – computer software (continued)

Reconciliation

A reconciliation of the carrying amount of the intangible assets at the beginning and end of the current 

reporting period is set out below:

 Software

 $'000

Year ended 30 June 2019  

Net carrying amount at beginning of year 112

Additions –

Amortisation (recognised in ‘depreciation and amortisation’) (34)

Net carrying amount at end of year 78

 

At 1 July 2017

Cost (gross carrying amount) 137

Accumulated amortisation and impairment (18)

Net carrying amount 119

At 30 June 2018

Cost (gross carrying amount) 163

Accumulated amortisation and impairment (51)

Net carrying amount 112

Reconciliation:

A reconciliation of the carrying amount of intangible assets at the beginning and end of the prior reporting 

period is set out below:

 Software
 $'000

Year ended 30 June 2018  

Net carrying amount at start of year 119

Additions 25

Amortisation (recognised in ‘depreciation and amortisation’) (32)

Net carrying amount at end of year 112
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Greater Sydney Commission 
Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 30 June 2018

8. Current liabilities – payables

Consolidated GSC

 2019 2018 2019 2018
 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Accrued salaries, wages and on costs 21 – – –

Payable for personnel services – – 22 –

Creditors 1,457 – 1,453 2,187

Accrued expenses 669 – 669 431

 Total current liabilities - payables 2,147 – 2,144 2,618

 Refer to Note 15 for details regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk arising from financial intruments .

9. Current/non-current liabilities – provisions

Consolidated GSC

 2019 2018 2019 2018

 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Employee benefits and related on-costs - current

Annual leave 501 – – 589

Payroll tax 153 – – 36

Long service leave 89 – – 21

Provision for personnel services – – 664 –

Total current employee provisions 743 – 664 646

Other provisions – non-current

Lease make good provision 26 – 26 –

Long service leave 12 – – –

Provision for personnel services – – 12 –

Total other non-current provisions 38 – 38 –
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Consolidated GSC

 2019 2018 2019 2018
 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Aggregate employee benefits and related on costs

Provisions – current 743 – – 646

Provisions – non-current 12 – – 3

Provision for personnel services – current – – 664 –

Provision for personnel services – non-current – – 12 –

Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs (Note 8) 21 – – 23

Payable for personnel services – – 22 –

 776 – 698 672

10. Commitments for expenditure

Consolidated GSC

 2019 2018 2019 2018
 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Operating Lease Commitments

Future non-cancellable operating lease rentals not 
provided for and payable:

Within one year 656 – 656 –

Later than one year and not later than five years 1,423 – 1,423 –

Later than five years – – – –

Total (including GST) 2,079 – 2,079 –

All operating lease committments for 2017–18 were borne by the Department of Planning and Environment on 

behalf of the Commission.

Greater Sydney Commission 
Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 30 June 2019

9. Current/non-current liabilities – provisions (continued)
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Greater Sydney Commission 
Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 30 June 2019

11. Contingent assets/liabilities

The Commission is not aware of any contingent assets or liabilities to report.

12. Budget review

The Commission is a budget dependent general 

Government agency which commenced operations 

on 27 January 2016.

The 2018–19 budget allocation for the Commission 

was included in the Department of Planning 

and Environment’s budget allocation. However, 

Administrative Arrangements (Administrative 

Changes – Greater Sydney Commission) Order 

2018, transitioned the Commission from the 

Department of Planning and Environment to the 

Department of Premier and Cabinet with effect 

from 1st July 2018.

As a result, the Commission’s budget was 

transferred to the Department of Premier and 

Cabinet under section 24, Public Finance and Audit 

Act 1983.

The Secretary of the Department of Planning 

and Environment approved an original budget 

allocation of $40.285 million for the Commission 

for 2018–19 financial year. The following 

adjustments were made during the year:

• $24.315 million relating to Paramatta Road 

Urban Amenity Improvement Program grants 

funding and $0.363 million relating to a 

transfer of planning roles, were retained by the 

Department of Planning and Environment;

• $0.149 million reduction in funding was due 

to the allocation of an additional 1% efficiency 

dividend announced in the 2018–19 budget;

• $1.2 million in additional funding was received 

in relation to delivering Growth Infrastructure 

Compacts as part of the Western Sydney  

City Deal.

As a result, the revised budget for 2018-19 was 

$16.658 million.

13. Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities to net result

Consolidated GSC

 2019 2018 2019 2018
 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Net cash used on operating activities 112 – 7 576

Depreciation and amortisation (75) – (75) (57)

Decrease/(increase) in provisions (104) – (26) (457)

Increase/(decrease) in receivables and other 
assets

(56) – (33) 140

Decrease/(increase) in creditors 492 – 496 (225)

 Net result 369 – 369 (23)

The Commission had no investing and financing transactions which did not result in cash flows .
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Greater Sydney Commission 
Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 30 June 2019

14. Program groups

The Commission has one program group established to drive the Implementation of “Greater Sydney Region 

Plan: “A Metropolis of Three Cities”.

15. Financial instruments

The Commission’s principal financial instruments 

are outlined below. These financial instruments 

arise directly from the Commission’s operation 

or are required to finance the Commission’s 

operations. The Commission does not enter into 

trade financial instruments, including derivative 

financial instruments, for speculative purposes.

The Commission’s main risk arising from financial 

instruments are outlined below, together with the 

Commission’s objectives, policies and processes for 

measuring and managing risk. Further quantitative 

and qualitative disclosures are included throughout 

these financial statements.

The Chief Executive Officer has overall 

responsibility for the establishment and oversight 

of risk management and reviews and agrees 

policies for managing risk. Risk management 

policies are established to identify and analyse 

the risks faced by the Commission, to set risk 

limits and controls to monitor risks. Compliance 

with policies is reviewed by the Commission on a 

periodic basis.

The Chief Executive Officer has overall 

responsibility for the establishment and oversight 

of risk management and reviews and agrees 

policies for managing each of these risks. Risk 

management policies are established to identify 

and analyse the risks faced by the Commission, 

to set risk limits and controls to monitor risks. 

Compliance with policies is reviewed by the 

Commission on a regular basis.

(a) Financial instrument categories 
i . As at 30 June 2019 under AASB 9

Consolidated GSC

  2019 
$’000

2019 
$’000

 Financial Assets Notes Category Carrying 
amount

Carrying 
amount

Class:

Cash and cash equivalents 4 N/A 419 314

Receivables1 5 Amortised cost 19 19

 Financial Liabilities

Class:

Payables2 

8
Financial liabilities measured 
at amortised cost

2,147 2,144

1 . Excludes statutory receivables and prepayments (not within scope of AASB 7) . 
2 . Excludes statutory payables and unearned revenue (not within scope of AASB 7) .
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Greater Sydney Commission 
Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 30 June 2019

15. Financial instruments (continued)

As at 30 June 2018 under AASB 139 (comparative period)

Consolidated GSC

  2019 
$’000

2019 
$’000

 Financial Assets Notes Category Carrying 
amount

Carrying 
amount

Class:

Cash and cash equivalents 4 N/A – 524

Receivables1 5
Loans and receivables  
(at amortised cost)

– –

 Financial Liabilities

Class:

Payables2 

8
Financial liabilities measured 
at amortised cost

– 2,618

1 . Excludes statutory receivables and prepayments (not within scope of AASB 7) . 
2 . Excludes statutory payables and unearned revenue (not within scope of AASB 7) .

(b) Derecognition of financial assets and 
liabilities

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a 

financial asset or part of a group of similar financial 

assets) is derecognised when the contractual rights 

to the cash flows from the financial assets expire; 

or if the entity transfers its rights to receive cash 

flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation 

to pay the received cash flows in full without 

material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-

through’ arrangement; and either:

• the entity has transferred substantially all the 

risks and rewards of the asset; or

• the entity has neither transferred nor retained 

substantially all the risks and rewards of the 

asset, but has transferred control.

When the GSC has transferred its rights to receive 

cash flows from an asset or has entered into a 

passthrough arrangement,it evaluates if, and to 

what extent, it has retained the risks and rewards 

of ownership. Where the Commission has neither 

transferred nor retained substantially all the risks 

and rewards or transferred control, the asset 

continues to be recognised to the extent of the 

Commission’s continuing involvement in the asset. 

In that case, the Commission also recognises an 

associated liability. The transferred asset and the 

associated liability are measured on a basis that 

reflects the rights and obligations that the entity 

has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a 

guarantee over the transferred asset is measured 

at the lower of the original carrying amount of the 

asset and the maximum amount of consideration 

that the entity could be required to repay.
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Greater Sydney Commission 
Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 30 June 2019

15. Financial instruments (continued)

A financial liability is derecognised when the 

obligation specified in the contract is discharged 

or cancelled or expires. When an existing financial 

liability is replaced by another from the same 

lender on substantially different terms, or the 

terms of an existing liability are substantially 

modified, such an exchange or modification 

is treated as the derecognition of the original 

liability and the recognition of a new liability. The 

difference in the respective carrying amounts is 

recognised in the net result.

(c) Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset 

and the net amount is reported in the Statement of 

Financial Position if there is a currently enforceable 

legal right to offset the recognised amounts and 

there is an intention to settle on a net basis, 

or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities 

simultaneously.

(d) Financial risks

i. Credit risk

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility 

of the Commission’s debtors defaulting on their 

contractual obligations, resulting in a financial 

loss to the Commission. The maximum exposure 

to credit risk is generally represented by the 

carrying amount of the financial assets (net of any 

allowance for impairment).

Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the 

Commission, including cash and receivables. 

No collateral is held by the Commission. The 

Commission has not granted any financial 

guarantees.

Credit risk associated with the Commission’s 

financial assets, other than receivables, is managed 

through the selection of counterparties and 

establishment of minimum credit rating standards. 

Authority deposits held within NSW TCorp are 

guaranteed by the state.

a) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash comprises cash on hand and bank balances.

b) Receivables – Trade Debtors

Collectability of trade debtors is reviewed on and 

ongoing basis. Procedures as established in the 

Treasurer’s Directions are followed to recover 

outstanding amounts, including letters of demand.

The Commission applies the AASB 9 simplified 

approach to measure expected credit losses which 

uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all  

trade debtors.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade 

receivables are grouped based on shared credit 

risk characteristic and the days past due. There 

are no expected credit losses for receivables as 

they were not overdue as at 30th of June 2019, and 

they relate to other NSW Government entities and 

have subsequently been received. As a result, the 

Commission is not exposed to credit risk as at 30th 

of June 2019

ii. Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk the Commission will be 

unable to meet its payment obligations when they 

fall due. The Commission continuously manages 

risk through monitoring future cash flows from 

contributions receivable from NSW Treasury via 

the principle Department.

During the current year, there were no defaults of 

payments to suppliers. No assets have been pledged 

as collateral.

The Commission’s exposure to liquidity risk is 

deemed insignificant based on prior period’s data 

and current assessment of risk.



121

Greater Sydney Commission | Annual Report 2018/19

Greater Sydney Commission 
Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 30 June 2019

15. Financial instruments (continued)

The liabilities are recognised for amounts due 

to be paid in the future for goods and services 

received, whether or not invoiced. Amounts owing 

to suppliers (which are unsecured) are settled in 

accordance with the policy set out in NSW TC 11-12. 

For small business suppliers, where terms are not 

specified, payment is made no later than 30 days 

from the receipt of a correctly rendered invoice.

For other suppliers, if trade terms are not specified, 

payment is made no later than the end of the 

month following the month in which an invoice 

or a statement is received. For small business 

suppliers, where payment is not made within the 

specified time period, simple interest must be paid 

automatically unless an existing contract specifies 

otherwise. For payments to other suppliers, the 

Chief Executive Officer of the Commission (or a 

person appointed by the Chief Executive Officer 

of the Commission) may automatically pay the 

supplier simple interest. The rate of interest applied 

during the year was nil (2018: 9.72%).

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Commission’s financial liabilities,  
together with the interest rate exposure.

 
Interest Rate Exposure 

$’000
Maturity Dates 

$’000

Fixed Interest 
Rate

Non-Interest 
Bearing < 1 year 1 – 5 years > 5 years

2019 Payables

Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs 21 – 21 – –

Creditors 2,126 – 2,126 – –

2,147 – 2,147 – –

2018 Payables

Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs 23 – 23 – –

Creditors 2,618 – 2,618 – –

2,641 – 2,641 – –

1 . The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows of each class of financial liabilities  
based on the earliest date on which the Commission can be required to pay .
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Greater Sydney Commission 
Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 30 June 2019

15. Financial instruments (continued)

(d) Financial risks (cont’d)

iii. Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or 

future cash flows of a financial instrument will 

fluctuate because of changes in market prices. 

The Commission has no exposure to market risk 

as it does not have borrowings or investments. The 

Commission has no exposure to foreign currency 

risk and does not enter into commodity contracts.

iv. Fair value compared to carrying amount

Exposure to interest rate risk arises primarily 

through the Commission’s interest bearing 

liabilities. The Commission does not have any 

interest bearing liabilities. The Commission’s 

exposure to interest rate risk is set out below.

Impact of 1% Increase Impact of 1% Decrease

Carrying  
amount

Profit 
$’000

Equity 
$’000

Profit 
$’000

Equity 
$’000

2019
Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 419 4 4 (4) (4)

419 4 4 (4) (4)

2018
Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 524 5 5 (5) (5)

524 5 5 (5) (5)

(e) Fair value measurement

With regards to the Commission, the carrying 

amount of the financial assets and liabilities 

approximate the fair value. financial position 

approximates the fair value, because of the short 

term nature of many of the financial instruments.
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Greater Sydney Commission 
Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 30 June 2019

16. Related party disclosures

The entity’s key management personnel 

compensation was paid by the Greater Sydney 

Commission Staff Agency and details for the year 

ending 30 June 2019 are as follows:

Short term 
employee benefits:

2019  
$’000

2018  
$’000

Salaries 2,061 1,864

Other monetary 
allowances – –

Non-monetary 
benefits – –

Other long-term 
employee benefits – –

Post-employment 
benefits – –

Termination 
benefits – –

Total 
remuneration 2,061 1,864

During the year, the Greater Sydney Commission 

did not enter into any other transactions with 

key management personnel, their close family 

members and controlled or jointly controlled 

entities thereof.

In addition, the Commission entered into 

transactions on arm’s length terms and conditions 

with other entities controlled by NSW Government. 

These transactions include:

• Payments into the icare TMF Scheme

• Long Service Leave and Defined Benefit 

Superannuation assumed by the Crown

• Payment for Payroll Tax

• Allocations from Department of Premier and 

Cabinet

• Payment for the audit of our financial statements

• Grants and contributions related to funding 

specific programs and projects

• Government Property NSW lease payments.

17. Events after the reporting period

The Government announced that the City Deal 

Delivery Office will be transferred into the 

Commission from the Department of Premier and 

Cabinet Cluster from 1 July 2019.



 

 
 

 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
Greater Sydney Commission Staff Agency 

 

To Members of the New South Wales Parliament 

Opinion 
I have audited the accompanying financial statements of Greater Sydney Commission Staff Agency 
(the Staff Agency), which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 
30 June 2019, the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2019, the Statement of Changes in 
Equity and the Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a Summary of 
Significant Accounting Policies and other explanatory information. 

In my opinion, the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Staff Agency as at 30 June 2019, and of 
its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards 

• are in accordance with section 41B of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 (PF&A Act) and 
the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015. 

 

My opinion should be read in conjunction with the rest of this report. 

Basis for Opinion 
I conducted my audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under the 
standards are described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
section of my report. 

I am independent of the Staff Agency in accordance with the requirements of the: 

• Australian Auditing Standards 
• Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 ‘Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants’ (APES 110). 
 

I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with APES 110. 

Parliament promotes independence by ensuring the Auditor-General and the Audit Office of 
New South Wales are not compromised in their roles by: 

• providing that only Parliament, and not the executive government, can remove an 
Auditor-General 

• mandating the Auditor-General as auditor of public sector agencies 
• precluding the Auditor-General from providing non-audit services. 
 

I believe the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
Greater Sydney Commission Staff Agency 

 

To Members of the New South Wales Parliament 

Opinion 
I have audited the accompanying financial statements of Greater Sydney Commission Staff Agency 
(the Staff Agency), which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 
30 June 2019, the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2019, the Statement of Changes in 
Equity and the Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a Summary of 
Significant Accounting Policies and other explanatory information. 

In my opinion, the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Staff Agency as at 30 June 2019, and of 
its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards 

• are in accordance with section 41B of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 (PF&A Act) and 
the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015. 

 

My opinion should be read in conjunction with the rest of this report. 

Basis for Opinion 
I conducted my audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under the 
standards are described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
section of my report. 

I am independent of the Staff Agency in accordance with the requirements of the: 

• Australian Auditing Standards 
• Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 ‘Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants’ (APES 110). 
 

I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with APES 110. 

Parliament promotes independence by ensuring the Auditor-General and the Audit Office of 
New South Wales are not compromised in their roles by: 

• providing that only Parliament, and not the executive government, can remove an 
Auditor-General 

• mandating the Auditor-General as auditor of public sector agencies 
• precluding the Auditor-General from providing non-audit services. 
 

I believe the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion



 

 
 

 
 

Other Information 
The Staff Agency’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2019 includes other information in 
addition to the financial statements and my Independent Auditor’s Report thereon. The Chief 
Executive Officer of the Staff Agency is responsible for the other information. At the date of this 
Independent Auditor’s Report, the other information I have received comprise the Statement by the 
Acting Chief Executive officer pursuant to section 41C of the PF&A Act. 

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information. Accordingly, I do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion on the other information. 

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. 

If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude there is a material misstatement of the other 
information, I must report that fact. 

I have nothing to report in this regard. 

The Chief Executive Officer’s Responsibilities for the Financial Statements 
The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the PF&A Act, and for such 
internal control as the Chief Executive Officer determines is necessary to enable the preparation and 
fair presentation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Chief Executive Officer is responsible for assessing the Staff 
Agency’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting, unless it is not appropriate to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
My objectives are to: 

• obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error 

• issue an Independent Auditor’s Report including my opinion. 
 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect material misstatements. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or 
in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions users take 
based on the financial statements. 

A description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at the Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board website at: www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf. The 
description forms part of my auditor’s report. 
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My opinion does not provide assurance: 

• that the Staff Agency carried out its activities effectively, efficiently and economically 
• about the security and controls over the electronic publication of the audited financial 

statements on any website where they may be presented 
• about any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the financial statements. 
 

 

 

 

Min Lee 
A/Director, Financial Audit Services 

Delegate of the Auditor-General for New South Wales 

20 September 2019 
SYDNEY 
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Greater Sydney Commission Staff Agency 
Statement by the Chief Executive Officer
for the year ended 30 June 2019

Pursuant to section 41C of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983, I declare, on behalf of the Greater Sydney 

Commission Staff Agency (the Staff Agency) that in my opinion:

(a)  The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with:

• Applicable Australian Accounting Standards (which includes Australian Accounting Interpretations);

• The requirements of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 and Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015; 

and

• The Financial Reporting Directions published in the Financial Reporting Code for NSW General 

Government Sector Entities or issued by the NSW Treasurer.

(b) The statements and notes exhibit a true and fair view of the financial position and transactions of the Staff 

Agency; and

(c) There are no circumstances which would render any particulars included in the financial statements to be 

misleading or inaccurate.

Danielle Smalley 
Acting Chief Executive Officer

Date: 17 September 2019
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Greater Sydney Commission Staff Agency 
Statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 30 June 2019

  Actual Actual
  2019 2018
 Notes $'000 $'000

EXPENSES EXCLUDING LOSSES    

Operating expenses    

Employee related expenses 2(a) 7,200 –

Total expenses excluding losses  7,200 –

    

REVENUE    

Personnel services 3(a) 6,515 –

Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee benefits 
and other liabilities

3(b) 685 –

Total revenue  7,200 –

Net result  – –

    

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME    

Other comprehensive income – –

Total other comprehensive income  – –

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  – –

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements .
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Greater Sydney Commission Staff Agency 
Statement of financial position
for the year ended 30 June 2019

  Actual Actual
  2019 2018
 Notes $'000 $'000

ASSETS    

Current assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 4 105 –

Receivables 5 698 –

Total current assets 803 –

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Payables 6 127 –

Provisions 7 664 –

Total current liabilities 791 –

Non-current liabilities

Provisions 7 12 –

Total non-current liabilities 12 –

Total liabilities 803 –

Net assets – –
 

EQUITY

Total equity  – –

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements .
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Greater Sydney Commission Staff Agency 
Statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 30 June 2019

Accumulated Total
 Funds Equity
 $'000 $'000

Balance at 1 July 2018 – –

 

Net result for the year – –

Total comprehensive income for the year – –

 

Balance at 30 June 2019 – –

Balance at 1 July 2017 – –

 

Net result for the year – –

Total comprehensive income for the year – –

 

Balance at 30 June 2018 – –

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements .
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Greater Sydney Commission Staff Agency 
Statement of cash flows
for the year ended 30 June 2019

  Actual Actual
  2019 2018
 Notes $'000 $'000

CASH FLOWS FROM  
OPERATING ACTIVITIES    

Payments    

Employee related (5,817) –

Total Payments (5,817) –

 

Receipts

Other – Personal Services Related 5,712 –

Total Receipts 5,712 –

 

NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 9 105 –

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS 105 –

Opening cash and cash equivalents 0 –

CLOSING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 4 105 –

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements .
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Greater Sydney Commission Staff Agency 
Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2019

1. Summary of significant accounting policies

(a) Reporting entity

The Greater Sydney Commission Staff Agency 

(Staff Agency) is a public service agency established 

under the Administrative Arrangements 

(Administrative Changes – Greater Sydney 

Commission) Order 2018 and is pursuant to 

part 2 of Schedule 1 of the Government Sector 

Employment Act 2013. The Staff Agency comprises 

persons who are employed under the Government 

Sector Employment Act 2013 to enable the Greater 

Sydney Commission (the Commission) to exercise 

its functions. It is domiciled in Australia and its 

principal office is at Level 5, 10 Valentine Avenue, 

Parramatta NSW 2150.

The Staff Agency’s objective is to provide personnel 

services to the Commission.

The Staff Agency is consolidated as part of the 

Commission’s consolidated financial statements. 

The Staff Agency is a not-for-profit entity (as profit 

is not its principal objective) and it has no cash 

generating units.

The financial statements for the period ended 30 

June 2019 have been authorised for issue by the 

Chief Executive Officer on 17 September 2019.

(b) Basis of preparation

The Staff Agency’s financial statements are general 

purpose financial statements which have been 

prepared on accrual basis in accordance with:

• applicable Australian Accounting Standards 

(which include Australian Accounting 

Interpretations)

• the requirements of the Public Finance and 

Audit Act 1983 and Public Finance and Audit 

Regulation 2015 and

• the Financial Reporting Directions published in 

the Financial Reporting Code for NSW General 

Government Sector Entities or issued by the 

Treasurer.

Judgements, key assumptions and estimations 

management has made are disclosed in the relevant 

notes to the financial statements.

All amounts are rounded to the nearest one 

thousand dollars and are expressed in Australian 

currency.

The financial statements are prepared on a going 

concern basis.

(c) Statement of compliance

The Staff Agency’s financial statements and 

notes comply with Australian Accounting 

Standards, which include Australian Accounting 

Interpretations.

(d) Income recognition

Income is measured at the fair value of the 

consideration or contribution received or 

receivable.

Revenue is received to recover the cost of providing 

personnel services for the year to the Greater 

Sydney Commission.

(e) Assets

i. Receivables

Receivables represent items related to recovery 

of personnel services costs from the Staff 

Agency payable by the Commission.

Short term receivables with no stated interest 

rate are measured at the original invoice 

amount where the effect of discounting is 

immaterial.

(f) Liabilities

i. Payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods 

and services provided to the Staff Agency and 

other amounts. Payables are recognised initially 

at fair value, usually based on the transaction 

cost or face value. Short term payables with no 

stated interest rate are measured at the original 



133

Greater Sydney Commission | Annual Report 2018/19

invoice amount where the effect of discounting 

is immaterial.

ii. Provisions

Provisions are recognised when: the Staff 

Agency has a present legal or constructive 

obligation as a result of a past event; it 

is probable that an outflow of resources 

will be required to settle the obligation; 

and a reliable estimate can be made of the 

amount of the obligation. When the Staff 

Agency expects some or all of a provision 

to be reimbursed, for example, under an 

insurance contract, the reimbursement is 

recognised as a separate asset, but only when 

the reimbursement is virtually certain. The 

expense relating to a provision is presented 

net of any reimbursement in the Statement of 

Comprehensive Income.

(g) Employee benefits 

i. Salaries and wages, annual leave and 
sick leave

Salaries and wages (including non monetary 

benefits) and paid sick leave that are expected 

to be settled wholly within 12 months after 

the end of the period in which the employees 

render the service are recognised and measured 

at the undiscounted amounts of the benefits.

Annual leave is not expected to be settled 

wholly before twelve months after the end 

of the annual reporting period in which the 

employees render the related service. As such, 

it is required to be measured at present value 

in accordance with AASB 119 Employee Benefits 

(although short cut methods are permitted). 

Actuarial advice obtained by Treasury has 

confirmed that the use of a nominal approach 

plus the annual leave on annual leave liability 

(using 7.9% of the nominal value of annual 

leave) can be used to approximate the present 

value of the annual leave liability. The Staff 

Agency has assessed the actuarial advice 

based on the entity’s circumstances and has 

determined that the effect of discounting is 

immaterial to annual leave.

Unused non vesting sick leave does not give 

rise to a liability as it is not considered probable 

that sick leave taken in the future will be 

greater than the benefits accrued in the future.

ii. Long service leave and superannuation:

The Staff Agency’s liabilities for long service 

leave and defined benefit are assumed by 

the Crown Entity. The Staff Agency accounts 

for the liability as having been extinguished, 

resulting in the amount assumed being shown 

as part of the non monetary revenue item 

described as ‘’Acceptance by the Crown Entity 

of employee benefits and other liabilities’’.

Long service leave is measured at present value 

of expected future payments to be made in 

respect of services provided up to the reporting 

date. Consideration is given to the certain 

factors based on actuarial review, including 

future wage and salary levels, experience of 

employee departures, and periods of service. 

Expected future payments are discounted using 

commonwealth government bond rate at the 

reporting date.

The superannuation expense for the financial 

year is determined by using the formulae 

specified in the Treasurer’s Directions. The 

expense for certain superannuation schemes 

(i.e. Basic Benefit and First State Super) is 

calculated as a percentage of the employees’ 

salary. For other superannuation schemes 

(i.e. State Superannuation Scheme and State 

Authorities Superannuation Scheme), the 

expense is calculated as a multiple of the 

employees’ superannuation contributions.

iii. Consequential on costs:

Consequential costs to employment are 

recognised as liabilities and expenses where 

Greater Sydney Commission Staff Agency 
Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 30 June 2019
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the employee benefits to which they relate have 

been recognised. This includes outstanding 

amounts of payroll tax, workers’ compensation 

insurance premiums and fringe benefits tax.

(h) Personnel Services:

The Personnel Services are provided by 

the Greater Sydney Commission Staff 

Agency according to the Administrative 

Arrangements Order 2018 and is pursuant to 

Part 2 of Schedule 1 of the Government Sector 

Employment Act 2013 (formerly the Greater 

Sydney Commission Division established under 

the former Public Sector Employment and 

Management Act 2002).

(i) Comparative information:

Except when an Australian Accounting Standard 

permits or requires otherwise, comparative 

information is disclosed in respect of the previous 

period for all amounts reported in the financial 

statements.

Since The Greater Sydney Commission Staff 

Agency was only established on 1 July 2018, there 

are no comparative for 2017–2018.

(j) Changes in accounting policy, including new 
or revised Australian Accounting Standards

i. Effective for the first time in 2018–19 

The accounting policies applied in 2018 19 are 

consistent with those of the previous financial 

year except for the following standard adopted 

for the first time in 2018-19. The impact of this 

standard in the period of initial application is 

not material. 

• AASB 9 Financial Instruments.

There is no change to the Agency’s business 

model and the measuring category of financial 

instruments hence no material impact to the 

entity on adopting the new impairment model.

ii. Issued but not yet effective.

NSW public sector entities are not permitted 

to early adopt new Australian Accounting 

Standards, unless Treasury determines 

otherwise

The following new Australian Accounting 

Standards have not been applied and are not 

yet effective (TC 19-04).

Issued but not yet effective. These are not 

applicable to the Greater Sydney Commission 

Staff Agency.

• AASB 15, AASB 2014 5, AASB 2015 8 and 2016 

3 regarding Revenue from Contracts with 

Customers (Not for profits only)

• AASB 16 Leases

• AASB 17 Insurance Contracts

• AASB 1058 Income of Not for Profit Entities

• AASB 1059 Service Concession Arrangements: 

Grantors

• AASB 2016 8 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards – Australian 

Implementation Guidance for Not for Profit 

Entities

• AASB 2017 1 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards – Transfer of Investment 

Property, Annual Improvements 2014 2016 

Cycle and Other Amendments

• AASB 2017 4 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards – Uncertainty over 

Income Tax Treatments

• AASB2017 6 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards – Prepayment Features 

with Negative Compensation

• AASB2017 7 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards – Long term Interests in 

Associates and Joint Ventures

Greater Sydney Commission Staff Agency 
Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 30 June 2019
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• AASB 2018 1 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards – Annual Improvements 

2015 2017 Cycle

• AASB 2018 2 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards – Plan Amendment, 

Curtailment or Settlement

• AASB 2018 3 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure 

Requirements

• AASB 2018 4 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards – Australian 

Implementation Guidance for Not for Profit 

Public Sector Licensors 

• AASB 2018 5 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards Deferral of AASB 1059

• AASB 2018 6 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards – Definition of a 

Business

• AASB 2018 7 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards – Definition of Material

• AASB 2018 8 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards – Right of Use Assets of 

Not for Profit Entities

The Commission anticipates that adoption of these 

standards in the period of initial application will have 

no material impact on the financial statements.

2. Expenses excluding losses

(a) Employee related expenses

 2019 2018
 $'000 $'000

Salaries and wages (including annual leave) 5,609 –

Superannuation – defined contribution plans 396 –

Long service leave 681 –

Workers compensation insurance – –

Payroll tax and fringe benefits tax 392 –

On-costs – annual leave and long service leave 122 –

 7,200 –

Greater Sydney Commission Staff Agency 
Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 30 June 2019
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3. Revenue

(a) Personnel services

 2019 2018
 $'000 $'000

Personnel services 6,515 –

 6,515 –

(b) Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee benefits and other liabilities

The following liabilities and/or expenses have been assumed by the Crown Entity:

Long service leave 685 –

 685 –

4. Current assets – cash and cash equivalents

 2019 2018
 $'000 $'000

Cash at bank and on hand 105 –

 105 –

Cash assets recognised in the statement of financial position are reconciled at the end of the financial year to 
the statement of cash flows as follows:

Cash (per statement of financial position) 105 –

Closing cash (per statement of cash flows) 105 –

Refer Note 10 for details regarding credit risk, liquidity risk, and market risk arising from financial instruments .

5. Current assets – receivables

 2019 2018
 $'000 $'000

Personnel services 698 –

 698 –

Details regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including financial assets that are either past due or 
impaired, are disclosed in Note 10 .

Greater Sydney Commission Staff Agency 
Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 30 June 2019
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6. Current liabilities – payables

 2019 2018
 $'000 $'000

Accrued salaries, wages and on costs 21 –

Creditors 106 –

 127 –

Details regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including a maturity analysis of the above payables, 
are disclosed in Note 10 .

7. Current / non current liabilities – provisions

 2019 2018
 $'000 $'000

Current employee benefits and related on costs

Annual leave 467 –

Long service leave 123 –

Payroll tax 74 –

Fringe benefits tax – –

 664 –

Non-current employee benefits and related on costs

Long service leave 8 –

Payroll tax 4 –

 12 –

Aggregate employee benefits and related on costs

Provisions – current 664 –

Provisions – non current 12 –

Accrued salaries, wages and on costs (Note 6) 21 –

 697 –

Greater Sydney Commission Staff Agency 
Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 30 June 2019
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8. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

The Staff Agency is not aware of any contingent liabilities and/or contingent assets associated with its 

operations.

9. Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities to net result

Reconciliation of cash flow from operating activities to the net result as reported in the statement of 

comprehensive income as follows;

 2019 2018
 $'000 $'000

Net cash used on operating activities – –

Decrease / (increase) in provisions (676) –

Increase / (decrease) in receivables 698 –

Decrease / (increase) in creditors (127) –

 Net result (105) –

10. Financial instruments

The Staff Agency’s principal financial instruments 

are outlined below. These financial instruments 

arise directly from the Staff Agency’s operations 

or are required to finance the Staff Agency’s 

operations. The Staff Agency does not enter into or 

trade financial instruments, including derivative 

financial instruments, for speculative purposes.

The Staff Agency’s main risks arising from financial 

instruments are outlined below, together with the 

Staff Agency’s objectives, policies and processes for 

measuring and managing risk. Further quantitative 

and qualitative disclosures are included throughout 

these financial statements.

The Chief Executive Officer has overall 

responsibility for the establishment and oversight 

of risk management and reviews and approves 

policies for managing risks. The risk policy and 

framework are established to identify and analyse 

the risks faced by the Commission, to set risk 

appetite, controls and monitor risks. Supporting 

the Chief Executive Officer with this governance 

responsibility and compliance with the policy is the 

Audit and Risk Committee, internal auditors and 

Executive Director on a continuous basis.

Greater Sydney Commission Staff Agency 
Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 30 June 2019
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(a) Financial instrument categories

  2019 
$’000

2019 
$’000

 Financial Assets Notes Category Carrying 
amount

Carrying 
amount

Class:

Cash and cash equivalents 4 N/A 105 –

Receivables1 5 Receivables (at amortised cost) 698 –

 Financial Liabilities

Class:

Payables2 

6
Financial liabilities measured at 
amortised cost

127 –

1 . Excludes statutory receivables and prepayments (i .e . not within scope of AASB 7) . 
2 . Excludes staturory payables and unearned revenue (i .e . not within scope of AASB 7) .

(b) Credit Risk

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility 

of the Staff Agency’s debtors defaulting on their 

contractual obligations, resulting in a financial 

loss to the Staff Agency. The maximum exposure 

to credit risk is generally represented by the 

carrying amount of the financial assets (net of any 

allowance for impairment).

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash comprises cash on hand and bank balances 

within the NSW Treasury Banking System.

Receivables – trade debtors

All trade debtors are recognised as amounts 

receivable at balance date. Collectability of 

trade debtors is reviewed on an ongoing basis. 

Procedures as established in the Treasurer’s 

Directions are followed to recover outstanding 

amounts, including letters of demand. Debts which 

are known to be uncollectible are written off. An 

allowance for impairment is raised when there is 

objective evidence that the entity will not be able 

to collect all amounts due. This evidence includes 

past experience, and current and expected changes 

in economic conditions and debtor credit ratings. 

No interest is earned on trade debtors. Sales are 

made within agreed terms.

The Staff Agency is not materially exposed to 

concentrations of credit risk to a single trade debtor 

or group of debtors. There are no debtors which are 

currently past due or impaired.

(c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Staff Agency will 

be unable to meet its payment obligations when 

they fall due. 

The Staff Agency continuously manages risk 

through monitoring future cash flows and 

maturities planning to ensure adequate holding of 

high quality liquid assets. 

During the current and prior years, there were no 

defaults on or breaches of any loans payable. No 

assets have been pledged as collateral. The Staff 

Greater Sydney Commission Staff Agency 
Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 30 June 2019
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Greater Sydney Commission Staff Agency 
Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 30 June 2019

Agency’s exposure to liquidity risk is deemed 

insignificant based on prior periods’ data and 

current assessment of risk.

The liabilities are recognised for amounts due 

to be paid in the future for goods or services 

received, whether or not invoiced. Amounts owing 

to suppliers (which are unsecured) are settled in 

accordance with the policy set out in NSW TC 

11/12. For small business suppliers, where terms 

are not specified, payment is made no later than 

30 days from date of receipt of a correctly rendered 

invoice. For other suppliers, If trade terms are 

not specified, payment is made no later than the 

end of the month following the month in which 

an invoice or a statement is received. For small 

business suppliers, where payment is not made 

within the specified period, simple interest must 

be paid automatically unless an existing contract 

specifies otherwise. For payment to other suppliers, 

the Head of an authority (or a person appointed 

by the Head of an authority) may automatically 

pay the supplier simple interest. No interest for the 

late payment was paid during the year 2018–2019 

(2017–2018 nil).

The table below summarises the maturity profile of 

the Staff Agency’s financial liabilities, together with 

the interest rate exposure.

Maturity Analysis and interest rate exposure of financial liabilities

 
Interest Rate Exposure 

$’000
Maturity Dates 

$’000

Nominal 
Amount1

Non-interest 
Bearing < 1 year 1 – 5 years > 5 years

2019 Payables

Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs 21 21 21 – –

Creditors 106 106 106 – –

127 127 127 – –

2018 Payables

Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs – – – – –

Creditors – – – – –

– – – – –

1 . The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows of each class of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on 
which the entity can be required to pay . There is no interest impact on these financial liabilities .
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Greater Sydney Commission Staff Agency 
Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 30 June 2019

(d) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future 

cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 

because of changes in market price. The Staff 

Agency has no borrowings, no exposure to foreign 

currency risk and does not enter into commodity 

contracts.

(e) Interest rate risk

The Agency does not account for any fixed rate 

financial instruments at fair value through profit 

or loss or as available for sale. Therefore, for 

these financial instruments, a change in interest 

rates would not affect profit or loss or equity. 

A reasonably possible change of +/ 1% is used, 

consistent with current trends in interest rates 

(based on official RBA interest rate volatility over 

the last five years). The basis will be reviewed 

annually and amended where there is a structural 

change in the level of interest rate volatility. The 

Agency’s exposure to interest rate risk is set out 

below.

Impact of 1% Increase Impact of 1% Decrease

Carrying  
amount

Profit 
$’000

Equity 
$’000

Profit 
$’000

Equity 
$’000

2019
Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 105 1 1 (1) (1)

Total 105 1 1 (1) (1)

2018
Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents – – – – –

Total – – – – –

(f) Fair value measurement

Fair value compared to carrying amount

Financial instruments are generally recognised at 

cost. The amortised cost of financial instruments 

recognised in the statement of financial position 

approximates the fair value, because of the short 

term nature of many of the financial instruments. 

There are no financial instruments where the fair 

value differs from the carrying amount.
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11 Related party disclosures

The entity’s key management personnel compensation details for the period ending June 2019 are as follows:

 2019 2018
 Short term employee benefits $'000 $'000

Salaries 2,061 –

Other monetary allowances – –

Non-monetary benefits – –

Other long-term employee benefits – –

Post-employment benefits – –

Termination benefits – –

 Total remuneration 2,061 –

During the year, the Greater Sydney Commission 

Staff Agency did not enter into any transactions 

with key management personnel, their close family 

members and controlled or jointly controlled 

entities thereof.

During the year no key management personnel 

services were provided by a separate management 

entity.

12 Events after the reporting period

The Government announced that the City Deal 

Delivery Office will be transferred into Commission 

from the Department of Premier and Cabinet 

Cluster from 1 July 2019.

End of audited financial statements.

Greater Sydney Commission Staff Agency 
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